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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in millions) (unaudited)

March 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Assets:

Investments and financial services assets:

Fixed maturities:

Bonds available for sale, at market value (amortized cost: 2006 – $358,275; 2005 –

$349,612) (includes hybrid financial instruments: 2006 – $512) $364,510 $359,516

Bonds held to maturity, at amortized cost (market value: 2006 – $21,841; 2005 – $22,047) 21,520 21,528

Bond trading securities, at market value (cost: 2006 – $5,230; 2005 – $4,623) 5,229 4,636

Equity securities:

Common stocks available for sale, at market value (cost: 2006 – $10,838; 2005 – $10,125) 13,569 12,227

Common stocks trading, at market value (cost: 2006 – $8,785; 2005 – $7,746) 10,270 8,959

Preferred stocks available for sale, at market value (cost: 2006 – $2,381; 2005 – $2,282) 2,456 2,402

Mortgage loans on real estate, net of allowance (2006 – $55; 2005 – $54) 14,968 14,300

Policy loans 7,218 7,039

Collateral and guaranteed loans, net of allowance (2006 – $10; 2005 – $10) 4,114 3,570

Financial services assets:

Flight equipment primarily under operating leases, net of accumulated depreciation (2006 –

$7,728; 2005 – $7,419) 37,580 36,245

Securities available for sale, at market value (cost: 2006 – $38,446; 2005 – $37,572) 38,225 37,511

Trading securities, at market value 6,350 6,499

Spot commodities 230 92

Unrealized gain on swaps, options and forward transactions 17,792 18,695

Trading assets 1,411 1,204

Securities purchased under agreements to resell, at contract value 12,297 14,547

Finance receivables, net of allowance (2006 – $743; 2005 – $670) 27,219 27,995

Securities lending collateral, at market value (which approximates cost) 62,967 59,471

Other invested assets 29,296 27,267

Short-term investments, at cost (approximates market value) 17,343 15,342

Total investments and financial services assets 694,564 679,045

Cash 1,248 1,897

Investment income due and accrued 5,733 5,727

Premiums and insurance balances receivable, net of allowance (2006 – $1,025; 2005 – $1,011) 18,001 15,333

Reinsurance assets, net of allowance (2006 – $979; 2005 – $992) 24,857 24,978

Deferred policy acquisition costs 35,988 33,248

Investments in partially owned companies 1,167 1,158

Real estate and other fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation (2006 – $5,135; 2005 – $4,990) 8,059 7,446

Separate and variable accounts 67,597 63,797

Goodwill 8,208 8,093

Other assets 14,376 12,329

Total assets $879,798 $853,051

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)

(in millions, except share data) (unaudited)

March 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Liabilities:
Reserve for losses and loss expenses $ 78,100 $ 77,169

Reserve for unearned premiums 25,044 24,243

Future policy benefits for life and accident and health insurance contracts 114,606 108,807

Policyholders’ contract deposits 231,045 227,027

Other policyholders’ funds 10,684 10,870

Reserve for commissions, expenses and taxes 4,939 4,769

Insurance balances payable 3,987 3,564

Funds held by companies under reinsurance treaties 4,195 4,174

Income taxes payable 6,615 6,288

Financial services liabilities:

Borrowings under obligations of guaranteed investment agreements 21,600 20,811

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, at contract value 9,691 11,047

Trading liabilities 2,389 2,546

Hybrid financial instrument liabilities, at fair value 6,109 –

Securities and spot commodities sold but not yet purchased, at market value 6,429 5,975

Unrealized loss on swaps, options and forward transactions 11,267 12,740

Trust deposits and deposits due to banks and other depositors 4,384 4,877

Commercial paper 7,500 6,514

Notes, bonds, loans and mortgages payable 68,790 71,313

Commercial paper 5,965 2,694

Notes, bonds, loans and mortgages payable 7,427 7,126

Liabilities connected to trust preferred stock 1,390 1,391

Separate and variable accounts 67,597 63,797

Securities lending payable 63,959 60,409

Minority interest 5,872 5,124

Other liabilities 21,635 23,273

Total liabilities 791,219 766,548

Preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary companies 189 186

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (See Note 6)

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $2.50 par value; 5,000,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued 2006 and

2005 – 2,751,327,476 6,878 6,878

Additional paid-in capital 2,513 2,339

Retained earnings 75,433 72,330

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 5,709 6,967

Treasury stock, at cost; 2006 – 153,858,339; 2005 – 154,680,704 shares of common stock (2,143) (2,197)

Total shareholders’ equity 88,390 86,317

Total liabilities, preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary companies and shareholders’ equity $879,798 $853,051

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

(in millions, except per share data) (unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 2005

Revenues:
Premiums and other considerations $18,242 $17,680

Net investment income 5,827 5,332

Realized capital gains (losses) 169 137

Other revenues 3,021 4,053

Total revenues 27,259 27,202

Benefits and expenses:
Incurred policy losses and benefits 15,000 14,873

Insurance acquisition and other operating expenses 7,466 6,680

Total benefits and expenses 22,466 21,553

Income before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect of an accounting change 4,793 5,649

Income taxes 1,435 1,706

Income before minority interest and cumulative effect of an accounting change 3,358 3,943

Minority interest (197) (144)

Income before cumulative effect of an accounting change 3,161 3,799

Cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax 34 –

Net income $ 3,195 $ 3,799

Earnings per common share:
Basic

Income before cumulative effect of an accounting change $ 1.21 $ 1.46

Cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax 0.01 –

Net income 1.22 1.46

Diluted

Income before cumulative effect of an accounting change $ 1.21 $ 1.45

Cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax 0.01 –

Net income 1.22 1.45

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.150 $ 0.175

Average shares outstanding:
Basic 2,605 2,597

Diluted 2,624 2,624

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions) (unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 2005

Summary:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 3,066 $ (434)

Net cash used in investing activities (19,937) (20,118)

Net cash provided by financing activities 15,672 20,961
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 550 (57)

Change in cash (649) 352

Cash at beginning of period 1,897 2,009

Cash at end of period $ 1,248 $ 2,361

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 3,195 $ 3,799

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Noncash revenues, expenses, gains and losses included in income:

Change in:

General and life insurance reserves 7,263 5,605

Premiums and insurance balances receivable and payable – net (2,245) 8

Reinsurance assets 121 241

Deferred policy acquisition costs (1,715) (944)

Investment income due and accrued (6) (53)

Funds held under reinsurance treaties 21 (267)

Other policyholders’ funds (186) (68)

Income taxes payable 761 1,457

Reserve for commissions, expenses and taxes 170 143

Other assets and liabilities – net (3,125) (962)

Bonds and common stocks trading, at market value (1,904) (1,082)

Trading assets and liabilities – net (364) 905

Trading securities, at market value 149 (345)

Spot commodities (138) (120)

Net unrealized (gain) loss on swaps, options and forward transactions (570) (598)

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 2,250 (6,321)

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (1,356) (1,939)

Securities and spot commodities sold but not yet purchased, at market value 454 182

Realized capital (gains) losses (169) (137)

Equity in income of partially owned companies and other invested assets (480) (445)

Amortization of premium and discount on securities 105 113

Depreciation expenses, principally flight equipment 554 526

Provision for finance receivable losses 160 86

Other – net 121 (218)

Total adjustments (129) (4,233)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 3,066 $ (434)

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(in millions) (unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 2005

Cash flows from investing activities:
Cost of bonds, at market sold $ 22,598 $ 27,572

Cost of bonds, at market matured or redeemed 3,628 2,823

Cost of equity securities sold 3,425 2,724

Realized capital gains (losses) 169 137

Purchases of fixed maturities (34,507) (42,094)

Purchases of equity securities (4,285) (3,608)

Mortgage, policy, collateral and guaranteed loans granted (1,449) (1,578)

Repayments of mortgage, policy, collateral and guaranteed loans 58 575

Sales of securities available for sale 1,166 804

Maturities of securities available for sale 360 2,164

Purchases of securities available for sale (2,386) (2,316)

Sales of flight equipment 195 41

Purchases of flight equipment (1,897) (2,141)

Change in securities lending collateral (3,496) (2,721)

Net additions to real estate and other fixed assets (322) (188)

Sales or distributions of other invested assets 2,161 2,163

Other invested assets (3,290) (3,339)

Change in short-term investments (2,676) 301

Investments in partially owned companies (5) 4

Finance receivable originations and purchases (7,696) (10,605)

Finance receivable principal payments received 8,312 9,164

Net cash used in investing activities $(19,937) $(20,118)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Receipts from policyholders’ contract deposits $ 14,108 $ 16,279

Withdrawals from policyholders’ contract deposits (10,090) (7,149)

Change in trust deposits and deposits due to banks and other depositors (493) 364

Change in commercial paper 4,257 2,263

Proceeds from notes, bonds, loans and mortgages payable, and hybrid financial instrument liabilities 9,527 16,244

Repayments on notes, bonds, loans and mortgages payable, and hybrid financial instrument liabilities (5,644) (13,081)

Proceeds from guaranteed investment agreements 3,306 4,955

Maturities of guaranteed investment agreements (2,517) (1,183)

Change in securities lending payable 3,550 2,721

Proceeds from common stock issued 34 31

Cash dividends to shareholders (390) (325)

Acquisition of treasury stock (2) (166)

Other – net 26 8

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 15,672 $ 20,961

Supplementary information:
Taxes paid $ 460 $ 382

Interest paid $ 1,284 $ 1,147

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions) (unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 2005

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income $ 3,195 $ 3,799

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of investments – net of reclassification adjustments (2,599) (2,535)

Deferred income tax benefit (expense) on above changes 1,100 1,256

Foreign currency translation adjustments 550 (53)

Applicable income tax benefit (expense) on above changes (290) 4

Net derivative gains arising from cash flow hedging activities 4 150

Deferred income tax (expense) benefit on above changes 13 (111)

Retirement plan liabilities adjustment, net of tax (36) (30)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,258) (1,319)

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 1,937 $ 2,480

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
been reclassified in the 2005 financial statements to conform1. Financial  Statement Presentation
to their 2006 presentation. For further information, refer to

These statements are unaudited. In the opinion of manage- the Annual Report on Form 10-K of American International
ment, all material adjustments including normal recurring Group, Inc. (AIG) for the year ended December 31, 2005
accruals have been made for a fair statement of the results (2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K).
presented herein. All material intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated. Certain accounts have
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes AIG’s General Insurance2. Segment Information
operations by major internal reporting unit for the three

AIG identifies its reportable segments by product line consis- months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:
tent with its management structure. AIG’s major product and General Insurance
service groupings are general insurance, life insurance & (in millions) (unaudited) 2006 2005
retirement services, financial services and asset manage- Revenues:

Domestic Brokerage Group $ 6,555 $ 6,289ment. The following table summarizes the operations by the
Transatlantic 1,016 982major operating segments for the three months ended Personal Lines 1,215 1,171

March 31, 2006 and 2005: Mortgage Guaranty 198 169
Foreign General 2,670 2,602Operating Segments Reclassifications and Eliminations 2 6

(in millions) (unaudited) 2006 2005
Total General Insurance $11,656 $11,219

Revenues(a):
Operating Income*:General Insurance(b) $11,656 $11,219

Domestic Brokerage Group $ 1,357 $ 713Life Insurance & Retirement
Transatlantic 141 114Services(c) 12,639 11,775
Personal Lines 101 109Financial Services(d) 1,615 2,436
Mortgage Guaranty 109 104Asset Management(e) 1,239 1,377
Foreign General 621 596Other 110 395
Reclassifications and Eliminations 2 6

Consolidated $27,259 $27,202
Total General Insurance $ 2,331 $ 1,642

Operating income (loss)(a)(f):
* Includes $103 million and $171 million of additional losses incurred andGeneral Insurance $ 2,331 $ 1,642

Life Insurance & Retirement net reinstatement premium costs in 2006 and 2005, respectively, related
Services(g) 2,555 2,181 primarily to prior year catastrophes.Financial Services(g) (159) 1,045

Asset Management 461 590
The following table summarizes AIG’s Life Insurance & Re-Other(h) (395) 191
tirement Services operations by major internal reportingConsolidated $ 4,793 $ 5,649
unit for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:(a) Includes the effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge

accounting treatment under FAS 133, including the related foreign ex- Life Insurance & Retirement Services
change gains and losses. For the first three months of 2006 and 2005, the (in millions) (unaudited) 2006 2005
effect was $0 and $15 million, respectively, in operating income for Air-

Revenues(a):
craft Finance and $(678) million and $468 million in revenues and operat-

Foreign:ing income, respectively, for Capital Markets. These amounts result
AIA, AIRCO and Nan Shan(b) $ 4,352 $ 4,066primarily from interest rate and foreign currency derivatives hedging avail-
ALICO, AIG Star Life and AIG Edisonable for sale securities and borrowings.

Life(c) 4,095 3,519(b) Represents the sum of General Insurance net premiums earned, net invest-
Philamlife and Other 124 130ment income and realized capital gains (losses).

Domestic:(c) Represents the sum of Life Insurance & Retirement Services GAAP premi-
AGLA and AG Life(d) 2,367 2,388ums, net investment income and realized capital gains (losses). Included in

realized capital gains (losses) is the effect of hedging activities that do not VALIC, AIG Annuity and AIG
qualify for hedge accounting treatment under FAS 133 and the application SunAmerica(e) 1,701 1,672
of FAS 52 of $278 million and $(79) million in the first three months of Total Life Insurance & Retirement Services $12,639 $11,775
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Operating Income:(d) Represents interest, lease and finance charges.
Foreign:(e) Represents management and advisory fees and net investment income with

AIA, AIRCO and Nan Shan(b) $ 700 $ 588respect to GICs.
ALICO, AIG Star Life and AIG Edison(f) Represents income before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative

Life(c) 958 596effect of an accounting change.
(g) Results of operations of AIG Credit Card Company (Taiwan) are shared Philamlife and Other 11 16

equally by the Life Insurance & Retirement Services segment and the Domestic:
Financial Services segment. In 2006, additional allowances of $44 million AGLA and AG Life(d) 366 466
were recorded by each segment for losses in these credit card operations. VALIC, AIG Annuity and AIG

(h) Represents unallocated corporate expenses, relating primarily to interest SunAmerica(e) 520 515
expense and certain compensation related expenses, and other realized

Total Life Insurance & Retirement Services $ 2,555 $ 2,181
capital gains (losses) of $(57) million and $155 million in the first three

(a) Represents the sum of Life Insurance & Retirement Services GAAP premi-months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.
ums, net investment income and realized capital gains (losses).

(b) Represents the operations of American International Assurance Company,

Limited together with American International Assurance Company (Ber-

muda) Limited (AIA), American International Reinsurance Company,

Ltd. (AIRCO),  and Nan Shan Life Insurance Company, Ltd. (Nan Shan).

Revenues and operating income include realized capital gains (losses) of

$213 million and $66 million for the first three months of 2006 and 2005,

respectively. The effects of FAS 133 and the application of FAS 52 in-

cluded in realized capital gains (losses) are gains of $173 million and
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The following table summarizes AIG’s Financial Services2. Segment Information (continued)
operations by major internal reporting unit for the
three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:$10 million for the first three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Includes $44 million in additional allowances for losses in AIG Credit
Financial Services

Card Company (Taiwan) in 2006. (in millions) (unaudited) 2006 2005
(c) Represents the operations of American Life Insurance Company

Revenues(a):
(ALICO), AIG Star Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (AIG Star Life), and AIG

Aircraft Finance(b) $ 965 $ 827
Edison Life Insurance Company (AIG Edison Life). Revenues and operat-

Capital Markets(c)(d) (300) 756
ing income include realized capital gains of $149 million and losses of Consumer Finance(e) 924 833
$(139) million for the first three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Other 26 20
The effects of FAS 133 and the application of FAS 52 included in realized

Total Financial Services $1,615 $2,436
capital gains (losses) are gains of $40 million and losses of $(213) million

Operating income (loss)(a):for the first three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Aircraft Finance $ 129 $ 187(d) Includes the life operations of American General Life Insurance Company
Capital Markets(d) (470) 620(AG Life), AIG Life Insurance Company and American International Life
Consumer Finance(f) 175 221Assurance Company of New York. Also includes the operations of Ameri-
Other 7 17can General Life and Accident Insurance Company (AGLA). Revenues

Total Financial Services $ (159) $1,045and operating income include realized capital gains of $8 million and

$72 million for the first three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The (a) Includes the effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge
effects of FAS 133 and the application of FAS 52 included in realized accounting treatment under FAS 133, including the related foreign ex-
capital gains (losses) are gains of $86 million and $104 million for the first change gains and losses. For the first three months of 2006 and 2005, the
three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. effect was $0 and $15 million, respectively, in operating income for Air-

(e) ‘‘AIG SunAmerica’’ represents the annuity operations of AIG SunAmerica craft Finance and $(678) million and $468 million in both revenues and
Life Assurance Company, as well as those of First SunAmerica Life Insur- operating income for Capital Markets. These amounts result primarily
ance Company and SunAmerica Life Insurance Company. Also includes from interest rate and foreign currency derivatives hedging available for
the operations of The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company (VALIC) sale securities and borrowings.
and AIG Annuity Insurance Company (AIG Annuity). Revenues and oper- (b) Revenues are primarily from International Lease Finance Corporation
ating income include realized capital losses of $(202) million and (ILFC) aircraft lease rentals.
$(79) million for the first three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. (c) Revenues, shown net of interest expense, are primarily from hedged finan-
The effects of FAS 133 and the application of FAS 52 included in realized cial positions entered into in connection with counterparty transactions
capital gains (losses) are gains of $3 million and $20 million for the first and the effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge accounting
three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. treatment under FAS 133 described in (a) above.

(d) Certain transactions entered into by AIGFP generate tax credits and bene-

fits which are included in income taxes in the consolidated statement of

income. The amount of such tax credits and benefits for the first three

months of 2006 and 2005 are $18 million, and $19 million, respectively.

(e) Revenues are primarily finance charges.

(f) Includes $44 million in additional allowances for losses in AIG Credit

Card Company (Taiwan) in 2006.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Three Months Ended March 31,2. Segment Information (continued)
(in millions, except per share data) (unaudited) 2006 2005

The following table summarizes AIG’s Asset Management Numerator for diluted earnings per share:
revenues and operating income for the three months ended Income before cumulative effect of an
March 31, 2006 and 2005: accounting change $3,161 $3,799

Cumulative effect of an accounting change,
Asset Management

net of tax 34 –(in millions) (unaudited) 2006 2005
Net income applicable to common stock 3,195 3,799Revenues:
Interest on contingently convertible bonds,Guaranteed Investment Contracts $ 822 $ 896

net of tax(a) 3 3Institutional Asset Management 279 319
Brokerage Services and Mutual Funds 73 63 Adjusted net income applicable to common
Other 65 99 stock(a) $3,198 $3,802

Total Asset Management $1,239 $1,377 Denominator for diluted earnings per share:
Operating income: Average shares outstanding 2,605 2,597

Guaranteed Investment Contracts(a) $ 218 $ 319 Incremental shares from potential common
Institutional Asset Management(b)(c) 159 161 stock:
Brokerage Services and Mutual Funds 23 13 Average number of shares arising from
Other 61 97 outstanding employee stock plans

Total Asset Management $ 461 $ 590 (treasury stock method)(b) 10 18
Contingently convertible bonds(a) 9 9(a) The effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Adjusted average shares outstanding –treatment under FAS 133 was $0 and $62 million for the first three months

diluted(b) 2,624 2,624of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(b) Includes the full results of certain AIG managed private equity and real Earnings per share:
estate funds that are consolidated effective December 31, 2003 pursuant Basic:
to FIN46R, ‘‘Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities’’. For the first Income before cumulative effect of an
three months of 2006 and 2005, operating income includes $27 million accounting change $ 1.21 $ 1.46
and $75 million, respectively, of third-party limited partner earnings offset Cumulative effect of an accounting change,
in minority interest expense. net of tax 0.01 –

(c) Includes the full results of certain AIG managed partnerships that are Net income $ 1.22 $ 1.46
consolidated effective January 1, 2006 pursuant to EITF 04-5, ‘‘Determin- Diluted:
ing Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Income before cumulative effect of an
Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Part- accounting change $ 1.21 $ 1.45
ners Have Certain Rights.’’ For the first three months of 2006, operating Cumulative effect of an accounting change,
income includes $69 million of third-party limited partner earnings offset net of tax 0.01 –
in minority interest expense. Net income $ 1.22 $ 1.45

(a) Assumes conversion of contingently convertible bonds due to the adoption3. Earnings Per Share
of EITF Issue No. 04-8 ‘‘Accounting Issues Related to Certain Features of

Contingently Convertible Debt and the Effect on Diluted Earnings perEarnings per share of AIG are based on the weighted average
Share.’’number of common shares outstanding during the period. See

(b) Certain shares arising from employee stock plans were not included in thealso Note 10 herein.
computation of diluted earnings per share where the exercise price of the

Computation of Earnings Per Share: options exceeded the average market price and would have been antidilu-

tive. The number of shares excluded were 7 million and 22 million for the
Three Months Ended March 31,

first three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.
(in millions, except per share data) (unaudited) 2006 2005

Numerator for basic earnings per share: During the three months ended March 31, 2005, AIG
Income before cumulative effect of an purchased in the open market 2,477,100 shares of its com-

accounting change $3,161 $3,799 mon stock. From time to time, AIG may buy shares of its
Cumulative effect of an accounting change, common stock in the open market for general corporate pur-

net of tax 34 –
poses, including to satisfy its obligations under various em-

Net income applicable to common stock $3,195 $3,799 ployee benefit plans. At March 31, 2006 and December 31,
Denominator for basic earnings per share: 2005, an additional 36,542,700 shares could be purchased
Average shares outstanding used in the under the then current authorization by AIG’s Board of Di-

computation of per share earnings:
rectors. Although AIG has authorization to purchase addi-Common stock issued 2,752 2,752
tional shares, AIG has not repurchased shares in 2006.Common stock in treasury (154) (155)

Deferred shares 7 – The quarterly dividend rate per common share, com-
Average shares outstanding – basic 2,605 2,597 mencing with the dividend declared in May 2005 and paid on
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. See also3. Earnings Per Share (continued)
Note 10 herein.

September 16, 2005, is $0.15. The declared dividend amount
In January 2006, C.V. Starr & Co., Inc. (Starr) com-of $0.175 for the first three months of 2005 includes a $0.05

pleted its tender offer to purchase Starr interests from AIGincrease to the amount previously declared in the fourth
employees. In conjunction with AIG’s adoption of FAS 123R,quarter of 2004 for payment in March 2005 as well as the
Starr is considered to be an ‘‘economic interest holder’’ in$0.125 dividend declared in March 2005 for payment in June
AIG. As a result, compensation expense of $54 million with2005. See also Note 10 herein.
respect to the Starr offer was included in the first three
months of 2006.4. Benefits  Provided by Starr

International Company, Inc.  and C.V. As a result of its changing relationship with Starr and
Starr & Co.,  Inc. SICO, AIG has established new executive compensation

plans to replace the SICO plans and investment opportunitiesStarr International Company, Inc. (SICO) has provided a series
previously provided by Starr. The replacement plans includeof two-year Deferred Compensation Profit Participation Plans
both share-based plans and cash-based plans (AIG Senior(SICO Plans) to certain AIG employees. The SICO Plans came
Partners Plan). In addition, these replacement plans generallyinto being in 1975 when the voting shareholders and Board of
include performance as well as service conditions. See alsoDirectors of SICO, a private holding company whose principal
Note 10 herein.asset is AIG common stock, decided that a portion of the

capital value of SICO should be used to provide an incentive
5. Ownership and Transactions Withplan for the current and succeeding managements of all Ameri-

Related Partiescan International companies, including AIG.

(a) Ownership: According to the Schedule 13D filed onNone of the costs of the various benefits provided under
March 7, 2006 by Starr, SICO, Edward E. Matthews, Mau-the SICO Plans has been paid by AIG, although AIG has re-
rice R. Greenberg, the Maurice R. and Corinne P. Greenbergcorded a charge to reported earnings for the deferred compen-
Family Foundation, Inc. and the Universal Foundation, Inc.,sation amounts paid to AIG employees by SICO, with an
these reporting persons may be deemed to beneficially ownoffsetting amount credited to additional paid-in capital reflect-
396,124,637 shares of common stock. Based on the shares ofing amounts deemed contributed by SICO. The SICO Plans
common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2006, this own-provide that shares currently owned by SICO are set aside by
ership represents approximately 15 percent of the votingSICO for the benefit of the participant and distributed upon
stock of AIG.retirement. The SICO Board of Directors currently may permit

an early payout of units under certain circumstances. Prior to (b) Transactions with Related Parties: During the ordi-
payout, the participant is not entitled to vote, dispose of or nary course of business, AIG and its subsidiaries pay commis-
receive dividends with respect to such shares, and shares are sions to Starr and its subsidiaries for the production and
subject to forfeiture under certain conditions, including but management of insurance business. There were no significant
not limited to the participant’s voluntary termination of em- receivables from/payables to related parties at March 31, 2006.
ployment with AIG prior to normal retirement age. Under the
SICO Plans, SICO’s Board of Directors may elect to pay a 6. Commitments and Contingent
participant cash in lieu of shares of AIG common stock. Fol- Liabilities
lowing notification from SICO to participants in the SICO

In the normal course of business, various commitments andPlans that it will settle specific future awards under the SICO
contingent liabilities are entered into by AIG and certain of itsPlans with shares rather than cash, AIG modified its account-
subsidiaries. In addition, AIG guarantees various obligationsing for the SICO Plans from variable to fixed measurement
of certain subsidiaries.accounting, although variable accounting will continue to be

applied where SICO makes cash payments pursuant to elec- (a) AIG and certain of its subsidiaries become parties to
tions made prior to March 2005. AIG gave effect to this derivative financial instruments with market risk resulting
change in settlement method beginning on December 9, 2005, from both dealer and end user activities and to reduce cur-
the date of SICO’s notice to participants in the SICO Plans. See rency, interest rate, equity and commodity exposures. These
also Note 6(f) herein. instruments are carried at their estimated fair values in the

consolidated balance sheet. The vast majority of AIG’s deriv-Compensation expense with respect to the SICO Plans
ative activity is transacted by AIGFP. (See also Note 20 ofaggregated $76 million, including various adjustments total-
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in AIG’s 2005ling $61 million, primarily relating to stock-split adjustments
Annual Report on Form 10-K.)and other miscellaneous items, and $7 million for the first
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(e) SAI Deferred Compensation Holdings, Inc., a6. Commitments and Contingent
wholly-owned subsidiary of AIG, has established a deferredLiabilities (continued)
compensation plan for registered representatives of certain

(b) Securities sold, but not yet purchased and spot com- AIG subsidiaries, pursuant to which participants have the
modities sold but not yet purchased represent obligations of opportunity to invest deferred commissions and fees on a
AIGFP to deliver specified securities and spot commodities at notional basis. The value of the deferred compensation fluc-
their contracted prices. AIGFP records a liability to repur- tuates with the value of the deferred investment alternatives
chase the securities and spot commodities in the market at chosen. AIG has provided a full and unconditional guarantee
prevailing prices. of the obligations of SAI Deferred Compensation Holdings,

Inc. to pay the deferred compensation under the plan.AIG has issued unconditional guarantees with respect to
the prompt payment, when due, of all present and future (f) On June 27, 2005, AIG entered into an agreement
payment obligations and liabilities of AIGFP arising from pursuant to which AIG agrees, subject to certain conditions,
transactions entered into by AIGFP. to make any payment that is not promptly paid with respect

to the benefits accrued by certain employees of AIG and its(c) At March 31, 2006, ILFC had committed to
subsidiaries under the SICO Plans (as defined in Note 4).purchase 308 new and used aircraft deliverable from 2006

through 2015 at an estimated aggregate purchase price of (g) AIG and certain of its subsidiaries have been named
$21.4 billion and had options to purchase 16 new aircraft at defendants in two putative class actions in state court in Ala-
an estimated aggregate purchase price of $1.5 billion. ILFC bama that arise out of the 1999 settlement of class and deriva-
will be required to find customers for any aircraft acquired, tive litigation involving Caremark Rx, Inc. (Caremark). An
and it must arrange financing for portions of the purchase excess policy issued by a subsidiary of AIG with respect to the
price of such equipment. 1999 litigation was expressly stated to be without limit of

liability. In the current actions, plaintiffs allege that the judge(d) AIG and its subsidiaries, in common with the insur-
approving the 1999 settlement was misled as to the extent ofance industry in general, are subject to litigation, including
available insurance coverage and would not have approved theclaims for punitive damages, in the normal course of their
settlement had he known of the existence and/or unlimitedbusiness. The recent trend of increasing jury awards and set-
nature of the excess policy. They further allege that AIG, itstlements makes it difficult to assess the ultimate outcome of
subsidiaries, and Caremark are liable for fraud and suppres-such litigation.
sion for misrepresenting and/or concealing the nature and ex-

Although AIG regularly reviews the adequacy of the es- tent of coverage. In their complaint, plaintiffs request
tablished reserve for losses and loss expenses, there can be no compensatory damages for the 1999 class in the amount of
assurance that AIG’s ultimate loss reserves will not develop $3.2 billion, plus punitive damages. AIG and its subsidiaries
adversely and materially exceed AIG’s current loss reserves. deny the allegations of fraud and suppression and have as-
Estimation of ultimate net losses, loss expenses and loss serted, inter alia, that information concerning the excess policy
reserves is a complex process for long-tail casualty lines of was publicly disclosed months prior to the approval of the
business, which include excess and umbrella liability, direc- settlement. AIG and its subsidiaries further assert that the cur-
tors and officers liability (D&O), professional liability, medi- rent claims are barred by the statute of limitations and that
cal malpractice, workers compensation, general liability, plaintiffs’ assertions that the statute was tolled cannot stand
products liability and related classes, as well as for asbestos against the public disclosure of the excess coverage. Plaintiffs,
and environmental exposures. Generally, actual historical in turn, have asserted that the disclosure was insufficient to
loss development factors are used to project future loss devel- inform them of the nature of the coverage and did not start the
opment. However, there can be no assurance that future loss running of the statute of limitations. On January 28, 2005, the
development patterns will be the same as in the past. Moreo- Alabama trial court determined that one of the current actions
ver, any deviation in loss cost trends or in loss development may proceed as a class action on behalf of the 1999 classes that
factors might not be discernible for an extended period of were allegedly defrauded by the settlement. AIG, its subsidiar-
time subsequent to the recording of the initial loss reserve ies, and Caremark are seeking appellate relief from the Ala-
estimates for any accident year. Thus, there is the potential bama Supreme Court. AIG cannot now estimate either the
for reserves with respect to a number of years to be signifi- likelihood of its prevailing in these actions or the potential
cantly affected by changes in loss cost trends or loss develop- damages in the event liability is determined.
ment factors that were relied upon in setting the reserves.

(h) On December 30, 2004, an arbitration panel issuedThese changes in loss trends or loss development factors
its ruling in connection with a 1998 workers compensationcould be attributable to changes in inflation in labor and
quota share reinsurance agreement under which Superior Na-material costs or in the judicial environment, or in other
tional Insurance Company, among others, was reinsured bysocial or economic phenomena affecting claims.
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Various federal and state regulatory agencies are review-6. Commitments and Contingent
ing certain transactions and practices of AIG and its subsidi-Liabilities (continued)
aries in connection with industry-wide and other inquiries.

The United States Life Insurance Company in the City of AIG has cooperated, and will continue to cooperate, in pro-
New York (USLIFE), a subsidiary of American General Cor- ducing documents and other information in response to the
poration. In its 2-1 ruling the arbitration panel refused to subpoenas.
rescind the contract as requested by USLIFE. Instead, the

A number of lawsuits have been filed regarding the sub-panel reformed the contract to reduce USLIFE’s participation
ject matter of the investigations of insurance brokerage prac-by ten percent. USLIFE is pursuing certain reinsurance
tices, including derivative actions, individual actions andrecoverables in connection with the contract. Further, the
class actions under the federal securities laws, Racketeer In-arbitration ruling established a second phase of arbitration
fluenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), Employeewhich is pending, in which USLIFE is presenting its chal-
Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) and state commonlenges to certain cessions to the contract. AIG holds a reserve
and corporate laws in both federal and state courts, includingof approximately $369 million related to this matter as of
the United States District Court for the Southern District ofMarch 31, 2006.
New York (Southern District of New York), in the Common-

(i) Regulators from several states have commenced investi- wealth of Massachusetts Superior Court and in Delaware
gations into insurance brokerage practices related to contingent Chancery Court. All of these actions generally allege that AIG
commissions and other broker-related conduct, such as alleged and its subsidiaries violated the law by allegedly concealing a
bid rigging. Various parties, including insureds and sharehold- scheme to ‘‘rig bids’’ and ‘‘steer’’ business between insurance
ers, have also asserted putative class action and other claims companies and insurance brokers.
against AIG or its subsidiaries alleging, among other things,

Since October 19, 2004, AIG or its subsidiaries have beenviolations of the antitrust and federal securities laws, and AIG
named as a defendant in sixteen complaints that were filed inexpects that additional claims may be made.
federal court and two that were originally filed in state court

In February 2006, AIG reached a resolution of claims and (Massachusetts and Florida) and removed to federal court.
matters under investigation with the United States Department These cases generally allege that AIG and its subsidiaries vio-
of Justice (DOJ), the Securities and Exchange Commission lated federal and various state antitrust laws, as well as federal
(SEC), the Office of the New York Attorney General (NYAG) RICO laws, various state deceptive and unfair practice laws
and the New York State Department of Insurance (DOI). The and certain state laws governing fiduciary duties. The alleged
settlements resolved outstanding litigation filed by the SEC, basis of these claims is that there was a conspiracy between
NYAG and DOI against AIG and concluded negotiations with insurance companies and insurance brokers with regard to the
these authorities and the DOJ in connection with the account- use of contingent commission agreements, bidding practices,
ing, financial reporting and insurance brokerage practices of and other broker-related conduct concerning coverage in cer-
AIG and its subsidiaries, as well as claims relating to the un- tain sectors of the insurance industry. The Judicial Panel on
derpayment of certain workers compensation premium taxes Multidistrict Litigation entered an order on February 17,
and other assessments. In the fourth quarter of 2005 AIG 2005, consolidating most of these cases and transferring them
recorded an after-tax charge of $1.15 billion for the to the United States District Court for the District of New
settlements. Jersey (District of New Jersey). The remainder of these cases

have been transferred to the District of New Jersey. On Au-As a result of these settlements, AIG made payments or
gust 15, 2005, the plaintiffs in the multidistrict litigation filed aplaced amounts in escrow in the first three months of 2006
Corrected First Consolidated Amended Commercial Class Ac-totaling approximately $1.64 billion, $225 million of which
tion Complaint, which, in addition to the previously namedrepresented fines and penalties. Of these amounts, $676 mil-
AIG defendants, names new AIG subsidiaries as defendants.lion held in escrow is included in other assets and other liabil-
Also on August 15, 2005, AIG and two subsidiaries wereities at March 31, 2006. A substantial portion of the money
named as defendants in a Corrected First Consolidatedwill be available to resolve claims asserted in various regula-
Amended Employee Benefits Class Action Complaint filed intory and civil proceedings, including shareholder lawsuits.
the District of New Jersey, which asserts similar claims with

Also, as part of the settlements, AIG has agreed to retain respect to employee benefits insurance and a claim under ER-
for a period of three years an independent consultant who ISA on behalf of putative classes of employers and employees.
will conduct a review that will include the adequacy of AIG’s On November 29, 2005, the AIG defendants, along with other
internal control over financial reporting and the remediation insurer defendants and the broker defendants filed motions to
plan that AIG has implemented as a result of its own internal dismiss both the Commercial and Employee Benefits Com-
review. plaints. Plaintiffs have filed a motion for class certification in
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ware Chancery Court seeking documents relating to some of6. Commitments and Contingent
the allegations made in the derivative suits. AIG filed a mo-Liabilities (continued)
tion to dismiss in October 2005.

the consolidated action. Defendants have filed an opposition
In late 2002, a derivative action was filed in Delawareto the motion for class certification. On April 4, 2006, a com-

Chancery Court in connection with AIG’s transactions withplaint against AIG and several of its subsidiaries was filed in
certain entities affiliated with Starr and Starr Internationalthe United States District Court for the Northern District of
Company, Inc. (SICO). In May 2005, the plaintiff filed anGeorgia alleging claims similar to what was alleged in the
amended complaint which adds additional claims premisedconsolidated complaint. The defendants are seeking to transfer
on allegations relating to insurance brokerage practices andthis case to the District of New Jersey for consolidation. In
AIG’s non-traditional insurance products. Plaintiffs in thataddition, complaints were filed against AIG and several of its
case have agreed to dismiss newly added allegations unrelatedsubsidiaries in Massachusetts and Florida state courts, which
to transactions with entities affiliated with Starr and SICOhave both been stayed. In the Florida action, the plaintiff has
without prejudice to pursuit of these claims in the separatefiled a petition for a writ of certiorari with the District Court of
derivative actions described above. On February 16, 2006,Appeals of the State of Florida, Fourth District with respect to
the Delaware Chancery Court entered an order dismissing thethe stay order. On February 9, 2006, a complaint against AIG
litigation with prejudice with respect to AIG’s outside direc-and several of its subsidiaries was filed in Texas state court,
tors and dismissing the claims against the remaining AIGmaking claims similar to those in the federal cases above.
defendants without prejudice.

In April and May 2005, amended complaints were filed
AIG cannot predict the outcome of the matters describedin the consolidated derivative and securities cases, as well as

above or estimate the potential costs related to these mattersin one of the ERISA lawsuits, pending in the Southern District
and, accordingly, no reserve is being established in AIG’sof New York adding allegations concerning AIG’s accounting
financial statements at this time. In the opinion of AIG man-treatment for non-traditional insurance products. In Septem-
agement, AIG’s ultimate liability for the matters referred tober 2005, a second amended complaint was filed in the con-
above is not likely to have a material adverse effect on AIG’ssolidated securities cases adding allegations concerning AIG’s
consolidated financial condition, although it is possible thatfirst restatement of its financial statements described in the
the effect would be material to AIG’s consolidated results of2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K (the ‘‘First Restate-
operations for an individual reporting period.ment’’), and a new securities action complaint was filed in the

Southern District of New York, asserting claims premised on (j) On July 8, 2005, SICO filed a complaint against AIG
the same allegations made in the consolidated cases. In in the Southern District of New York. The complaint alleges
April 2006, motions to dismiss were denied in the securities that AIG is in the possession of items, including artwork,
actions. Also in September 2005, a class action complaint which SICO claims it owns, and seeks an order causing AIG to
was filed to consolidate the ERISA cases pending in the release those items as well as actual, consequential, punitive
Southern District of New York. Motions to dismiss in the and exemplary damages. On September 27, 2005, AIG filed its
consolidated action were filed in January 2006. Also in April answer to SICO’s complaint denying SICO’s allegations and
2005, new derivative actions were filed in Delaware Chan- asserting counter-claims for breach of contract, unjust enrich-
cery Court, and in July and August 2005, two new derivative ment, conversion and breach of fiduciary duty relating to
actions were filed in the Southern District of New York as- SICO’s breach of its commitment to use its AIG shares for the
serting claims duplicative of the claims made in the consoli- benefit of AIG and its employees. On October 17, 2005, SICO
dated derivative action. replied to AIG’s counter-claims and additionally sought a

judgment declaring that SICO is neither a control person norIn July 2005, a second amended complaint was filed in
an affiliate of AIG for purposes of Schedule 13D under thethe consolidated derivative case in the Southern District of
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ExchangeNew York, expanding upon accounting-related allegations,
Act), and Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, asbased upon the First Restatement. In June 2005, the deriva-
amended (the Securities Act), respectively. AIG responded totive cases in Delaware were consolidated and, in August
the SICO claims on November 7, 2005.2005, an amended consolidated complaint was filed. AIG’s

(k) AIG understands that some of its employees haveBoard of Directors has appointed a special committee of inde-
received Wells notices in connection with previously disclosedpendent directors to review the matters asserted in the deriva-
SEC investigations of certain of AIG’s transactions or ac-tive complaints. The courts have approved agreements
counting practices. Under SEC procedures, a Wells notice isstaying the derivative cases pending in the Southern District
an indication that the SEC staff has made a preliminary deci-of New York and in Delaware Chancery Court while the
sion to recommend enforcement action that provides recipi-special committee of independent directors performs its
ents with an opportunity to respond to the SEC staff before awork. In September 2005, a shareholder filed suit in Dela-
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are phased-out was originally established in 1980 and is ad-6. Commitments and Contingent
justed annually for inflation. Depending on the price of do-Liabilities (continued)
mestic crude oil for a particular year, all or a portion of the

formal recommendation is finalized. AIG anticipates that ad- tax credits generated in that year might be eliminated. Tax
ditional current and former employees could receive similar credits reflected in the income tax provision for the first three
notices in the future as the regulatory investigations proceed. months of 2006 have been reduced to reflect the estimated

(l) AIG generates income tax credits as a result of invest- annual average oil price for 2006. Should the actual average
ing in synthetic fuel production. Tax credits generated from oil price for 2006 exceed this estimate, further reductions in
the production and sale of synthetic fuel under Section 29 of the tax credits could be required. Regardless of oil prices, the
the Internal Revenue Code are subject to an annual phase-out tax credits expire after 2007.
provision that is based on the average wellhead price of do-
mestic crude oil. The price range within which the tax credits

7. Employee Benefits

The following table presents the components of the net periodic benefit costs with respect to pensions and other benefits
for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:

Pensions Postretirement
Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S. U.S.

(in millions) Plans Plans Total Plans Plans Total

2006
Components of net period benefit cost:
Service cost $ 19 $ 31 $ 50 $ 1 $ 1 $ 2
Interest cost 9 40 49 1 3 4
Expected return on assets (7) (48) (55) – – –
Amortization of prior service cost (2) (1) (3) – (2) (2)
Recognized actuarial loss 4 19 23 – – –

Net period benefit cost $ 23 $ 41 $ 64 $ 2 $ 2 $ 4

2005
Components of net period benefit cost:
Service cost $ 19 $ 26 $ 45 $ 1 $ 2 $ 3
Interest cost 8 37 45 – 4 4
Expected return on assets (5) (41) (46) – – –
Amortization of prior service cost (3) (1) (4) – (2) (2)
FAS 88 loss due to settlements 1 – 1 – – –
Recognized actuarial loss 6 16 22 – 1 1

Net period benefit cost $ 26 $ 37 $ 63 $ 1 $ 5 $ 6

EITF No. 03-1-1, Effective Date of Paragraphs 10-20 of EITF8. Recent Accounting Standards
Issue No. 03-1, ‘‘The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary

In March 2005, FASB issued FSP FIN46R-5 ‘‘Implicit Varia- Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments’’ de-
ble Interests under FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised De- laying the effective date of this guidance until the FASB has
cember 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities’’ resolved certain implementation issues with respect to this
(FSP FIN46R-5) to address whether a reporting enterprise guidance, but the disclosures remain effective. This FSP, re-
has an implicit variable interest in a variable interest entity titled FSP FAS 115-1, ‘‘The Meaning of Other-Than-Tempo-
(VIE) or potential VIE when specific conditions exist. The rary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments,
identification of an implicit variable interest is a matter of ’’ replaces the measurement and recognition guidance set
judgment that depends on the relevant facts and circum- forth in Issue No. 03-1 and codifies certain existing guidance
stances. AIG’s adoption of FSP FIN46R-5 on April 1, 2005 on impairment. AIG’s adoption of FSP FAS 115-1 on Janu-
did not have a material effect on AIG’s financial condition or ary 1, 2006 did not have a material effect on AIG’s consoli-
results of operations. dated financial condition or results of operations.

At the March 2004 meeting, the Emerging Issue Task In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123
Force (EITF) reached a consensus with respect to Issue (revised 2004), ‘‘Share-Based Payment’’ (FAS 123R).
No. 03-1, ‘‘The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impair- FAS 123R and its related interpretive guidance replaces FAS
ment and Its Application to Certain Investments.’’ On Sep- No. 123, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’’
tember 30, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) (FAS 123), supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion
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At the June 2005 meeting, the EITF reached a consensus8. Recent Accounting Standards (continued)
with respect to Issue No. 04-5, ‘‘Determining Whether a Gen-

No. 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’’ eral Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a
(APB 25) and amends FAS 95 ‘‘Statement of Cash Flows’’. Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Part-
FAS 123, as originally issued in 1995, established as prefera- ners Have Certain Rights’’. The Issue addresses what rights
ble a fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based held by the limited partner(s) preclude consolidation in cir-
payment transactions with employees. On January 1, 2003, cumstances in which the sole  general partner would consoli-
AIG adopted the recognition provisions of FAS 123. See also date the limited partnership in accordance with generally
Note 10 herein. In April 2005, the SEC delayed the effective accepted accounting principles absent the existence of the
date for FAS 123R until the first fiscal year beginning after rights held by the limited partner(s). Based on that consensus,
June 15, 2005. As a result, AIG adopted the provisions of the the EITF also agreed to amend the consensus in Issue
revised FAS 123R and its related interpretive guidance on No. 96-16, ‘‘Investor’s Accounting for an Investee When the
January 1, 2006. Investor Has a Majority of the Voting Interest but the Minor-

ity Shareholders Have Certain Approval or Veto Rights.’’ TheFor its service-based awards (e.g. 1999 Stock Option
guidance in this Issue is effective after June 29, 2005 forPlan, 2002 Stock Incentive Plan and 1996 Employee Stock
general partners of all new limited partnerships formed andPurchase Plan), AIG recognizes compensation on a straight-
for existing limited partnerships for which the partnershipline basis over the scheduled vesting period. Unrecognized
agreements are modified. For general partners in all otherunvested compensation expense for stock option awards
limited partnerships, the guidance in this Issue is effectivegranted under APB 25 (i.e., before January 1, 2003) will be
beginning January 1, 2006. The effect of the adoption of thisrecognized from January 1, 2006 to the vesting date. How-
EITF Issue was not material to AIG’s consolidated financialever, for the SICO Plans and the AIG Deferred Compensation
condition or results of operations.Profit Participant Plan, which contain both performance and

service conditions, AIG recognizes compensation utilizing a On June 29, 2005, FASB issued Statement 133 Imple-
graded vesting expense attribution method. The effect of this mentation Issue No. B38, ‘‘Embedded Derivatives: Evalua-
approach is to recognize compensation cost over the requisite tion of Net Settlement with Respect to the Settlement of a
service period for each separately vesting tranche of the Debt Instrument through Exercise of an Embedded Put Op-
award. tion or Call Option.’’ This implementation guidance relates

to the potential settlement of the debtor’s obligation to theAIG’s share-based plans generally provide for acceler-
creditor that would occur upon exercise of the put option orated vesting at retirement or after the participant turns 65.
call option, which meets the net settlement criterion inFor awards granted after January 1, 2006, compensation ex-
FAS 133. The effective date of the implementation guidance ispense is recognized ratably from the date of grant through the
January 1, 2006. The adoption of this guidance did not haveshorter of age 65 or the vesting period. The effect of this
a material effect on AIG’s consolidated financial condition orchange was not material to AIG’s consolidated financial posi-
results of operations.tion or results of operations. Awards granted prior to Janu-

ary 1, 2006 will continue to be recognized over the vesting On June 29, 2005, FASB issued Statement 133 Imple-
period with accelerated expense recognition upon an actual mentation Issue No. B39, ‘‘Application of Paragraph 13(b) to
retirement. SICO compensation expense  for participants re- Call Options That Are Exercisable Only by the Debtor.’’ The
tiring after age 65 had been reflected in prior years’ results conditions in FAS 133 paragraph 13(b) do not apply to an
consistent with vested status under the SICO Plans. embedded call option in a hybrid instrument containing a

debt host contract if the right to accelerate the settlement ofOn June 1, 2005, FASB issued Statement No. 154, ‘‘Ac-
the debt can be exercised only by the debtor (is-counting Changes and Error Corrections’’ (FAS 154).
suer/borrower). This guidance does not apply to other em-FAS 154 replaces APB Opinion No. 20, ‘‘Accounting
bedded derivative features that may be present in the sameChanges’’ and FASB Statement No. 3, ‘‘Reporting Account-
hybrid instrument. The effective date of the implementationing Changes in Interim Financial Statements.’’ FAS 154 re-
guidance is January 1, 2006. The adoption of this guidancequires that a voluntary change in accounting principles be
did not have a material effect on AIG’s consolidated financialapplied retrospectively with all prior period financial state-
condition or results of operations.ments presented based on the new accounting principle, un-

less it is impracticable to do so. FAS 154 also provides that a On September 19, 2005, FASB issued Statement of Posi-
correction of errors in previously issued financial statements tion 05-1, ‘‘Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for Deferred
should be termed a ‘‘restatement.’’ The new standard is effec- Acquisition Costs in Connection with Modifications or Ex-
tive for accounting changes and correction of errors begin- changes of Insurance Contracts.’’ SOP 05-1 provides gui-
ning January 1, 2006. dance on accounting for deferred acquisition costs on internal
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struments of $512 million at March 31, 2006 are now carried8. Recent Accounting Standards (continued)
at fair value. The effect on earnings in the first three months

replacements of insurance and investment contracts other of 2006 for changes in the fair value of hybrid financial in-
than those specifically described in FASB Statement No. 97, struments was a pre-tax gain of $30 million and is reflected in
‘‘Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Cer- income.
tain Long-Duration Contracts and for Realized Gains and

On March 27, 2006, FASB issued FSP FTB 85-4-1, ‘‘Ac-Losses from the Sale of Investments.’’ The SOP defines an
counting for Life Settlement Contracts by Third-Party Inves-internal replacement as a modification in product benefits,
tors’’ (FSP 85-4-1), an amendment of FTB 85-4, ‘‘Accountingfeatures, rights, or coverage that occurs by the exchange of a
for Purchases of Life Insurance’’. Life settlements are de-contract for a new contract, or by amendment, endorsement,
signed to assist life insurance policyholders in monetizing theor rider to a contract, or by the election of a feature or
existing value of life insurance policies. FSP 85-4-1 allowscoverage within a contract. The effective date of the imple-
AIG to measure life settlement contracts using either the in-mentation guidance is January 1, 2007. AIG is currently as-
vestment method or fair value method. The election is madesessing the effect of implementing this guidance.
on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable. AIG

On February 16, 2006, FASB issued FAS No. 155, ‘‘Ac- elected to early adopt FSP 85-4-1 as of January 1, 2006 using
counting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments’’ the investment method for pre-existing investments held at
(FAS 155), an amendment of FAS 140 and FAS 133. FAS 155 December 31, 2005. The effect of this adoption resulted in a
allows AIG to include changes in fair value in earnings on an $319 million after tax ($487 million pre-tax) increase to
instrument-by-instrument basis for any hybrid financial in- opening retained earnings for its share of the life settlement
strument that contains an embedded derivative that would contracts held in certain non-consolidated trusts.
otherwise be required to be bifurcated and accounted for

On April 13, 2006, FASB issued FSP FIN 46(R)-6, ‘‘De-separately under FAS 133. The election to measure the hybrid
termining the Variability to be Considered in Applying FASBinstrument at fair value is irrevocable at the acquisition or
Interpretation No. 46(R)’’ (FIN 46(R)-6 or FSP). The FSPissuance date.
affects the identification of which entities are variable interest

AIG has elected to early adopt FAS 155 as of January 1, entities through a ‘‘by design’’ approach in identifying and
2006, and apply FAS 155 fair value measurement to certain measuring the variable interests of the variable interest entity
structured note liabilities and structured investments in AIG’s and its primary beneficiary. Under FIN 46(R), ‘‘Consolida-
available for sale portfolio that existed at December 31, tion of Variable Interest Entities’’, the requirements are to be
2005. The effect of this adoption resulted in an $11 million applied to all such variable interest entities after Septem-
after-tax ($18 million pre-tax) decrease to opening retained ber 30, 2006. The new requirements need not be applied to
earnings as of January 1, 2006, representing the difference entities that have previously been analyzed under FIN 46(R)
between the fair value of these hybrid financial instruments unless a reconsideration event occurs. The adoption of this
and the prior carrying value as of December 31, 2005. The guidance is not expected to have a material effect on AIG’s
effect of adoption on after-tax gross gains and losses was consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
$218 million ($336 million pre-tax) and $229 million
($354 million pre-tax), respectively.

Effective with AIG’s early adoption of FAS 155, struc-
tured note liabilities of $6.1 billion and hybrid financial in-
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. Information Provided in Connection with Outstanding Debt

The following condensed consolidating financial statements are provided in compliance with Regulation S-X of the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

(a) American General Corporation (AGC) is a holding company and a wholly owned subsidiary of AIG. AIG provides a full
and unconditional guarantee of all outstanding debt of AGC.

American General Corporation:

Condensed  Consolidating  Balance  Sheet

American
International

March 31, 2006 Group, Inc. AGC Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Assets:
Invested assets $ 112 $ – $ 708,296 $ (13,844) $694,564
Cash 125 – 1,123 – 1,248
Carrying value of subsidiaries and partially owned

companies, at equity 95,636 26,262 11,295 (132,026) 1,167
Other assets 3,755 2,618 178,292 (1,846) 182,819

Total assets $99,628 $28,880 $ 899,006 $ (147,716) $879,798
Liabilities:

Insurance liabilities $ 354 $ – $ 472,310 $ (64) $472,600
Debt 4,587 2,086 125,655 (13,547) 118,781
Other liabilities 6,297 3,915 191,799 (2,173) 199,838

Total liabilities 11,238 6,001 789,764 (15,784) 791,219
Preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary companies – – 189 – 189
Total shareholders’ equity 88,390 22,879 109,053 (131,932) 88,390
Total liabilities, preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary

companies and shareholders’ equity $99,628 $28,880 $ 899,006 $ (147,716) $879,798

American
International

December 31, 2005 Group, Inc. AGC Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Assets:
Invested assets $ 1,392 $ – $691,349 $ (13,696) $679,045
Cash 190 – 1,707 – 1,897
Carrying value of subsidiaries and partially owned

companies, at equity 90,723 27,027 15,577 (132,169) 1,158
Other assets 2,768 2,577 166,933 (1,327) 170,951

Total assets $95,073 $29,604 $875,566 $(147,192) $853,051

Liabilities:
Insurance liabilities $ 408 $ – $460,271 $ (56) $460,623
Debt 4,607 2,087 115,212 (12,057) 109,849
Other liabilities 3,741 4,110 191,279 (3,054) 196,076

Total liabilities 8,756 6,197 766,762 (15,167) 766,548

Preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary companies – – 186 – 186
Total shareholders’ equity 86,317 23,407 108,618 (132,025) 86,317

Total liabilities, preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary
companies and shareholders’ equity $95,073 $29,604 $875,566 $(147,192) $853,051
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. Information Provided in Connection with Outstanding Debt (continued)

Condensed  Consolidating  Statement  of  Income

American
International

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 Group, Inc. AGC Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Operating income (loss) $ (286) $ (38) $5,117 $ – $4,793
Equity in undistributed net income of consolidated subsidiaries 3,260 359 – (3,619) –
Dividend income from consolidated subsidiaries 187 304 – (491) –
Income taxes (benefits) * (13) 1,448 – 1,435
Minority interest – – (197) – (197)
Cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax 34 – – – 34
Net income (loss) $ 3,195 $638 $3,472 $(4,110) $3,195

* Amounts significantly less than $1 million.

American
International

Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 Group, Inc. AGC Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Operating income (loss) $ (10) $ (36) $5,695 $ – $5,649
Equity in undistributed net income of consolidated subsidiaries 3,646 701 – (4,347) –
Dividend income from consolidated subsidiaries 271 – – (271) –
Income taxes (benefits) 108 (12) 1,610 – 1,706
Minority interest – – (144) – (144)
Net income (loss) $3,799 $677 $3,941 $(4,618) $3,799

Condensed  Consolidating  Statements  of  Cash  Flow

American
International

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 Group, Inc. AGC Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries AIG

Net cash provided by operating activities $(1,139) $ 45 $ 4,160 $ 3,066
Cash flows from investing:

Invested assets disposed 1,269 – 38,122 39,391
Invested assets acquired – – (59,006) (59,006)
Other (2,283) – 1,961 (322)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,014) – (18,923) (19,937)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Change in debts 2,262 (1) 6,668 8,929
Other (174) (44) 6,961 6,743

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 2,088 (45) 13,629 15,672
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash – – 550 550
Change in cash (65) – (584) (649)
Cash at beginning of period 190 – 1,707 1,897
Cash at end of period $ 125 $ – $ 1,123 $ 1,248
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. Information Provided in Connection with Outstanding Debt (continued)

American
International

Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 Group, Inc. AGC Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Issuer Subsidiaries AIG

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ 373 $ 155 $ (962) $ (434)
Cash flows from investing:

Invested assets disposed 265 – 48,207 48,472
Invested assets acquired – – (68,402) (68,402)
Other (72) (120) 4 (188)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 193 (120) (20,191) (20,118)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Change in debts (34) 1 9,231 9,198
Other (429) (36) 12,228 11,763

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (463) (35) 21,459 20,961
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 30 – (87) (57)
Change in cash 133 – 219 352
Cash at beginning of period 17 – 1,992 2,009
Cash at end of period $ 150 $ – $ 2,211 $ 2,361

(b) AIG Liquidity Corp. is a wholly owned subsidiary of AIG. AIG provides a full and unconditional guarantee of all
obligations of AIG Liquidity Corp., which commenced operations in 2003.

AIG Liquidity Corp.:

Condensed  Consolidating  Balance  Sheet

American
International AIG

March 31, 2006 Group, Inc. Liquidity Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited)  Guarantor Corp. Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Assets:
Invested assets $ 112 $ * $708,296 $ (13,844) $694,564
Cash 125 * 1,123 – 1,248
Carrying value of subsidiaries and partially owned

companies, at equity 95,636 – 37,557 (132,026) 1,167
Other assets 3,755 * 180,910 (1,846) 182,819

Total assets $99,628 $ * $927,886 $ (147,716) $879,798
Liabilities:

Insurance liabilities $ 354 $ – $472,310 $ (64) $472,600
Debt 4,587 * 127,741 (13,547) 118,781
Other liabilities 6,297 * 195,714 (2,173) 199,838

Total liabilities 11,238 * 795,765 (15,784) 791,219
Preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary companies – – 189 – 189
Total shareholders’ equity 88,390 * 131,932 (131,932) 88,390
Total liabilities, preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary

companies and shareholders’ equity $99,628 $ * $927,886 $ (147,716) $879,798

* Amounts significantly less than $1 million.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. Information Provided in Connection with Outstanding Debt (continued)

American
International AIG

December 31, 2005 Group, Inc. Liquidity Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Corp. Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Assets:
Invested assets $ 1,392 $ * $691,349 $ (13,696) $679,045
Cash 190 * 1,707 – 1,897
Carrying value of subsidiaries and partially owned

companies, at equity 90,723 – 42,604 (132,169) 1,158
Other assets 2,768 * 169,510 (1,327) 170,951

Total assets $95,073 $ * $905,170 $(147,192) $853,051
Liabilities:

Insurance liabilities $ 408 $ – $460,271 $ (56) $460,623
Debt 4,607 * 117,299 (12,057) 109,849
Other liabilities 3,741 * 195,389 (3,054) 196,076

Total liabilities 8,756 * 772,959 (15,167) 766,548
Preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary companies – – 186 – 186
Total shareholders’ equity 86,317 * 132,025 (132,025) 86,317
Total liabilities, preferred shareholders’ equity in subsidiary

companies and shareholders’ equity $95,073 $ * $905,170 $(147,192) $853,051

*Amounts significantly less than $1 million.

Condensed  Consolidating  Statement  of  Income

American
International AIG

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 Group, Inc. Liquidity Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Corp. Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Operating income (loss) $ (286) $ * $5,079 $ – $4,793
Equity in undistributed net income of consolidated

subsidiaries 3,260 – 359 (3,619) –
Dividend income from consolidated subsidiaries 187 – 304 (491) –
Income taxes * * 1,435 – 1,435
Minority interest – – (197) – (197)
Cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax 34 – – – 34
Net income (loss) $ 3,195 $ * $4,110 $(4,110) $3,195

*Amounts significantly less than $1 million.

American
International AIG

Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 Group, Inc. Liquidity Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Corp. Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG

Operating income (loss) $ (10) $ * $ 5,659 $ – $5,649
Equity in undistributed net income of consolidated subsidiaries 3,646 – 701 (4,347) –
Dividend income from consolidated subsidiaries 271 – – (271) –
Income taxes 108 * 1,598 – 1,706
Minority interest – – (144) – (144)
Net income (loss) $ 3,799 $ * $ 4,618 $(4,618) $3,799

*Amounts significantly less than $1 million.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. Information Provided in Connection with Outstanding Debt (continued)

Condensed  Consolidating  Statements  of  Cash  Flow
American

International AIG
Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 Group, Inc. Liquidity Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Corp. Subsidiaries AIG

Net cash provided by operating activities $(1,139) $ * $ 4,205 $ 3,066
Cash flows from investing:

Invested assets disposed 1,269 – 38,122 39,391
Invested assets acquired – – (59,006) (59,006)
Other (2,283) * 1,961 (322)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,014) * (18,923) (19,937)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Change in debts 2,262 – 6,667 8,929
Other (174) * 6,917 6,743

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 2,088 * 13,584 15,672
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash – – 550 550
Change in cash (65) * (584) (649)
Cash at beginning of period 190 – 1,707 1,897
Cash at end of period $ 125 $ * $ 1,123 $ 1,248

*Amounts significantly less than $1 million.
American

International AIG
Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 Group, Inc. Liquidity Other Consolidated
(in millions) (unaudited) Guarantor Corp. Subsidiaries AIG

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ 373 $ * $ (807) $ (434)

Cash flows from investing:
Invested assets disposed 265 – 48,207 48,472
Invested assets acquired – – (68,402) (68,402)
Other (72) * (116) (188)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 193 * (20,311) (20,118)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Change in debts (34) – 9,232 9,198
Other (429) * 12,192 11,763

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (463) * 21,424 20,961

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 30 – (87) (57)

Change in cash 133 * 219 352
Cash at beginning of period 17 – 1,992 2,009

Cash at end of period $ 150 $ * $ 2,211 $ 2,361

*Amounts significantly less than $1 million.

awards have been made under this plan as of March 31,10. Stock Compensation Plans
2006. Stock-based compensation earned under the

At March 31, 2006, AIG employees could receive compensa- AIG DCPPP and the AIG Partners Plan will be issued as
tion pursuant to six different stock-based compensation plan awards under the 2002 Plan. AIG currently settles share op-
arrangements: (i) AIG 1999 Stock Option Plan, as amended tion exercises and other share awards to participants through
(1999 Plan); (ii) AIG 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as the issuance of shares it has previously acquired and holds in
amended (the 1996 Plan); (iii) AIG 2002 Stock Incentive its treasury account, except for share awards made by SICO,
Plan, as amended (2002 Plan) under which AIG has to date which are settled by SICO.
issued only restricted stock units (RSUs); (iv) SICO’s Deferred

At March 31, 2006, AIG’s non-employee directors re-
Compensation Profit Participation Plans (SICO Plans);

ceived stock-based compensation in two forms, options
(v) AIG’s 2005-2006 Deferred Compensation Profit Partici-

granted pursuant to the 1999 Plan and grants of AIG com-
pation Plan (AIG DCPPP) and (vi) the AIG Partners Plan. The

mon stock with delivery deferred until retirement from the
AIG DCPPP was adopted as a replacement for the SICO

Board, pursuant to the AIG Director Stock Plan, which was
Plans for the 2005-2006 period, and the AIG Partners Plan

approved by the shareholders at the 2004 Annual Meeting of
will replace the AIG DCPPP for future years, although no

Shareholders.

22



American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

vides that previously issued financial statements need not be10. Stock Compensation Plans (continued)
restated. Awards granted or modified after January 1, 2006

Effective January 1, 2003, AIG adopted FAS 123 utiliz-
and outstanding awards not yet vested as of January 1, 2006

ing the prospective method to account for awards granted
will be accounted for under FAS 123R.

after January 1, 2003. Prior to adoption of FAS 123, AIG
followed the provisions of Accounting Principles Board FAS 123R requires AIG to estimate forfeitures in calcu-
Opinion No. 25. See Note 8 herein. Under the recognition lating the expense relating to stock-based compensation,
provisions of FAS 123, costs with respect to stock compensa- rather than recognizing these forfeitures and corresponding
tion were measured using the fair value of the shares sub- reductions in expense as they occur. The pre-tax cumulative
scribed or granted at the date of grant recognized ratably over effect of adoption, recognized as a reduction in stock-based
the vesting period. Such fair value was derived through an compensation expense of $46 million ($34 million after-tax),
option pricing model or the fair value of AIG’s common was recorded as the cumulative effect of an accounting
stock, as applicable. change, net of tax in the consolidated statement of income

during the first three months of 2006.
Effective January 1, 2006, AIG adopted FAS 123R utiliz-

ing the modified prospective application method which pro-

The effect of the adoption of FAS 123R on the consolidated statements of income and cash flows was as follows:

Including Effect of
Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 Pre-adoption of Effect of Adoption of Adoption of
(in millions, except per share data) FAS 123R FAS 123R FAS 123R

Income before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect
of an accounting change $ 4,801 $ (8) $ 4,793

Provision for income taxes $ 1,438 $ (3) $ 1,435

Income before minority interest and cumulative effect of an
accounting change $ 3,363 $ (5) 3,358

Cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax $ – $ 34 $ 34

Net income $ 3,166 $ 29 $ 3,195

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3,068 $ (2) $ 3,066

Net cash provided by financing activities $15,670 $ 2 $15,672

Basic earnings per share $ 1.22 $ – $ 1.22

Diluted earnings per share $ 1.22 $ – $ 1.22

The following table presents share-based compensation expenses, including the cumulative effect of adoption of
FAS 123R, included in AIG’s consolidated statement of income:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006
(in millions)

Share-based compensation expense before tax $154
Income tax benefit $ 12
After-tax compensation expense $142

Included in share-based compensation expense of lion pre-tax adjustment for the cumulative effect of the adop-
$154 million was approximately $54 million related to the tion of FAS 123R. See Note 4 herein for a discussion of the
Starr tender offer and various adjustments totalling $61 mil- Starr tender offer and Note 8 herein for discussion of pro-
lion, primarily relating to stock-split adjustments and other spective change to the accounting for retiree eligibility provi-
miscellaneous items for the SICO plans, offset by a $46 mil- sions and forfeiture treatment.
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American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

If AIG had adopted the FAS 123 provisions for recogniz- The 1999 Plan was approved by the shareholders at the
ing compensation expense commencing at the date of grant of 2000 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, with certain amend-
the awards, the effect would not have been material to net ments approved at the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
income or basic or diluted earnings per share for the three The 1999 Plan superseded the 1991 employee stock option
months ended March 31, 2005. plan (the 1991 Plan), although outstanding options granted

under the 1991 Plan continue in force until exercise or expi-
1999 Stock  Option  Plan ration. The maximum number of shares that may be granted

to any employee in any one year under the 1999 Plan isThe 1999 Plan provides that options to purchase a maximum
900,000. Options granted under the 1999 Plan generally vestof 45,000,000 shares of common stock can be granted to
over four years (25  percent vesting per year) and expirecertain key employees and members of the Board of Directors
10 years from the date of grant.at prices not less than fair market value at the date of grant.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10. Stock Compensation Plans (continued)

At March 31, 2006, there were 20,431,101 shares re- Black-Scholes model was used. A more detailed description of
served for future grants under the 1999 Plan and 28,935,898 the valuation methodology is provided below.
shares reserved for issuance under the 1999 and 1991 Plans.

In 2004, AIG developed a binomial lattice model to cal-
culate the fair value of stock option grants. In prior years, a

The following weighted average assumptions were used for stock options granted in the first three months of 2006:

Expected annual dividend yield(1) 0.71%
Expected volatility(2) 27.3%
Risk-free interest rate(3) 4.17%
Expected term(4) 7 years

(1) The dividend yield is based on the dividend yield over the twelve month (4) The contractual term of the option is generally 10 years with an expected

period prior to the grant date. term of 7 years calculated based on an analysis of historical employee

(2) Expected volatility is the average of historical volatility (based on seven exercise behavior and employee turnover (post-vesting terminations). The

years of daily stock price changes) and the implied volatility of actively early exercise rate is a function of time elapsed since the grant. Fifteen

traded options on AIG shares. years of historical data was used to estimate the early exercise rate.

(3) The interest rate curves used in the valuation model were the US Treasury

STRIP rates with terms from 3 months to 10 years.

Additional information with respect to AIG’s stock option plans at March 31, 2006, and changes for the three months then
ended, were as follows:

Weighted Average
Options: Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 52,545,425 $54.84

Granted 41,000 $68.65

Exercised (538,784) $40.80

Forfeited or expired (374,181) $69.57

Outstanding at end of period 51,673,460 $54.89

Options exercisable at end of period 40,389,118 $52.59

Weighted average fair value per share of options granted $22.38

25



American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10. Stock Compensation Plans (continued)

Information about stock options outstanding at March 31, 2006, is summarized as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted

Remaining Average Aggregate Intrinsic Number Remaining Average Aggregate
Range of Number Contractual Exercise Values Exercisable Contractual Exercise Intrinsic Values

Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price (in millions) (vested) Life Price (in millions)

$11.28-
$27.14 6,755,947 1.06 $21.32 $302 6,755,947 1.06 $21.32 $302

$30.44-
$41.51 5,402,644 2.29 $36.87 158 5,402,644 2.29 $36.87 158

$43.31-
$53.40 7,056,736 4.61 $48.56 124 6,234,130 4.31 $48.77 108

$54.11-
$59.99 8,440,050 4.86 $57.84 70 6,324,940 3.32 $57.34 55

$60.13-
$63.95 9,241,271 6.67 $62.33 35 6,099,845 6.27 $61.92 26

$64.01-
$69.63 8,302,783 7.56 $65.45 6 3,837,847 5.61 $65.66 2

$70.35-
$98.00 6,474,029 5.16 $83.88 – 5,733,765 5.07 $84.48 –

Total 51,673,460 4.86 $54.89 $695 40,389,118 3.87 $52.59 $651

Vested or expected-to-vest options as of March 31, 2006 on September 18, 2002 (the 2002 Plan). The 2002 Plan pro-
were 46,168,298 shares, of which 40,389,118 were vested, vides that equity-based or equity-related awards with respect
with a weighted average exercise price of $53.70, a weighted to shares of common stock can be issued to employees in any
average contractual life of 4.32 years and an aggregate intrin- year up to a maximum of that number of shares equal to
sic value of $678 million, of which $651 million is attributa- (a) 1,000,000 shares plus (b) the number of shares available
ble to the vested options. but not issued in the prior calendar year. The maximum

award that a grantee may receive under the 2002 Plan per
As of March 31, 2006, total unrecognized compensation

year is rights with respect to 250,000 shares. For the three
cost (net of expected forfeitures) totalled $204 million and

months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively,
$4 million related to nonvested share-based compensation

66,715 and 13,940 RSUs were granted by AIG. There were
awards granted under the 1999 Plan and the 1996 Plan, re-

14,665,260 shares reserved for issuance in connection with
spectively, with a blended weighted-average period of 1.40

future awards as of March 31, 2006. Substantially all RSUs
years and 0.5 years, respectively. The costs of awards out-

granted to date under the 2002 Plan vest on the fourth anni-
standing under these plans at March 31, 2006 is expected to

versary of the date of grant.
be recognized over approximately three years and one year
for the 1999 Plan and the 1996 Plan, respectively.

Director  Stock Awards
The intrinsic value of options exercised during the three

The methodology used for valuing employee stock options is
months ending March 31, 2006 was approximately $15 mil-

also used to value director stock options. Director stock op-
lion. The fair value of options vesting during the period was

tions vest one year after the grant date, but are otherwise the
approximately $26 million. AIG received $27 million and

same as employee stock options. Options with respect to
$19 million in cash from the exercise of stock options during

5,000 shares and no shares were granted during the first three
the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respec-

months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.
tively. AIG did not cash-settle any share-based payment

AIG also granted 3,750 shares and 1,250 shares, withawards during the three months ended March 31, 2006 and
delivery deferred, to directors during the first three months of2005. The tax benefits realized as a result of stock option
2006 and 2005, respectively, under the Director Stock Plan.exercises were $4 million and $6 million for the first three
At March 31, 2006, there were 81,250 shares reserved formonths of 2006 and 2005, respectively.
future grants under the Director Stock Plan.

2002  Stock  Incentive  Plan
Employee  Stock  Purchase  Plan

AIG’s 2002 Plan was adopted at the 2002 shareholders meet-
AIG’s 1996 Plan provides that eligible employees (those em-ing and amended and restated by the AIG Board of Directors
ployed at least one year) may receive privileges to purchase
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

average fair value per share of $61.92. As of March 31, 2006,10. Stock Compensation Plans (continued)
there were 12,307,967 non-vested AIG shares under the

up to an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of AIG common SICO Plans with a weighted-average fair value per share of
stock, at a price equal to 85 percent of the fair market value $61.92.
on the date of the grant of the purchase privilege. Purchase

A significant portion of the awards under the SICO Plansprivileges are granted quarterly and are limited to the number
vest upon retirement if the participant reaches age 65. Theof whole shares that can be purchased on an annual basis by
portion of the awards for which early payout is available vestan amount equal to the lesser of 10 percent of an employee’s
on the applicable payout date.annual salary or $10,000.

AIG  DCPPPSICO Plans

Effective September 21, 2005, AIG adopted the AIG DCPPP,The SICO Plans provide that shares of AIG common stock
which provides equity-based compensation to key AIG em-currently held by SICO are set aside for the benefit of the
ployees, including senior executive officers. The AIG DCPPPparticipant and distributed upon retirement. The SICO Board
was modeled on the SICO Plans.of Directors currently may permit an early payout of units

under certain circumstances. Prior to payout, the participant The AIG DCPPP will contingently allocate a fixed num-
is not entitled to vote, dispose of or receive dividends with ber of shares to each participant if AIG’s cumulative adjusted
respect to such shares, and shares are subject to forfeiture earnings per share for 2005 and 2006 exceed that for 2003
under certain conditions, including but not limited to the and 2004. The performance period is September 21, 2005 to
participant’s termination of employment with AIG prior to December 31, 2006. At the end of the performance period,
normal retirement age. common shares are contingently allocated. The service period

and related vesting consists of three pre-retirement tranchesHistorically, SICO’s Board of Directors could elect to
and a final retirement tranche at age 65.pay a participant cash in lieu of shares of AIG common stock.

On December 9, 2005, SICO notified participants that essen- At March 31, 2006, there were units representing
tially all subsequent distributions would be made only in 4,898,880 shares granted to participants.
shares, and not cash. As of that date, AIG modified its ac-
counting for the SICO Plans from variable to fixed measure- AIG  Partners  Plan
ment accounting. Variable measurement accounting will still

The AIG Partners Plan was approved on March 16, 2006 bybe used for those few awards for which cash elections had
AIG’s Compensation Committee. No awards have been madebeen made prior to March 2005. The SICO Plans are also
under the Plan as of March 31, 2006.described in Note 4 herein.

Although none of the costs of the various benefits pro- VALUATION
vided under the SICO Plans has been paid by AIG, AIG has

The fair value of each award granted under therecorded a charge to reported earnings for the deferred com-
2002 Plan, the SICO Plans, the AIG DCPPP, and the AIGpensation amounts paid to AIG employees by SICO, with an
Partners Plan is based on the closing price of AIG stock on theoffsetting amount credited to additional paid-in capital re-
date of grant.flecting amounts deemed contributed by SICO.

As of December 9, 2005, there were 12,650,292 non-
vested AIG shares under the SICO Plans with a weighted-

A summary of shares relating to outstanding awards not yet vested under the foregoing plans as of March 31, 2006, and
changes during the three months ended March 31, 2006 is presented below:

Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant-Date Fair Value

SICO AIG SICO AIG
2002 Plan Plan DCPPP 2002 Plan Plan DCPPP

Not yet vested at January 1, 2006 4,322,265 12,650,292 4,898,880 $63.63 $61.92 $52.55
Granted 66,715 – – $69.13 – –
Vested (3,620) (132,511) – $65.13 $61.92 –
Forfeited (56,340) (209,814) (165,450) $60.66 $61.92 $59.40

Not yet vested at March 31, 2006 4,329,020 12,307,967 4,733,430 $63.75 $61.92 $52.31
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

DCPPP is expected to be recognized over approximately four10. Stock Compensation Plans (continued)
years, 12 years and 23 years, respectively.

At March 31, 2006, the total unrecognized compensa-
The AIG Board of Directors has construed the AIG stocktion cost (net of expected forfeitures) related to nonvested

option plans to allow, at the request of an optionee, theshare-based compensation awards granted under the 2002
deferral of delivery of AIG shares otherwise deliverable uponPlan, the SICO Plans, and the AIG DCPPP and the blended
the exercise of an option to a date or dates specified by theweighted-average period over which that cost is expected to
optionee. During 2005, options with respect tobe recognized is as follows:
1,731,471 shares were exercised with delivery deferred. At

Unrecognized Blended
December 31, 2005, optionees had made valid elections toCompensation Weighted-

Cost Average defer delivery of 2,067,643 shares of AIG common stock
(in millions) Period

upon exercise of options expiring during 2006. In addition,
2002 Plan $196 1.83 years nonemployee directors of AIG had made valid elections to
SICO Plans $357 6.08 years

defer delivery of 21,093 shares of AIG common stock uponAIG DCPPP $248 11.62 years
exercise of options expiring during 2006.

The total cost for awards outstanding as of March 31,
2006 under the 2002 Plan, the SICO Plans and the AIG
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is designed to provide the reader
a narrative with respect to AIG’s operations, financial condition and liquidity and certain other significant matters.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Projections and Other Information About Future Events

This Quarterly Report and other publicly available documents may include, and AIG’s officers and representatives may from
time to time make, projections concerning financial information and statements concerning future economic performance and
events, plans and objectives relating to management, operations, products and services, and assumptions underlying these
projections and statements. These projections and statements are not historical facts but instead represent only AIG’s belief
regarding future events, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and outside AIG’s control. These projections
and statements may address, among other things, the status and potential future outcome of the current regulatory and civil
proceedings against AIG and their potential effect on AIG’s businesses, financial position, results of operations, cash flows and
liquidity, the effect of the credit rating downgrades on AIG’s businesses and competitive position, the unwinding and resolving
of various relationships between AIG and Starr and SICO, and AIG’s strategy for growth, product development, market
position, financial results and reserves. It is possible that AIG’s actual results and financial condition may differ, possibly
materially, from the anticipated results and financial condition indicated in these projections and statements. Factors that could
cause AIG’s actual results to differ, possibly materially, from those in the specific projections and statements are discussed
throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in ‘‘Risk
Factors’’ in Item 1A. of Part I of AIG’s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K and Item 1A. of Part II of this Quarterly Report.
AIG is not under any obligation (and expressly disclaims any such obligations) to update or alter any projections or other
statement, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future events
or otherwise.
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Throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Asian countries. Examples of new distribution channels used
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, AIG presents both domestically and overseas include banks, affinity
its operations in the way it believes will be most meaningful. groups, direct response and e-commerce.
Statutory loss ratios and combined ratios are presented in

AIG patiently builds relationships in markets around the
accordance with accounting principles prescribed by insur-

world where it sees long-term growth opportunities. For ex-
ance regulatory authorities because these are standard mea-

ample, the fact that AIG has the only wholly-owned foreign
sures of performance filed with insurance regulatory

life insurance operations in eight cities in China is the result
authorities and used for analysis in the insurance industry

of relationships developed over nearly 30 years. AIG’s more
and thus allow more meaningful comparisons with AIG’s

recent extensions of operations into India, Vietnam, Russia
insurance competitors. AIG has also incorporated into this

and other emerging markets reflect the same growth strategy.
discussion a number of cross-references to additional infor-

Moreover, AIG believes in investing in the economies and
mation included throughout this Form 10-Q and its 2005

infrastructures of these countries and growing with them.
Annual Report on Form 10-K to assist readers seeking related

When AIG companies enter a new jurisdiction, they typically
information on a particular subject.

offer both basic protection and savings products. As the econ-
omies evolve, AIG’s products evolve with them, to more so-Overview of Operations and Business
phisticated and investment-oriented models.Results

Growth for AIG may be generated both internally and
AIG identifies its reportable segments by product line, consis-

through acquisitions which both fulfill strategic goals and
tent with its management structure. AIG’s major product and

offer adequate return on capital. Recently AIG announced its
service groupings are General Insurance, Life Insurance &

acquisition of Travel Guard International, one of the nation’s
Retirement Services, Financial Services and Asset Manage-

leading providers of travel insurance programs and emer-
ment. AIG’s operations in 2006 are conducted by its subsidi-

gency travel assistance, and its plans to acquire Central Insur-
aries principally through these segments. Through these

ance Co., Ltd., a leading general insurance company in
segments, AIG provides insurance and investment products

Taiwan.
and services to both businesses and individuals in more than
130 countries and jurisdictions. This geographic, product The following table summarizes AIG’s revenues, income
and service diversification is one of AIG’s major strengths and before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative ef-
sets it apart from its competitors. fect of an accounting change and net income for the three

months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:
AIG’s subsidiaries serve commercial, institutional and

(in millions) 2006 2005individual customers through an extensive property-casualty
Total revenues $27,259 $27,202and life insurance and retirement services network. In the
Income before income taxes, minorityUnited States, AIG companies are the largest underwriters of

interest and cumulative effect of ancommercial and industrial insurance and one of the largest
accounting change 4,793 5,649life insurance and retirement services operations as well.

Net income $ 3,195 $ 3,799AIG’s Financial Services businesses include commercial air-
craft and equipment leasing, capital markets operations and

Consolidated  Resultsconsumer finance, both in the United States and abroad. AIG
also provides asset management services and offers guaran- The small increase in revenues in the first three months of
teed investment contracts (GICs) to institutions and 2006 was primarily attributable to the growth in net premi-
individuals. ums earned from global General Insurance operations as well

as growth in both General Insurance and Life Insurance &AIG’s operating performance reflects implementation of
Retirement Services net investment income and Life Insur-various long-term strategies and defined goals in its various
ance & Retirement Services GAAP premiums, offset, in part,operating segments. A primary goal of AIG in managing its
by decreases in revenue in the Financial Services and AssetGeneral Insurance operations is to achieve an underwriting
Management segments.profit. To achieve this goal, AIG must be disciplined in its risk

selection and premiums must be adequate and terms and AIG’s income before income taxes, minority interest and
conditions appropriate to cover the risk accepted. AIG also cumulative effect of an accounting change decreased 15 per-
believes in strict control of expenses. cent in the first three months of 2006 when compared to the

same period of 2005. Increases in General Insurance and LifeA central focus of AIG operations in recent years is the
Insurance & Retirement Services operating income were off-development and expansion of new distribution channels. In
set by an operating loss in Financial Services driven by the2005 and the first three months of 2006, AIG expanded its
effects of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedgedistribution channels, which now include banks, credit card
accounting treatment under FAS 133 and a decrease in Assetcompanies and television-media home shopping in many
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Management operating income. Results for the first three increase in General Insurance operating income in the first
months of 2006 were negatively affected by the compensa- three months of 2006 compared to the same period of 2005
tion expense relating to the Starr tender offer ($54 million was primarily attributable to improvement in underwriting
before tax and after tax) and an additional allowance for results with respect to the Domestic Brokerage Group (DBG).
losses in AIG Credit Card Company (Taiwan) ($88 million General Insurance operating income included adverse devel-
before tax and $57 million after tax). Results were also nega- opment in the first three months of 2006 and 2005 from
tively affected by certain adjustments, primarily relating to catastrophes in prior years.
deferred advertising costs in General Insurance under

Life  Insurance & Retirement  Services
SOP 93-7 ($59 million before tax and $38 million after tax)

AIG’s Life Insurance & Retirement Services operations pro-and various adjustments relating to the SICO Plans ($61 mil-
vide insurance, financial and investment products throughoutlion before tax and after tax).
the world. Foreign operations provided approximately

The following table summarizes the operations of each prin-
65 percent and 55 percent of AIG’s Life Insurance & Retire-

cipal segment for the three months ended March 31, 2006
ment Services operating income for the first three months of

and 2005. (See also Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Finan-
2006 and 2005, respectively.

cial Statements).
Life Insurance & Retirement Services operating income(in millions) 2006 2005

increased by 17 percent in the first three months of 2006Revenues(a):
when compared to the same period of 2005 driven by aGeneral Insurance(b) $11,656 $11,219
39 percent increase in Foreign Life Insurance & RetirementLife Insurance & Retirement Services(c) 12,639 11,775

Financial Services(d) 1,615 2,436 Services operating income, offset, in part, by an approxi-
Asset Management(e) 1,239 1,377 mately 10 percent decrease in the Domestic Life Insurance &
Other 110 395 Retirement Services operating income, primarily due to lower

Consolidated $27,259 $27,202 partnership income. Realized capital gains included in reve-
Operating Income (loss)(a)(f):

nues and operating income were $158 million in the first
General Insurance $ 2,331 $ 1,642

three months of 2006 compared to realized capital losses ofLife Insurance & Retirement Services(g) 2,555 2,181
$82 million in the same period of 2005. The increase in real-Financial Services(g) (159) 1,045
ized capital gains in the first three months of 2006 comparedAsset Management 461 590

Other(h) (395) 191 to the same period of 2005 was due to the effect of hedging
Consolidated $ 4,793 $ 5,649 activities that do not qualify for hedge accounting under
(a) Includes the effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge FAS 133 and the foreign exchange gains and losses related to

accounting treatment under FAS 133, including the related foreign ex- the application of FAS 52, offset by other-than-temporary
change gains and losses. For the first three months of 2006 and 2005, the declines in the value of investments.
effect was $0 and $15 million, respectively, in operating income for Air-

craft Finance and $(678) million and $468 million in revenues and operat- Financial  Services
ing income, respectively, for Capital Markets. These amounts result

AIG’s Financial Services subsidiaries engage in diversified ac-primarily from interest rate and foreign currency derivatives hedging avail-
tivities including aircraft and equipment leasing, capital mar-able for sale securities and borrowings.

(b) Represents the sum of General Insurance net premiums earned, net invest- ket transactions, consumer finance and insurance premium
ment income and realized capital gains (losses). financing.

(c) Represents the sum of Life Insurance & Retirement Services GAAP  pre-
Financial Services operating income decreased in the firstmiums, net investment income and realized capital gains (losses).

three months of 2006 compared to the same period of 2005,(d) Represents interest, lease and finance charges.

(e) Represents management and advisory fees and net investment income with primarily due to the fluctuation in earnings resulting from the
respect to GICs. accounting effect of FAS 133. Fluctuations in revenues and

(f) Represents income before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative operating income from quarter to quarter are not unusual
effect of an accounting change. because of the transaction-oriented nature of Capital Mar-

(g) Results of operations of AIG Credit Card Company (Taiwan) are shared
kets operations and the effect of not qualifying for hedgeequally by the Life Insurance & Retirement Services segment and the
accounting treatment under FAS 133 for hedges on securitiesFinancial Services segment. In 2006, additional allowances of $44 million
available for sale and borrowings. Consumer Finance reve-were recorded by each segment for losses in these credit card operations.

(h) Represents unallocated corporate expenses, relating primarily to interest nues increased but operating income decreased, primarily as a
expense and certain compensation related expenses, and other realized result of increasing the allowance for losses in connection
capital gains (losses) of $(57) million and $155 million in the first three with the industry-wide credit deterioration in the Taiwan
months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. credit card market.

General  Insurance

AIG’s General Insurance operations provide property and
casualty products and services throughout the world. The
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Chinese insurance regulators have indicated satisfaction withAsset  Management
the implementation of corrective measures to stop AIG’s

AIG’s Asset Management operations include institutional
Hong Kong based agents from selling life insurance to main-

and retail asset management and broker dealer services and
land Chinese. In April 2006, applications for provincial ex-

spread-based investment business from the sale of GICs.
pansion of AIG’s life insurance operations in Guangdong and

These products and services are offered to individuals and
Jiangsu and of general insurance operations in Guangdong

institutions, both domestically and overseas.
were approved, and AIG resubmitted its application to serve

Asset Management operating income decreased 22 per- the group insurance market, a business where AIG expects
cent in the first three months of 2006 when compared to the future growth.
same period of 2005 as a result of continued run off in AIG’s

In Japan, AIG Star Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (AIG Star
GIC portfolio combined with spread compression. In addi-

Life) and AIG Edison Life Insurance Company (AIG Edison
tion, there was a decline in realized gains on sales of real

Life) continue to grow new business by expanding distribu-
estate investments and performance fees earned on various

tion and new product offerings. AIG has developed a leader-
private equity investments.

ship position in the distribution of annuities through banks in
Capital  Resources both Japan and Korea. Also, American Life Insurance Com-

pany (ALICO) has launched new life products to the Japan
At March 31, 2006, AIG had total consolidated shareholders’

bank market after further deregulation of banks in December
equity of $88.39 billion and total consolidated borrowings of

2005. AIG is a leader in direct marketing through sponsors
$118.8 billion. At that date, $104.1 billion of such borrow-

and in the broad market in Japan and Korea. AIG also is
ings were either not guaranteed by AIG or were AIGFP’s

investing in expanding distribution channels with emphasis
matched borrowings under obligations of guaranteed invest-

in India, Korea and Vietnam.
ment agreements (GIAs), liabilities connected to trust pre-
ferred stock, or matched notes and bonds payable. Domestically, AIG anticipates its life insurance and re-

tirement services businesses to continue growing in 2006
During the period from January 1, 2006 through

through distribution channel expansion and new and en-
March 31, 2006, AIG did not purchase any shares of its

hanced products. The home service operation, which is ex-
common stock under its existing common stock repurchase

pected to be a slow growth business, has not met business
authorization.

objectives, although its cash flow has been strong. Domestic
Liquidity group life/health results continue to be weak reflecting the

ongoing restructuring activities including the considerationAt March 31, 2006, AIG’s consolidated invested assets in-
of exiting certain product lines. AIG Retirement Services indi-cluded $18.59 billion in cash and short-term investments.
vidual fixed annuities business will continue to be challengedConsolidated net cash provided from operating activities in
due to the interest rate environment and increased competi-the first three months of 2006 amounted to $3.07 billion.
tion from bank products.AIG believes that its liquid assets, cash provided by opera-

tions and access to short term funding through commercial In the airline industry, changes in market conditions are
paper and bank credit facilities will enable it to meet any not immediately apparent in operating results. Lease rates
anticipated cash requirements. have firmed as a result of strong demand spurred by the

recovering global commercial aviation market, especially inOutlook
Asia. Sales have begun to increase, and AIG expects an in-

Despite industry price erosion in some classes of general in- creasing level of interest from a variety of purchasers. How-
surance, AIG expects to continue to identify profitable oppor- ever, higher interest rates are expected to continue to
tunities and build attractive new General Insurance compress lease margins. AIG’s Consumer Finance operations
businesses as a result of AIG’s broad product line and exten- overseas have been negatively affected in 2006 by industry-
sive distribution networks. In December 2005, American In- wide credit deterioration in the Taiwan credit card market.
ternational Underwriters Overseas, Ltd. (AIUO) received a

GICs, which are sold domestically and abroad to bothlicense from the government of Vietnam to operate a wholly
institutions and individuals, are written on an opportunisticowned general insurance company in Vietnam. This license,
basis when market conditions are favorable. In Septemberthe first general insurance license granted by Vietnam to a
2005, AIG launched a $10 billion medium term note pro-U.S.-based insurance organization, permits AIG to operate a
gram in the Euromarkets under which AIG debt securities aregeneral insurance company throughout Vietnam.
issued primarily for a matched investment program. In April

In China, AIG has wholly-owned life insurance opera- 2006, AIG issued its first debt securities under the matched
tions in eight cities. These operations should benefit from investment program, selling Euro 500 million principal
China’s rapid rate of economic growth and growing middle amount of notes. AIG also expects to launch a matched in-
class, a segment that is a prime market for life insurance. vestment program in the domestic market which, along with
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Estimated  Gross  Profits  (Life  Insurance &  Retirementthe Euro program, will become AIG’s principal spread-based
Services):investment activity. However, the timing of the launch of the
) Estimated gross profits to be realized over the estimateddomestic program remains uncertain. Because AIG’s credit

duration of the contracts (investment-oriented products)spreads in the capital markets have widened following the
affect the carrying value of deferred policy acquisitionratings declines described in Item 1A. Risk Factors, there may
costs under FAS 97. Estimated gross profits include in-be a reduction in the earnings on new business in AIG’s
vestment income and gains and losses on investments lessspread based funding businesses.
required interest, actual mortality and other expenses.

AIG has many promising growth initiatives underway
Deferred  Policy  Acquisition  Costs  (Life  Insurance  &around the world. Cooperative agreements such as those with
Retirement  Services):PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited and various
) Recoverability based on current and future expected prof-banks in the U.S., Japan and Korea are expected to expand

itability, which is affected by interest rates, foreign ex-distribution networks for AIG’s products and provide models
change rates, mortality experience, and policy persistency.for future growth.

Deferred  Policy  Acquisition  Costs  (General  Insurance):Critical  Accounting Estimates
) Recoverability and eligibility based upon the current

AIG considers its most critical accounting estimates those
terms and profitability of the underlying insurance

with respect to reserves for losses and loss expenses, future
contracts.

policy benefits for life and accident and health contracts, de-
ferred policy acquisition costs, estimated gross profits for in-

Fair  Value  Determinations  of  Certain  Assets  and
vestment-oriented products, fair value determinations for

Liabilities  (Financial  Services – Capital  Markets):
certain Capital Markets assets and liabilities, other-than-tem-

) Valuation models: utilizing factors, such as market li-
porary declines in the value of investments and flight equip- quidity and current interest, foreign exchange and vola-
ment recoverability. These accounting estimates require the tility rates.
use of assumptions about matters, some of which are highly

) AIG attempts to secure reliable and independent current
uncertain at the time of estimation. To the extent actual expe- market price data, such as published exchange rates
rience differs from the assumptions used, AIG’s results of from external subscription services such as Bloomberg or
operations would be directly affected. Reuters or third-party broker quotes for use in its model.

When such prices are not available, AIG uses an internalThroughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
methodology, which includes interpolation and extrapo-Financial Condition and Results of Operations, AIG’s critical
lation from verifiable prices from trades occurring onaccounting estimates are discussed in detail. The major catego-
dates nearest to the dates of the transactions.ries for which assumptions are developed and used to establish

each critical accounting estimate are highlighted below.
Other-Than-Temporary  Declines  in  the  Value  ofReserves for Losses and Loss Expenses (General Insurance):
Investments:) Loss trend factors: used to establish expected loss ra-
A security is considered a candidate for other-than-temporarytios for subsequent accident years based on premium
impairment based upon the following criteria:rate adequacy and the projected loss ratio with respect to
) Trading at a significant (25 percent or more) discount toprior accident years.

par or amortized cost (if lower) for an extended period) Expected loss ratios for the latest accident year: for
of time (nine months or longer).example, accident year 2005 for the year end 2005 loss

) The occurrence of a discrete credit event resulting in thereserve analysis. For low frequency, high severity classes
debtor defaulting or seeking bankruptcy or insolvencysuch as excess casualty and directors and officers liability
protection or voluntary reorganization.(D&O), expected loss ratios generally are utilized for at

) The probability of non-realization of a full recovery onleast the three most recent accident years.
its investment, irrespective of the occurrence of one of) Loss development factors: used to project the reported
the foregoing events.losses for each accident year to an ultimate amount.

At each balance sheet date, AIG evaluates its securitiesFuture  Policy  Benefits  for  Life  and  Accident  and  Health
holdings in an unrealized loss position. Where AIG does notContracts  (Life  Insurance &  Retirement  Services):
intend to hold such securities until they have fully recovered) Interest rates: which vary by geographical region, year
their carrying value, based on the circumstances present atof issuance and products.
the date of evaluation, AIG records the unrealized loss in) Mortality, morbidity and surrender rates: based upon
income. If events or circumstances change, such as unex-actual experience by geographical region modified to al-
pected changes in creditworthiness of the obligor, generallow for variation in policy form.
interest rate environment, tax circumstances, liquidity events,
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and statutory capital management considerations among providing specialty products to clients with environmental ex-
others, AIG revisits its intent to determine if a loss should be posures. Lexington writes surplus lines, those risks for which
recorded in income. Further, if a loss is recognized from a sale conventional insurance companies do not readily provide in-
subsequent to a balance sheet date pursuant to these changes surance coverage, either because of complexity or because the
in circumstances, the loss is recognized in the period in which coverage does not lend itself to conventional contracts.
the intent to hold the securities to recovery no longer exists. Certain of the products of the DBG companies include

funding components or have been structured in a manner
Flight  Equipment — Recoverability  (Financial  Services): such that little or no insurance risk is actually transferred.

Funds received in connection with these products are re-) Expected undiscounted future net cash flows: based
corded as deposits and included in other liabilities, ratherupon current lease rates, projected future lease rates and
than premiums and incurred losses.estimated terminal values of each aircraft based on third

party information. The AIG Worldsource Division introduces and coordi-
nates AIG’s products and services to U.S.-based multinational

Operating Review clients and foreign corporations doing business in the U.S.

General  Insurance  Operations Transatlantic subsidiaries offer reinsurance capacity on
both a treaty and facultative basis both in the U.S. and abroad.AIG’s General Insurance subsidiaries are multiple line com-
Transatlantic structures programs for a full range of propertypanies writing substantially all lines of property and casualty
and casualty products with an emphasis on specialty risk.insurance both domestically and abroad.

AIG’s Personal Lines operations provide automobile in-
Domestic General Insurance operations are comprised of surance through AIG Direct, the mass marketing operation of

DBG, which includes the operations of The Hartford Steam AIG, Agency Auto Division and 21st Century, as well as a
Boiler Inspection and Insurance Company (HSB); Transatlan- broad range of coverages for high net-worth individuals
tic Holdings, Inc. (Transatlantic); Personal Lines, including through the AIG Private Client Group.
21st Century Insurance Group (21st Century); and United

The main business of the UGC subsidiaries is the issu-Guaranty Corporation (UGC).
ance of residential mortgage guaranty insurance on conven-

AIG’s primary domestic division is DBG. DBG’s business tional first lien mortgages for the purchase or refinance of one
in the United States and Canada is conducted through its to four family residences. UGC subsidiaries also write second
General Insurance subsidiaries including American Home As- lien and private student loan guaranty insurance.
surance Company (American Home), National Union Fire AIG’s Foreign General Insurance group accepts risks pri-
Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pa. (National Union), marily underwritten through American International Under-
Lexington Insurance Company (Lexington) and certain other writers (AIU), a marketing unit consisting of wholly owned
General Insurance company subsidiaries of AIG. agencies and insurance companies. The Foreign General In-

surance group also includes business written by AIG’s for-DBG writes substantially all classes of business insur-
eign-based insurance subsidiaries. The Foreign General groupance, accepting such business mainly from insurance brokers.
uses various marketing methods and multiple distributionThis provides DBG the opportunity to select specialized mar-
channels to write both commercial and consumer lines insur-kets and retain underwriting control. Any licensed broker is
ance with certain refinements for local laws, customs andable to submit business to DBG without the traditional agent-
needs. AIU operates in Asia, the Pacific Rim, the United King-company contractual relationship, but such broker usually
dom, Europe, Africa, the Middle East and Latin America.has no authority to commit DBG to accept a risk.

As previously noted, AIG believes it should present andIn addition to writing substantially all classes of business
discuss its financial information in a manner most meaningfulinsurance, including large commercial or industrial property
to its investors. Accordingly, in its General Insurance busi-insurance, excess liability, inland marine, environmental,
ness, AIG uses certain regulatory measures, where AIG hasworkers compensation and excess and umbrella coverages,
determined these measurements to be useful and meaningful.DBG offers many specialized forms of insurance such as avia-

A critical discipline of a successful general insurance bus-tion, accident and health, equipment breakdown, directors and
iness is the objective to produce profit from underwritingofficers liability (D&O), difference-in-conditions, kidnap-ran-
activities exclusive of investment-related income. When un-som, export credit and political risk, and various types of pro-
derwriting is not profitable, premiums are inadequate to payfessional errors and omissions coverages. The AIG Risk
for insured losses and underwriting related expenses. In theseManagement operation provides insurance and risk manage-
situations, the addition of general insurance related invest-ment programs for large corporate customers. The AIG Risk
ment income and realized capital gains may, however, enableFinance operation is a leading provider of customized struc-
a general insurance business to produce operating income.tured insurance products. Also included in DBG are the opera-
For these reasons, AIG views underwriting results to be criti-tions of AIG Environmental, which focuses specifically on
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cal in the overall evaluation of performance. (See also the General Insurance operating income is comprised of statu-
discussion under ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.) tory underwriting results, changes in DAC, net investment

income and realized capital gains and losses. Operating
Statutory underwriting profit is derived by reducing net

income, as well as net premiums written, net premiums
premiums earned by net losses and loss expenses incurred and

earned, net investment income and realized capital gains
net expenses incurred. Statutory accounting generally re-

(losses) and statutory ratios for the three months ended
quires immediate expense recognition and ignores the match-

March 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:
ing of revenues and expenses as required by GAAP. That is,

(in millions, except ratios) 2006 2005for statutory purposes, expenses are recognized immediately,
not over the same period that the revenues are earned. Thus, Net premiums written:
statutory expenses exclude changes in deferred acquisition Domestic General

DBG $ 5,900 $ 5,720costs (DAC).
Transatlantic 914 885

GAAP provides for the recognition of expenses at the Personal Lines 1,198 1,186
same time revenues are earned, the accounting principle of Mortgage Guaranty 197 165

Foreign General 3,046 2,834matching. Therefore, acquisition expenses are deferred and
amortized over the period the related net premiums written Total $11,255 $10,790

Net premiums earned:are earned. DAC is reviewed for recoverability, and such
Domestic Generalreview requires management judgment. (See also ‘‘Critical

DBG $ 5,763 $ 5,573Accounting Estimates’’ herein.)
Transatlantic 908 888

AIG, along with most General Insurance companies, Personal Lines 1,159 1,120
Mortgage Guaranty 166 140uses the loss ratio, the expense ratio and the combined ratio

Foreign General(a) 2,474 2,419as measures of underwriting performance. The loss ratio is
Total $10,470 $10,140the sum of losses and loss expenses incurred divided by net
Net investment income:premiums earned. The expense ratio is statutory underwrit-

Domestic Generaling expenses divided by net premiums written. The combined
DBG $ 745 $ 659

ratio is the sum of the loss ratio and the expense ratio. These
Transatlantic 102 85

ratios are relative measurements that describe, for every $100 Personal Lines 57 52
of net premiums earned or written, the cost of losses and Mortgage Guaranty 32 28
statutory expenses, respectively. The combined ratio presents Intercompany adjustments and

eliminations – net – 1the total cost per $100 of premium production. A combined
Foreign General 182 190ratio below 100 demonstrates underwriting profit; a com-

Total $ 1,118 $ 1,015bined ratio above 100 demonstrates underwriting loss.
Realized capital gains (losses) 68 64

Net premiums written are initially deferred and earned Operating Income(b):
based upon the terms of the underlying policies. The net Domestic General
unearned premium reserve constitutes deferred revenues DBG $ 1,357 $ 713
which are generally earned ratably over the policy period. Transatlantic 141 114

Personal Lines 101 109Thus, the net unearned premium reserve is not fully recog-
Mortgage Guaranty 109 104nized in income as net premiums earned until the end of the

Foreign General 621 596policy period.
Reclassifications and Eliminations 2 6

The underwriting environment varies from country to Total $ 2,331 $ 1,642
country, as does the degree of litigation activity. Regulation, Domestic General:
product type and competition have a direct effect on pricing Loss Ratio 70.94 77.23

Expense Ratio 20.18 19.76and consequently on profitability as reflected in underwriting
profit and statutory general insurance ratios. Combined Ratio 91.12 96.99

Foreign General:
Loss Ratio 52.74 54.43
Expense Ratio(c)(d) 28.85 27.25

Combined ratio(a) 81.59 81.68
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ers that experienced significant losses and reductions of sur-(in millions, except ratios) 2006 2005
plus as a result of the hurricanes.

Consolidated:
Loss Ratio(b) 66.64 71.79 The improvement in DBG’s underwriting results for the
Expense Ratio 22.53 21.73 first three months of 2006 compared to the same period of

Combined Ratio 89.17 93.52 2005 was due to a reduction in the loss ratio of 8.1 points,
(a) Income statement accounts expressed in non-functional currencies are primarily due to lower accident year loss ratios for 2006

translated into U.S. dollars using average exchange rates. compared to the loss ratios recorded in the first three months
(b) Includes $103 million and $171 million of additional losses incurred and of 2005 for accident year 2005. The improvement in 2006

net reinstatement premium costs in the first three months of 2006 and
loss ratios is based on a comprehensive actuarial study con-

2005, respectively, related primarily to prior year catastrophes, resulting
ducted at the end of 2005 and updated as of March 31, 2006in increases of 0.97 points and 1.66 points, respectively, in the consoli-
as described below under ‘‘Quarterly Reserving Process’’. Indated General Insurance loss ratio.
addition, the first three months of 2006 includes $28 million(c) Includes the results of wholly owned AIU agencies.

(d) Includes amortization of advertising costs. for losses related to prior year hurricanes compared to the
first three months of 2005 which included $118 million for

General  Insurance  Results losses related to prior year hurricanes.

General Insurance operating income in the first three months The DBG expense ratio was approximately the same for
of 2006 showed significant improvement from the prior year the first three months of 2006 and 2005.
results. The increase in General Insurance operating income

Transatlantic’s net premiums written and net premiumsin the first three months of 2006 was primarily attributable to
earned for the first three months of 2006 increased comparedimprovement in DBG’s underwriting results and growth in
to the same period of 2005 due largely to increased domesticoverall General Insurance net investment income. Underwrit-
specialty casualty and property premiums offset, in part, bying results in the first three months of 2006 and 2005 in-
the adverse effect of changes in foreign currency exchangecluded $103 million and $171 million, respectively, of
rates on international premiums. Operating income in theadditional losses incurred and net reinstatement premium
first three months of 2006 increased due to improved under-costs resulting primarily from increased costs related to the
writing profit, resulting largely from reduced significant net2005 and 2004 catastrophes. The $103 million of losses and
catastrophe losses and lower net adverse development on lossnet reinstatement premium costs incurred in the first three
reserves, offset, in part, by higher commission costs, and in-months of 2006 includes $78 million attributable to 2005
creased net investment income.hurricanes and $25 million attributable to 2004 hurricanes.

The losses and net reinstatement premium costs attributable Personal Lines net premiums written for the first three
to the 2004 hurricanes are primarily related to multi-event months of 2006 increased slightly when compared to the
and multi-location claims that required extensive investiga- same period of 2005 as strong growth in the Private Client
tion to determine the full extent and value of the insured Group and Agency Auto divisions offset the runoff of the
damage. The $171 million of losses and net reinstatement involuntary auto business and a small decline in the AIG
premium costs incurred in the first three months of 2005 is Direct and 21st Century divisions. The reduction in the invol-
primarily attributable to 2004 hurricanes as well as $44 mil- untary business is a result of terminating an MGA relation-
lion from a January 2005 European storm. At March 31, ship. The Private Client Group and Agency Auto divisions
2006, the inception to date incurred losses and net reinstate- continue to grow as they expand their agency/broker rela-
ment premium costs for 2005 hurricanes were approximately tionships with multiple product offerings. The AIG Direct
$2.7 billion. At March 31, 2006, the inception to date in- and 21st Century decline is due largely to a reduction in
curred losses and net reinstatement premium costs for 2004 response rates. The loss ratio improved in 2006 due to
hurricanes were approximately $1.2 billion. favorable loss development trends in the AIG Direct and 21st

Century businesses. The expense ratio increased in 2006 overDBG’s net premiums written increased modestly in the
2005 driven by an investment in people and technology in thefirst three months of 2006 when compared to the same period
Agency Auto Division, higher compensation expenses in 21stof 2005, reflecting generally improving renewal retention, a
Century due to implementing FAS 123R, and acceleratedmodest change in the mix of business towards smaller ac-
amortization of direct response advertising costs in AIG Di-counts and a reduction in the amount of reinsurance pur-
rect resulting from a change in estimated future premiums.chased. DBG also continued to expand its relationships with

a larger number and broader range of brokers. Recently, Mortgage Guaranty’s net premiums written were up for
DBG has seen improvement in domestic property rates as the first three months of 2006 when compared to the same
well as increases in submission activity in the aftermath of the period of 2005. Strong growth was reported in all business
2005 hurricanes. DBG attributes the increase in submissions segments as domestic first lien, domestic second lien and in-
to its overall financial strength in comparison to many insur- ternational operations grew 9 percent, 22 percent and 84

percent, respectively. Underwriting results for the first three
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months of 2006 improved slightly from the same period of tion and obtaining reinsurance coverage, to reduce the effect
2005 as strong earned premium growth was partially offset of the magnitude of possible future losses. The occurrence of
by loss development in the domestic second lien business. one or more catastrophic events of unanticipated frequency

or severity, such as a terrorist attack, earthquake or hurri-
Foreign General Insurance had strong results in the first

cane, that causes insured losses, however, could have a mate-
three months of 2006 even after additional losses incurred

rial adverse effect on AIG’s results of operations, liquidity or
related to the 2005 catastrophes and a pre-tax adjustment of

financial condition.
$53 million to expenses for a write-off of deferred advertising
costs. Growth in net premiums written for this period was General Insurance net investment income grew in the
achieved in consumer lines due to new business as well as new first three months of 2006 when compared to the same period
distribution channels. Commercial lines had modest growth of 2005. AIG is benefiting from strong cash flow and higher
in net premiums written. Commercial lines in Europe exhib- interest rates. Additionally, net investment income was posi-
ited strong growth and had positive results for the first three tively affected by the compounding of previously earned and
months of 2006, partially offset by rate decreases in Australia reinvested net investment income. Foreign General Insurance
and the United Kingdom. The Ascot Lloyd’s syndicate re- net investment income declined in the first three months of
ported growth for this period due to rate increases on its 2006 when compared to the same period of 2005 due to
U.S. book of business along with contractual terms on renew- lower partnership income. Market valuations by partnerships
als that reflect better conditions and higher deductibles. In the in the private equity sector did not match the increases in
Far East, personal accident business exhibited strong growth. 2005, the results of which benefited from initial public offer-
Europe, Southeast Asia and Latin America also had strong ing activity of partnership investments.
growth in personal accident business. Personal lines opera-

Realized capital gains and losses resulted from the ongo-
tions in Latin America and Brazil continue to exhibit strong

ing investment management of the General Insurance portfo-
growth. For the first three months of 2006, 55 percent of

lios within the overall objectives of the General Insurance
Foreign General Insurance net premiums written was derived

operations. (See the discussion on ‘‘Valuation of Invested As-
from commercial insurance and the remainder from con-

sets’’ herein.)
sumer lines. The Foreign General Insurance loss ratio de-

The contribution of General Insurance operating incomecreased in the first three months of 2006 from the same
to AIG’s consolidated income before income taxes, minorityperiod of 2005 primarily due to the lower accident year loss
interest and cumulative effect of an accounting change wasratio for 2006 compared to the loss ratio recorded in the first
49 percent in the first three months of 2006 compared tothree months of 2005 for accident year 2005. The Foreign
29 percent in the same period of 2005.General Insurance expense ratio increased in the first three

months of 2006 from the same period in 2005 principally due
Reinsuranceto the $53 million write-off of advertising costs.

AIG is a major purchaser of reinsurance for its General Insur-AIG transacts business in most major foreign currencies.
ance operations. AIG insures risks globally, and its reinsur-The following table summarizes the effect of changes in
ance programs must be coordinated in order to provide AIGforeign currency exchange rates on the growth of General
the level of reinsurance protection that AIG desires. Reinsur-Insurance net premiums written for the first three months
ance is an important risk management tool to manage trans-of 2006:
action and insurance line risk retention at prudent levels set2006
by management. AIG also purchases reinsurance to mitigate

Growth in original currency 6.0%
its catastrophic exposure. AIG is cognizant of the need toForeign exchange effect (1.7)
exercise good judgment in the selection and approval of bothGrowth as reported in U.S. dollars 4.3%
domestic and foreign companies participating in its reinsur-

As previously noted, General Insurance results include ance programs because one or more catastrophe losses could
$103 million and $171 million of additional losses incurred negatively affect AIG’s reinsurers and result in an inability of
and net reinstatement premium costs in the first three months AIG to collect reinsurance recoverables. AIG’s reinsurance
of 2006 and 2005, respectively, related primarily to the 2005 department evaluates catastrophic events and assesses the
and 2004 catastrophes. The losses attributable to the 2004 probability of occurrence and magnitude of catastrophic
hurricanes are primarily related to multi-event and multi- events through the use of state-of-the-art industry recognized
location claims that required extensive investigation to deter- program models, among other techniques. AIG supplements
mine the full extent and value of the insured damage. Losses these models through continually monitoring the risk expo-
caused by catastrophes can fluctuate widely from year to sure of AIG’s worldwide General Insurance operations and
year, making comparisons of recurring type business more adjusting such models accordingly. Although reinsurance ar-
difficult. With respect to catastrophe losses, AIG believes that
it has taken appropriate steps, such as careful exposure selec-
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rangements do not relieve AIG from its direct obligations to AIG’s Reinsurance Security Department conducts ongo-
its insureds, an efficient and effective reinsurance program ing detailed assessments of the reinsurance markets and cur-
substantially limits AIG’s exposure to potentially significant rent and potential reinsurers, both foreign and domestic. Such
losses. With respect to its property business, AIG has either assessments include, but are not limited to, identifying if a
renewed existing coverage or purchased new coverage that, in reinsurer is appropriately licensed and has sufficient financial
the opinion of management, is adequate to limit AIG’s capacity, and evaluating the local economic environment in
exposures. which a foreign reinsurer operates. This department also re-

views the nature of the risks ceded and the requirements for
AIG’s consolidated general reinsurance assets amounted

credit risk mitigants. For example, in AIG’s treaty reinsurance
to $23.44 billion at March 31, 2006 and resulted from AIG’s

contracts, AIG includes provisions that frequently require a
reinsurance arrangements. Thus, a credit exposure existed at

reinsurer to post collateral when a referenced event occurs.
March 31, 2006 with respect to reinsurance recoverable to

Furthermore, AIG limits its unsecured exposure to reinsurers
the extent that any reinsurer may not be able to reimburse

through the use of credit triggers, which include, but are not
AIG under the terms of these reinsurance arrangements. AIG

limited to, insurer financial strength rating downgrades, poli-
manages its credit risk in its reinsurance relationships by

cyholder surplus declines at or below a certain predetermined
transacting with reinsurers that it considers financially sound,

level or a certain predetermined level of a reinsurance recover-
and when necessary AIG holds substantial collateral in the

able being reached. In addition, AIG’s Credit Risk Committee
form of funds, securities and/or irrevocable letters of credit.

reviews the credit limits for and concentrations with any one
This collateral can be drawn on for amounts that remain

reinsurer.
unpaid beyond specified time periods on an individual rein-
surer basis. At December 31, 2005, approximately 48 percent AIG enters into intercompany reinsurance transactions,
of the general reinsurance assets were from unauthorized primarily through American International Reinsurance Com-
reinsurers. Many of these balances were collateralized, per- pany, Ltd. (AIRCO), for its General Insurance and Life Insur-
mitting statutory recognition. Additionally, with the ap- ance operations. AIG enters into these transactions as a
proval of its domiciliary insurance regulators, AIG posted sound and prudent business practice in order to maintain
approximately $1.5 billion of letters of credit issued by sev- underwriting control and spread insurance risk among AIG’s
eral commercial banks in favor of certain Domestic General various legal entities. All material intercompany transactions
Insurance companies to permit statutory recognition of bal- have been eliminated in consolidation. AIG generally obtains
ances otherwise uncollateralized at December 31, 2005. The letters of credit in order to obtain statutory recognition of
remaining 52 percent of the general reinsurance assets were these intercompany reinsurance transactions. At March 31,
from authorized reinsurers. The terms authorized and unau- 2006, approximately $3.5 billion of letters of credit were
thorized pertain to regulatory categories, not creditworthi- outstanding to cover intercompany reinsurance transactions
ness. At December 31, 2005, approximately 88 percent of the with AIRCO or other General Insurance subsidiaries.
balances with respect to authorized reinsurers are from rein-

At March 31, 2006, consolidated general reinsurance
surers rated A (excellent) or better, as rated by A.M. Best, or

assets of $23.44 billion include reinsurance recoverables for
A (strong) or better, as rated by Standard & Poor’s, a division

paid losses and loss expenses of $1.17 billion and $19.21 bil-
of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (S&P). Through

lion with respect to the ceded reserve for losses and loss
March 31, 2006, there has been no significant deterioration

expenses, including ceded losses incurred but not reported
in the rating profile of AIG’s reinsurers representing more

(IBNR) (ceded reserves) and $3.07 billion of ceded reserve for
than five percent of AIG’s reinsurance assets as of Decem-

unearned premiums. The ceded reserve for losses and loss
ber 31, 2005. These ratings are measures of financial

expenses represent the accumulation of estimates of ultimate
strength.

ceded losses including provisions for ceded IBNR and loss
AIG maintains an allowance for estimated unrecoverable expenses. The methods used to determine such estimates and

reinsurance. Although AIG has been largely successful in its to establish the resulting ceded reserves are continually re-
previous recovery efforts, at March 31, 2006 AIG had an viewed and updated by management. Any adjustments
allowance for unrecoverable reinsurance approximating thereto are reflected in income currently. It is AIG’s belief that
$979 million. At that date, AIG had no significant reinsur- the ceded reserves for losses and loss expenses at March 31,
ance recoverables due from any individual reinsurer that was 2006 were representative of the ultimate losses recoverable.
financially troubled (e.g., liquidated, insolvent, in receiver- In the future, as the ceded reserves continue to develop to
ship or otherwise subject to formal or informal regulatory ultimate amounts, the ultimate loss recoverable may be
restriction). greater or less than the reserves currently ceded.
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Reserve  for  Losses  and  Loss  Expenses
(b) Personal Lines loss reserves include $885 million related to business ceded

to DBG and reported in DBG’s statutory filings.The table below classifies as of March 31, 2006 the com-
(c) Foreign General loss reserves include approximately $2.57 billion relatedponents of the General Insurance gross reserve for losses

to business reported in DBG’s statutory filings.
and loss expenses (loss reserves) by major lines of busi-

The DBG net loss reserve of $41.81 billion is comprisedness on a statutory Annual Statement basis*:
principally of the business of AIG subsidiaries participating in(in millions)

the American Home/National Union pool (11 companies)Other liability occurrence $18,437
Other liability claims made 12,137 and the surplus lines pool (Lexington, Starr Excess Liability
Workers compensation 11,909

Insurance Company and Landmark Insurance Company).Auto liability 6,274
Property 7,541

Beginning in 1998, DBG ceded a quota share percentageInternational 5,494
Reinsurance 3,039 of its other liability occurrence and products liability occur-
Medical malpractice 2,173 rence business to AIRCO. The quota share percentage cededAircraft 1,589

was 40 percent in 1998, 65 percent in 1999, 75 percent inProducts liability 1,988
Commercial multiple peril 1,449 2000 and 2001, 50 percent in 2002 and 2003, 40 percent in
Accident and health 1,641

2004, 35 percent in 2005 and 20 percent in 2006 and coveredFidelity/surety 988
Other 3,441 all business written in these years for these lines by partici-
Total $78,100 pants in the American Home/National Union pool. In 1998

the cession reflected only the other liability occurrence busi-*Presented by lines of business pursuant to statutory reporting requirements
ness, but in 1999 and subsequent years included productsas prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.

liability occurrence. AIRCO’s loss reserves relating to these
quota share cessions from DBG are recorded on a discountedAIG’s reserve for losses and loss expenses represents the
basis. As of March 31, 2006, AIRCO carried a discount ofaccumulation of estimates of ultimate losses, including IBNR
approximately $450 million applicable to the $4.04 billion inand loss expenses. The methods used to determine loss reserve
undiscounted reserves it assumed from the American Home/estimates and to establish the resulting reserves are continually
National Union pool via this quota share cession. AIRCOreviewed and updated by management. Any adjustments re-
also carries approximately $465 million in net loss reservessulting therefrom are reflected in operating income currently.
relating to Foreign General insurance business. These reservesBecause loss reserve estimates are subject to the outcome of
are carried on an undiscounted basis.future events, changes in estimates are unavoidable given that

loss trends vary and time is often required for changes in trends Beginning in 1997, the Personal Lines division ceded a
to be recognized and confirmed. Reserve changes that increase percentage of all business written by the companies partici-
previous estimates of ultimate cost are referred to as unfavora- pating in the personal lines pool to the American Home/
ble or adverse development or reserve strengthening. Reserve National Union pool. As noted above, the total reserves car-
changes that decrease previous estimates of ultimate cost are ried by participants in the American Home/National Union
referred to as favorable development. pool relating to this cession amounted to $885 million as of

March 31, 2006.At March 31, 2006, General Insurance net loss reserves
increased $1.42 billion from the prior year end to $58.89 bil- The companies participating in the American Home/Na-
lion. The net loss reserves represent loss reserves reduced by tional Union pool have maintained a participation in the bus-
reinsurance recoverables, net of an allowance for unrecover- iness written by AIU for decades. As of March 31, 2006,
able reinsurance and applicable discount for future invest- these AIU reserves carried by participants in the American
ment income. The table below classifies the components of Home/National Union pool amounted to approximately
the General Insurance net loss reserves by business unit as of $2.57 billion. The remaining Foreign General reserves are
March 31, 2006. carried by AIUO, AIRCO, and other smaller AIG subsidiaries

domiciled outside the United States. Statutory filings in the(in millions)

U.S. by AIG companies reflect all the business written by U.S.DBG(a) $41,807
Personal Lines(b) 2,556 domiciled entities only, and therefore exclude business writ-
Transatlantic 5,737

ten by AIUO, AIRCO, and all other internationally domiciledMortgage Guaranty 349
Foreign General(c) 8,443 subsidiaries. The total reserves carried at March 31, 2006 by
Total Net Loss Reserve $58,892 AIUO and AIRCO were approximately $3.92 billion and

$4.06 billion, respectively. AIRCO’s $4.06 billion in total(a) DBG loss reserves include approximately $3.59 billion ($4.04 billion
general insurance reserves consist of approximately $3.59 bil-before discount) related to business written by DBG but ceded to AIRCO

lion from business assumed from the Americanand reported in AIRCO’s statutory filings. DBG loss reserves also include

approximately $462 million related to business included in AIUO’s statu- Home/National Union pool and an additional $465 million
tory filings. relating to Foreign General Insurance business.
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The table below presents the reconciliation of net lossDiscounting  of  Reserves
reserves for the first three months ended March 31, 2006

At March 31, 2006, AIG’s overall General Insurance net loss
and 2005 as follows:

reserves reflects a loss reserve discount of $2.11 billion, in-
(in millions) 2006 2005cluding tabular and non-tabular calculations. The tabular

workers compensation discount is calculated using a 3.5 per- Net reserve for losses and loss expenses
cent interest rate and the 1979-81 Decennial Mortality Table. at beginning of year $57,476 $47,254

Foreign exchange effect 117 28The non-tabular workers compensation discount is calcu-
Losses and loss expenses incurred:lated separately for companies domiciled in New York and

Current year 6,841 7,039Pennsylvania, and follows the statutory regulations for each
Prior years, other than accretion of

state. For New York companies, the discount is based on a
discount* 35 143

five percent interest rate and the companies’ own payout pat- Prior years, accretion of discount 101 97
terns.  For Pennsylvania companies, the statute has specified Losses and loss expenses incurred 6,977 7,279
discount factors for accident years 2001 and prior, which are Losses and loss expenses paid 5,678 5,227
based on a six percent interest rate and an industry payout Net reserve for losses and loss expenses
pattern. For accident years 2002 and subsequent, the dis- at end of period $58,892 $49,334
count is based on the yield of U.S. Treasury securities ranging * Includes $35 million in the first three months of 2006 and $55 million in
from one to twenty years and the company’s own payout the first three months of 2005 for the general reinsurance operations of
pattern, with the future expected payment for each year using Transatlantic and $98 million and $118 million of additional losses in-

curred in the first three months of 2006 and 2005 resulting from increasedthe interest rate associated with the corresponding Treasury
costs related to the 2005 and 2004 catastrophes.security yield for that time period. The discount is comprised

of the following: $512 million – tabular discount for workers The loss ratios recorded by AIG for the first three
compensation in DBG; $1.15 billion – non-tabular discount months of 2006 take into account the results of the compre-
for workers compensation in DBG; and, $450 million – non- hensive reserve reviews that were completed in the fourth
tabular discount for other liability occurrence and products quarter of 2005. As explained more fully in the 2005 Annual
liability occurrence in AIRCO. The total undiscounted work- Report on Form 10-K, AIG’s year-end 2005 reserve review
ers compensation loss reserve carried by DBG is approxi- reflected careful consideration of the reserve analyses pre-
mately $9.9 billion as of March 31, 2006. The other liability pared by AIG’s internal actuarial staff with the assistance of
occurrence and products liability occurrence business in third party actuaries. In determining the appropriate loss ra-
AIRCO that is assumed from DBG is discounted based on the tios for accident year 2006 for each class of business, AIG
yield of U.S. Treasury securities ranging from one to twenty gave appropriate consideration to the loss ratios resulting
years and the DBG payout pattern for this business. The from the reserve analyses as well as all other relevant infor-
undiscounted reserves assumed by AIRCO from DBG totaled mation including rate changes, expected changes in loss costs,
approximately $4.04 billion at March 31, 2006. changes in coverage, reinsurance or mix of business, and

other factors that may affect the loss ratios.
Quarterly  Reserving  Process

In the first three months of 2006, AIG enhanced its pro-
It is management’s belief that the General Insurance net loss cess of determining the quarterly loss development from prior
reserves are adequate to cover General Insurance net losses accident years. Beginning with the first three months of 2006,
and loss expenses as of March 31, 2006. While AIG regularly additional analyses are conducted to determine the change in
reviews the adequacy of established loss reserves, there can be estimated ultimate loss for each accident year for each profit
no assurance that AIG’s ultimate loss reserves will not de- center. For example, if loss emergence for a profit center is
velop adversely and materially exceed AIG’s loss reserves as different than expected for certain accident years in the quar-
of March 31, 2006. In the opinion of management, such ter, the actuaries now take additional steps to examine the
adverse development and resulting increase in reserves is not indicated effect such emergence would have on the reserves of
likely to have a material adverse effect on AIG’s consolidated that profit center. In some cases, the higher or lower than
financial position, although it could have a material adverse expected emergence may result in no clear change in the ulti-
effect on AIG’s consolidated results of operations for an indi- mate loss estimate for the accident years in question, and no
vidual reporting period. adjustment would be made to the profit center’s reserves for

prior accident years. In other cases, the higher or lower than
expected emergence may result in a larger change, either
favorable or unfavorable, than the difference between the
actual and expected loss emergence. Such additional analyses
were conducted for each profit center, as appropriate, in the
first three months of 2006 to determine the loss development
from prior accident years for the first three months.
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In the first three months of 2006, net loss development throughout AIG contributed to the favorable emergence from
from prior accident years was approximately $35 million, accident years 2003 and 2004 in the first three months of
including approximately $98 million pertaining to catastro- 2005. The majority of the higher than expected emergence
phes in 2004 and 2005 and $35 million from the general from accident years 2002 and prior was attributable to the
reinsurance operations of Transatlantic, but excluding ap- directors and officers and related management liability classes
proximately $101 million pertaining to accretion of loss re- of business, as well as excess casualty.
serve discount applicable to accident years 2005 and prior.

Loss  Reserving  ProcessExcluding catastrophes and Transatlantic, as well as accre-
tion of discount, net loss development from prior accident The General Insurance loss reserves can generally be catego-
years in the first three months of 2006 was favorable by rized into two distinct groups. One group is long-tail casualty
approximately $98 million. The majority of the $98 million lines of business which include excess and umbrella liability,
in favorable development is attributable to shorter tail classes D&O, professional liability, medical malpractice, workers
of business within Foreign General. Net loss development compensation, general liability, products liability, and related
from prior accident years for DBG in the first three months of classes. The other group is short-tail lines of business consist-
2006 was nearly flat, excluding catastrophes and accretion of ing principally of property lines, personal lines and certain
discount. Within the overall favorable development of classes of casualty lines. These lines of business and actuarial
$98 million, accident years 2003 through 2005 experienced assumptions made in the review of these lines of business are
favorable development of approximately $330 million, offset described in the 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
by approximately $230 million of adverse development from

The process of determining the current loss ratio for eachaccident years 2002 and prior.
class or business segment is based on a variety of factors and

Most classes of business throughout AIG experienced is described in detail in AIG’s 2005 Annual Report on
favorable loss emergence in the first three months of 2006 for Form 10-K. AIG uses the process described above to update
accident years 2003 through 2005. The adverse development AIG’s reserves on a quarterly basis. AIG’s 2005 Annual Re-
noted above from accident years 2002 and prior was prima- port on Form 10-K also includes a discussion and analysis of
rily attributable to the excess casualty class of business, and the volatility of AIG’s 2005 reserve estimates and a sensitivity
to a lesser extent excess workers compensation. After con- analysis.
ducting the more enhanced analyses described above, AIG
determined that there was no overall adverse development in Asbestos  and Environmental  Reserves
the first three months of 2006 for excess casualty, whereas

The estimation of loss reserves relating to asbestos and envi-there was determined to be $35 million of prior period ad-
ronmental claims on insurance policies written many yearsverse development for excess workers compensation from
ago is subject to greater uncertainty than other types ofaccident years 2002 and prior. For excess casualty, the ad-
claims due to inconsistent court decisions as well as judicialverse development for accident years 2002 and prior was
interpretations and legislative actions that in some cases haveoffset by favorable development from accident years 2003
tended to broaden coverage beyond the original intent ofand 2004, and to a lesser extent 2005. 
such policies and in others have expanded theories of

In the first three months of 2005, net loss reserve devel- liability.
opment from prior accident years was approximately

As described more fully in the 2005 Annual Report on$143 million, including approximately $118 million pertain-
Form 10-K, AIG’s reserves relating to asbestos and environ-ing to catastrophes in 2004 and $55 million from the general
mental claims reflect the results of the comprehensive groundreinsurance operations of Transatlantic, but excluding ap-
up analysis which was completed in the fourth quarter ofproximately $97 million pertaining to the accretion of loss
2005. AIG plans to update the ground up analysis on anreserve discount pertaining to accident years 2004 and prior.
annual basis. In the first three months of 2006, AIG main-Excluding catastrophes and Transatlantic, as well as accre-
tained the ultimate loss estimates for asbestos and environ-tion of discount, net loss development from prior accident
mental claims resulting from the recently completed reserveyears in the first three months of 2005 was favorable by
analyses. A minor amount of incurred loss emergence per-approximately $30 million. In the first three months of 2005,
taining to asbestos was reflected in the first three months ofthe overall favorable emergence of $30 million was com-
2006, as depicted in the table that follows. This minor devel-prised of approximately $360 million of favorable emergence
opment is primarily attributable to the general reinsurancefrom accident years 2003 and 2004, offset by approximately
operations of Transatlantic.$330 million of higher than expected loss emergence from

accident years 2002 and prior. Most classes of business
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A summary of reserve activity, including estimates for applicable IBNR, relating to asbestos and environmental claims
separately and combined for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 follows:

2006 2005
(in millions) Gross Net Gross Net
Asbestos:
Reserve for losses and loss expenses at beginning of year $4,441 $1,840 $2,559 $1,060
Losses and loss expenses incurred* 5 2 78 24
Losses and loss expenses paid* (149) (54) (91) (29)
Reserve for losses and loss expenses at end of period $4,297 $1,788 $2,546 $1,055
Environmental:
Reserve for losses and loss expenses at beginning of year $ 926 $ 410 $ 974 $ 451
Losses and loss expenses incurred* – – (13) (3)
Losses and loss expenses paid* (21) (9) (30) (16)
Reserve for losses and loss expenses at end of period $ 905 $ 401 $ 931 $ 432
Combined:
Reserve for losses and loss expenses at beginning of year $5,367 $2,250 $3,533 $1,511
Losses and loss expenses incurred* 5 2 65 21
Losses and loss expenses paid* (170) (63) (121) (45)
Reserve for losses and loss expenses at end of period $5,202 $2,189 $3,477 $1,487

* All amounts pertain to policies underwritten in prior years.

The gross and net IBNR included in the reserve for losses and loss expenses, relating to asbestos and environmental
claims separately and combined, at March 31, 2006 and 2005 were estimated as follows:

2006 2005
(in millions) Gross Net Gross Net

Asbestos $3,314 $1,425 $1,864 $ 786
Environmental 572 256 554 248

Combined $3,886 $1,681 $2,418 $1,034

A summary of asbestos and environmental claims count activity for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005
was as follows:

2006 2005
Asbestos Environmental Combined Asbestos Environmental Combined

Claims at beginning of year 7,293 9,873 17,166 7,575 8,216 15,791
Claims during year:

Opened 286 388 674 259 759 1,018
Settled (37) (42) (79) (19) (52) (71)
Dismissed or otherwise resolved (295) (296) (591) (130) (879) (1,009)

Claims at end of period 7,247 9,923 17,170 7,685 8,044 15,729
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The table below presents AIG’s survival ratios for asbes- through banks, broker dealers and exclusive sales representa-
tos and environmental claims at March 31, 2006 and 2005. tives, and annuity runoff operations, which include previously-
The survival ratio is derived by dividing the current carried acquired ‘‘closed blocks’’ and other fixed and variable annui-
loss reserve by the average payments for the three most recent ties largely sold through distribution relationships that have
calendar years for these claims. Therefore, the survival ratio been discontinued.
is a simplistic measure estimating the number of years it

Overseas, AIG’s Life Insurance & Retirement Services
would be before the current ending loss reserves for these

operations include insurance and investment-oriented prod-
claims would be paid off using recent year average payments.

ucts such as whole and term life, investment linked, universal
Many factors, such as aggressive settlement procedures, mix

life and endowments, personal accident and health products,
of business and level of coverage provided, have a significant

group products including pension, life and health, and fixed
effect on the amount of asbestos and environmental reserves

and variable annuities.
and payments and the resultant survival ratio. Thus, caution

Life Insurance & Retirement Services operations presentedshould be exercised in attempting to determine reserve ade-
on a sub-product basis for the three months endedquacy for these claims based simply on this survival ratio.
March 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

AIG’s survival ratios for asbestos and environmental
(in millions) 2006 2005claims, separately and combined were based upon a three-
GAAP premiums:year average payment. These ratios at March 31, 2006 and
Domestic Life:2005 were as follows: Life insurance(a) $ 516 $ 497

Home service 200 203(number of years) Gross Net
Group life/health 246 268

2006 Payout annuities(b) 450 397
Survival ratios: Total 1,412 1,365Asbestos 14.7 17.8

Domestic Retirement Services:Environmental 7.1 6.4
Group retirement products 94 84Combined 12.4 13.5
Individual fixed annuities 29 20

2005 Individual variable annuities 128 112
Survival ratios: Individual fixed annuities-runoff(c) 20 23

Asbestos 9.8 12.7 Total 271 239
Environmental 6.3 6.7

Total Domestic 1,683 1,604Combined 8.5 10.1
Foreign Life:

Life insurance 4,081 4,089
Life  Insurance & Retirement  Services  Operations Personal accident & health 1,306 1,221

Group products 573 517
AIG’s Life Insurance & Retirement Services subsidiaries offer Total 5,960 5,827
a wide range of insurance and retirement savings products Foreign Retirement Services:
both domestically and abroad. Insurance-oriented products Individual fixed annuities 95 84

Individual variable annuities 34 25consist of individual and group life, payout annuities, endow-
Total 129 109ment and accident and health policies. Retirement savings

Total Foreign 6,089 5,936products consist generally of fixed and variable annuities.
Total GAAP premiums $ 7,772 $ 7,540(See also Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Net investment income:Statements.)
Domestic Life:

Life insurance $ 338 $ 372Domestically, AIG’s Life Insurance & Retirement Ser-
Home service 158 147vices operations offer a broad range of protection products,
Group life/health 54 46

such as life insurance, group life and health products, includ- Payout annuities 237 210
ing disability income products and payout annuities, which Total 787 775
include single premium immediate annuities, structured set- Domestic Retirement Services:
tlements and terminal funding annuities. Home service opera- Group retirement products 572 549

Individual fixed annuities 932 827tions include an array of life insurance, accident and health
Individual variable annuities 52 58and annuity products sold through career agents. In addition,
Individual fixed annuities-runoff(c) 236 254

home service includes a small block of run-off property and Total 1,792 1,688
casualty coverage. Retirement services include group retire- Total Domestic 2,579 2,463
ment products, individual fixed and variable annuities sold
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ALICO, AIRCO, AIG Edison Life, AIG Star Life, American(in millions) 2006 2005
International Assurance Company, Limited together withForeign Life:
American International Assurance Company (Bermuda) Lim-Life insurance 1,210 1,164

Personal accident & health 64 54 ited (AIA), Nan Shan Life Insurance Company, Ltd. (Nan
Group products 177 131 Shan) and The Philippine American Life and General Insur-
Intercompany adjustments (10) (8)

ance Company (Philamlife).
Total 1,441 1,341

Foreign Retirement Services:
Life  Insurance & Retirement  Services  ResultsIndividual fixed annuities 496 377

Individual variable annuities 193 136 The increase in operating income in the first three months of
Total 689 513 2006 when compared to the same period of 2005 is the net
Total Foreign 2,130 1,854

result of growth in domestic and foreign operations and in-
Total net investment income $ 4,709 $ 4,317

creases in realized capital gains, somewhat offset by the nega-
Realized capital gains (losses):

tive effect of foreign exchange translation primarily related toDomestic realized capital gains (losses) $ (194) $ (7)
a weaker Yen in 2006 as compared to the same period ofForeign realized capital gains (losses) 228 (156)
2005. The increase in realized capital gains in the first threePricing net investment gains(d) 124 81
months of 2006 compared to the first three months of 2005Total Foreign 352 (75)
were due to the effect of hedging activities that do not qualifyTotal realized capital gains (losses)(d) $ 158 $ (82)
for hedge accounting under FAS 133, foreign exchange gainsOperating Income:
and losses under FAS 52, offset by other-than-temporary de-Domestic $ 886 $ 981

Foreign 1,669 1,200 clines in value of investments.
Total operating income $ 2,555 $ 2,181

Life Insurance & Retirement Services GAAP premiums
Life insurance in-force(e): grew in the first three months of 2006 when compared to theDomestic $ 847,211 $ 825,151

same period of 2005. AIG’s Domestic Life operations hadForeign 1,057,469 1,027,682
continued growth of life insurance GAAP premiums. ThisTotal $1,904,680 $1,852,833
growth reflects sustained strong periodic life sales from the(a) Effective January 1, 2006, the Broker/Dealer operations of the Domestic
independent distribution platform. Retail periodic life sales inLife Insurance companies are being reported and managed within AIG

Capital Advisors in Asset Management. Included in GAAP premiums the first three months of 2006 and 2005 were $207 million
were revenues of $24 million for the first three months of 2005. and $126 million, respectively. While not sustainable at this

(b) Includes structured settlements, single premium immediate annuities and
pace due to forthcoming product pricing changes, this resultterminal funding annuities.
has positioned the Life segment to achieve another solid sales(c) Primarily represents runoff annuity business sold through discontinued

distribution relationships. year. Strong growth of payout annuities GAAP premium em-
(d) For purposes of this presentation, pricing net investment gains are segre- anated from sales of single premium immediate annuities.

gated as a component of total realized gains (losses). They represent cer-
The group life/health business GAAP premium continued totain amounts of realized capital gains where gains are an inherent element
decline reflecting lower growth in the credit business, andin pricing certain life products in some foreign countries.

(e) Amounts presented were as at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. tightened pricing and underwriting in the group employer
lines. Restructuring efforts in this business continue to focusAIG’s Life Insurance & Retirement Services subsidiaries
on new product introductions, cross selling, other growthreport their operations through the following operating units:
strategies, and exiting certain product lines. AGLA, the homeDomestic Life — AIG American General, including American
service business, is diversifying product offerings, enhancingGeneral Life Insurance Company (AG Life), United States
the capabilities and quality of the sales force and broadeningLife Insurance in the City of New York (USLIFE) and Ameri-
the markets served beyond those historically serviced in ancan General Life and Accident Insurance Company (AGLA);
effort to accelerate growth, although it is expected to remainDomestic Retirement Services — The Variable Annuity Life
a slower growth business.Insurance Company (VALIC), AIG Annuity Insurance Com-

pany (AIG Annuity) and AIG SunAmerica; Foreign Life —
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Domestic Retirement Services businesses faced a chal- A continued increase in the level of surrenders in any of
lenging environment in the first three months of 2006, as these businesses or in the individual fixed annuities runoff
deposits declined approximately 7 percent compared to the block could accelerate the amortization of deferred acquisi-
same period last year. While individual variable annuity de- tion costs in future years and will negatively affect fee income
posits grew 15 percent and group retirement deposits grew earned on assets under management. The combination of
19 percent, overall deposits declined from lower individual deposits and surrenders resulted in negative net flows for the
fixed annuity deposits. Individual fixed annuity deposits con- first three months of 2006. The following table reflects the net
tinued to decline due to the flat yield curve, which makes flows by line of business for Domestic Retirement Services as
bank products such as certificates of deposit and other money of March 31, 2006 and 2005:
market instruments with shorter duration more attractive Domestic Retirement Services – Net Flows(a)

than fixed annuities. Individual variable annuity deposit (in millions) 2006 2005

growth has improved since the introduction of new products Group retirement products(b) $ 441 $ 279
Individual fixed annuities (1) 1,385in November 2005, primarily products with income and asset
Individual variable annuities (133) 72

accumulation benefits. The following table reflects deposits Individual fixed annuities - runoff (826) (566)
for Domestic Retirement Services for the three months ended Total $(519) $1,170
March 31, 2006 and 2005: (a) Net flows are defined as deposits received, less benefits, surren-

ders, withdrawals and death benefits.
(in millions) 2006 2005

(b) Includes mutual funds.
Group retirement products* $1,941 $1,631
Individual fixed annuities 1,687 2,463 Foreign Life Insurance & Retirement Services GAAP
Individual variable annuities 1,027 891

premiums increased by approximately 3 percent, or approxi-Individual fixed annuities - runoff 43 49
mately 8 percent in original currency. AIG transacts businessTotal $4,698 $5,034
in most major foreign currencies. Globally, AIG’s deep and* Includes mutual funds.
diverse distribution, which includes bancassurance, worksiteIn the first three months of 2006, surrender rates in-
marketing, direct marketing and strong agency organizations,creased for individual fixed annuities, individual variable an-
provides a powerful distribution platform for our diversenuities and group retirement products compared to the first
product lines. In Japan, distribution of single premium lifethree months of 2005. Surrender rates for group retirement
insurance products through banks was deregulated in Decem-products improved modestly when compared to fourth quar-
ber 2005 resulting in strong sales of products designed forter 2005. The increase in surrender rate for fixed annuities
that market during the first three months of 2006. This newcontinues to be driven by the shape of the yield curve and
distribution outlet adds to the existing multiple distributiongeneral aging of the in-force block; however, less than 20 per-
platform in Japan where AIG remains the leading foreigncent of the individual fixed annuity reserves are available to
provider. In Southeast Asia, there has been a continuingbe surrendered without charge. Individual variable annuity
trend, as the market develops, for clients to purchasesurrenders primarily reflect the higher shock-lapse that occurs
investment-oriented products. AIG’s life operations in thatfollowing expiration of the surrender charge period on cer-
region have responded to this trend by offering a wide arraytain 3-year and 7-year contracts (including a large closed
of investment linked products, both periodic pay and singleblock of acquired business). Reflecting a widespread industry
premium, with multiple fund selection, but with minimal in-phenomenon, this lapse rate, much of which was anticipated
vestment guarantees. For GAAP reporting purposes, only rev-when the products were issued, has recently been affected by
enues from policy charges for insurance, administration, andinvestor demand to exchange existing policies for new-gener-
surrender charges are reported as GAAP premiums for theseation contracts with living benefits or lower fees. In addition,
life products. This product mix shift contributed to the singlepartial withdrawals on certain variable annuity products
digit growth rate in Foreign Life Insurance & Retirementhave increased as AIG has introduced features designed to
Services GAAP premiums, while continuing to grow totalgenerate a stream of income to the participants. The follow-
reserves by double digits.ing chart shows the amount of reserves by surrender charge

category for Domestic Retirement Services as of March 31, Japanese tax authorities are expected to announce
2006: shortly a reduction in the amount of premium that policy-

holders may deduct from their Japanese tax returns for aGroup Individual Individual
Retirement Fixed Variable certain group of accident and health products. Foreign life

(in millions) Products* Annuities Annuities
operations in Japan experienced a decline in sales of those

Zero or no surrender charge $40,633 $ 9,927 $10,210
specific products in the first three months of 2006; however,Between 0 percent - 4 percent 11,988 10,927 8,708

Greater than 4 percent 2,335 30,987 10,105 total accident and health sales continued to be strong overall
Non-Surrenderable 892 3,150 81 due to growth in sales of core health products and the success

Total $55,848 $54,991 $29,104 of a new cancer insurance product sold by AIG Edison. In the
* Excludes mutual funds. first three months of 2006, Japan life operations launched a
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new product for the corporate market and plans to launch rizes the components of net investment income for the three
additional products with full tax deductibility in the near months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:
future to replace those that will lose that feature. With respect (in millions) 2006 2005
to the existing products that have exposure to the change in Domestic
tax regulation, the amount of first year premium reported for Fixed maturities, including short term investments $2,308 $2,232

Equity securities 5 –the full year 2005 was approximately $129 million and the
Interest on mortgage, policy and collateral loans 189 167deferred acquisition cost asset at December 31, 2005 was
Partnership income – excluding Synfuels 141 154

$267 million. To date, lapse experience has remained within Partnership income – Synfuels (37) (36)
pricing assumptions. Management continues to believe that Other (3) (27)
any increase in policy lapses would not be material to AIG’s Total investment income 2,603 2,490

Investment expenses 24 27consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
Net investment income $2,579 $2,463

The Foreign Retirement Services business continued to Foreign
grow in Japan and Korea by expanding distribution and Fixed maturities, including short term investments $1,531 $1,373

Equity securities 71 42leveraging AIG’s product expertise. Reserves for individual
Interest on mortgage, policy and collateral loans 108 113fixed annuities continue to grow although demand for multi-
Partnership income 17 12

currency fixed annuities in Japan has slowed due to currency Policyholder trading gains (losses)* 385 278
rate fluctuations, and rising local interest rates and equity Other 73 83
markets. Growth of individual variable annuities has acceler- Total investment income 2,185 1,901

Investment expenses 55 47ated as those products have become more popular with con-
Net investment income $2,130 $1,854sumers in Japan and Europe coupled with improved

Totalperformance of equity markets.
Fixed maturities, including short term investments $3,839 $3,605
Equity securities 76 42Foreign Life Insurance & Retirement Services operations
Interest on mortgage, policy and collateral loans 297 280produced 78 percent and 79 percent of Life Insurance &
Partnership income – excluding Synfuels 158 166

Retirement Services GAAP premiums in the first three months Partnership income – Synfuels (37) (36)
of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Policyholder trading gains (losses)* 385 278

Other 70 56
AIG transacts business in most major foreign currencies. Total investment income 4,788 4,391
The following table summarizes the effect of changes in Investment expenses 79 74
foreign currency exchange rates on the growth of Life Insur- Net investment income $4,709 $4,317
ance & Retirement Services GAAP premiums: * Relates principally to trading and investment activity in accordance with

SOP 03-1. These amounts are offset by a similar change included in in-2006
curred policy losses and benefits.

Growth in original currency 7.1%
Foreign exchange effect (4.0) AIG generates income tax credits as a result of investing
Growth as reported in U.S. dollars 3.1% in synthetic fuel production (synfuels) related to the invest-

ment loss shown in the above table and records those benefits
The growth in net investment income in the first three

in its provision for income taxes. The amount of those in-
months of 2006 and 2005 parallels the growth in general

come tax credits was $40 million and $54 million for the first
account reserves and surplus for both Domestic and Foreign

three months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. See Note 6(l) of
Life Insurance & Retirement Services companies. Also, net

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further dis-
investment income was positively affected by the com-

cussion of the effect of the change in oil prices on synfuel tax
pounding of previously earned and reinvested investment

credits.
cash flows along with the addition of new net cash flows from
operations. Investment income includes income generated Realized capital gains (losses) include normal portfolio
from traditional fixed income investments as well as income transactions as well as derivative gains (losses) for transac-
generated from other sources. The following table summa- tions that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment

under FAS 133, transactional foreign exchange gains and
losses and other-than-temporary decline in the value of in-
vestments, related primarily to declines in certain high-yield
credit positions. The following table summarizes realized
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capital gains (losses) by major category for the three months (in millions) 2006 2005
ended March 31, 2006 and 2005: Domestic life – Synfuels:

Life insurance (25) (24)(in millions) 2006 2005
Home service (12) (12)

Domestic life Subtotal (37) (36)Fixed maturities $ (22) $ (6)
Total domestic life (27) 44Equity securities 2 –
Retirement services:Other:

Group retirement products 42 25FAS 52 (1) –
Individual fixed annuities 89 49FAS 133 87 104

Other-than-temporary decline (54) (23) Total retirement services 131 74
Other (4) (3) Total $104 $118

Total domestic life 8 72
Domestic retirement services: Operating income for the AIG Domestic Life Insurance

Fixed maturities (72) (60) line of business declined 20 percent due to lower partnership
Equity securities 14 7

income. Operating income for the home service line of busi-Other:
ness grew 12 percent in the first three months of 2006. TheseFAS 133 3 20

Other-than-temporary decline (125) (42) earnings grew due to higher investment income related to call
Other (22) (4) and tender income on fixed maturity securities. The group

Total domestic retirement services (202) (79) life/health business results continue to reflect the effects of
Foreign non-renewal of cases where acceptable margins could not be

Fixed maturities (23) 65
achieved. Payout annuities line of business increased operat-Equity securities 152 53
ing income, generally in line with growth in reserves.Other:

FAS 52 (37) (111)
Group retirement products operating income grew inFAS 133 226 (92)

Other-than-temporary decline (37) (5) line with growth in underlying reserves which drives growth
Other 71 15 in fee revenues and a modest amount of additional income

Total foreign 352 (75) from yield enhancement investments. Operating income for
Total $ 158 $ (82) individual fixed annuities grew as a result of growth in

reserves, higher net investment income spread from partner-Life Insurance & Retirement Services operating income
ship income and lower DAC amortization related to realizedgrew by 17 percent in the first three months of 2006. Domes-
capital losses. Individual variable annuities operating incometic Life operations continued to perform well in its core life
for the first three months of 2006 was negatively affected byinsurance businesses that included growth of retail periodic
higher deferred policy acquisition cost amortization relatedsales in the first three months of 2006. Domestic Retirement
to increased current year surrenders. Operating income forServices results reflect the increase in underlying reserves
individual fixed annuities-runoff grew 22 percent due towhich grew 6 percent over the same period last year. Foreign
higher spreads from decreases in crediting rates, which haveLife Insurance & Retirement Services operating income
temporarily outpaced the decline in earned rates. A numbergrowth on a local currency basis was strong, but results re-
of these policies will be exiting the surrender charge period inported in U.S. dollars were dampened by a significantly
2006.weaker Yen compared to the same period last year.

Foreign Life Insurance & Retirement Services operatingLine of business results for Domestic Life Insurance &
income of $1.67 billion for the first three months of 2006Retirement Services exclude the effect of realized capital gains
included $352 million of realized capital gains, and for the(losses), but include the related effect on the amortization of
first three months of 2005, operating income of $1.20 billiondeferred acquisition costs. In addition, period to period com-
included $75 million of realized capital losses.parisons of operating income for some lines of business are

affected by yield enhancement activity, particularly partner- Foreign Life Insurance & Retirement Services results
ship income. The following table summarizes Domestic Life before the effect of realized capital gains (losses) reflects a
Insurance & Retirement Services partnership income by line decline of Life insurance operating income for the first three
of business for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and months of 2006 compared to the same period last year. The
2005: 2006 results include a $40 million operating loss attributable

to this segment’s share of the losses from AIG Credit Card(in millions) 2006 2005
Company (Taiwan) compared to a gain of $10 million in theDomestic life – excluding Synfuels:
first three months of 2005. Also, an additional provision wasLife insurance $ 8 $ 79

Home service 2 1 made to the Singapore and Malaysia participating policy-
Subtotal 10 80 holder reserve of $18 million. These items coupled with a

$29 million positive effect from DAC unlocking in the same
period in 2005 resulted in lower year-on-year operating in-
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come growth. On a comparable basis, the growth in Life Both the contagion and mortality rate of any mutated
insurance results was generally in line with the growth in H5N1 virus that can be transmitted from human to human
reserves. Personal accident & health results reflect continued are highly speculative. AIG continues to monitor the develop-
stable profit margins, but year-on-year comparisons in ing facts. A significant global outbreak could have a material
U.S. dollars are affected by the weakening Yen exchange rate adverse effect on Life Insurance & Retirement Services oper-
given the large concentration of that product line in Japan. ating results and liquidity from increased mortality and mor-
Group results grew across all segments and were greatly im- bidity rates.
proved against last year. The largest contributor to the

AIG’s Foreign Life Insurance & Retirement Services
growth in group products is the pension profit center which

companies generally limit their maximum underwriting expo-
experienced higher growth in fee income emanating from

sure on life insurance of a single life to approximately
increased assets under management. Growth of individual

$1.7 million of coverage. AIG’s Domestic Life Insurance &
fixed annuities operating income, emanating primarily from

Retirement Services companies limit their maximum under-
Japan, is in line with the growth in average assets under

writing exposure on life insurance of a single life to $10 mil-
management and the greater benefits from increasing scale.

lion of coverage in certain circumstances by using yearly
The growth of individual variable annuities reflects strong

renewable term reinsurance. (See also the discussion under
growth in assets under management related to the increased

‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.)
demand for that product in Japan.

AIRCO acts primarily as an internal reinsurance com-
The contribution of Life Insurance & Retirement Ser-

pany for AIG’s foreign life operations. This facilitates insur-
vices operating income to AIG’s consolidated income before

ance risk management (retention, volatility, concentrations)
income taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect of an

and capital planning locally (branch and subsidiary). It also
accounting change amounted to 53 percent in the first three

allows AIG to pool its insurance risks and purchase reinsur-
months of 2006, compared to 39 percent in the same period

ance more efficiently at a consolidated level, manage global
of 2005.

counterparty risk and relationships and manage global life
catastrophe risks.

Underwriting  and Investment  Risk
AIG’s domestic Life Insurance & Retirement Services

The risks associated with life and accident and health prod-
operations utilize internal and third-party reinsurance rela-

ucts are underwriting risk and investment risk. The risk asso-
tionships to manage insurance risks and to facilitate capital

ciated with the financial and investment contract products is
management strategies. Pools of highly-rated third-party

primarily investment risk.
reinsurers are utilized to manage net amounts at risk in excess

Underwriting risk represents the exposure to loss result- of retention limits. AIG’s domestic life insurance companies
ing from the actual policy experience adversely emerging in also cede excess, non-economic reserves carried on a statu-
comparison to the assumptions made in the product pricing tory-basis only on certain term and universal life insurance
associated with mortality, morbidity, termination and ex- policies and certain fixed annuities to AIG Life of Bermuda
penses. The emergence of significant adverse experience Ltd., a wholly owned Bermuda reinsurer.
would require an adjustment to DAC and benefit reserves

AIG generally obtains letters of credit in order to obtain
that could have a substantial effect on AIG’s results of

statutory recognition of these intercompany reinsurance
operations.

transactions. For this purpose, AIG entered into a $2.5 billion
Natural disasters such as hurricanes, earthquakes and syndicated letter of credit facility in December 2004. Letters

other catastrophes have the potential to adversely affect of credit totaling $2.50 billion were outstanding as of
AIG’s operating results. Other risks, such as an outbreak of a March 31, 2006. The letter of credit facility has a ten-year
pandemic disease, such as the Avian Influenza A Virus term, but the facility can be reduced or terminated by the
(H5N1), could adversely affect AIG’s business and operating lenders beginning after seven years.
results to an extent that may be only minimally offset by

In November 2005, AIG entered into a revolving credit
reinsurance programs.

facility for an aggregate amount of $3 billion. The facility can
While outbreaks of the Avian Flu continue to occur be drawn in the form of letters of credit with terms of up to

among poultry or wild birds in a number of countries in Asia, ten years. As of March 31, 2006, $1.99 billion principal
Europe, and Africa, transmission to humans has been rare to amount of letters of credit are outstanding under this facility,
date. If the virus mutates to a form that can be transmitted of which approximately $620 million relates to life intercom-
from human to human, it has the potential to spread rapidly pany reinsurance transactions. AIG also obtained approxi-
worldwide. If such an outbreak were to take place, early mately $273 million letters of credit on a bilateral basis.
quarantine and vaccination could be critical to containment.

Investment risk represents the exposure to loss resulting
from the cash flows from the invested assets, primarily long-
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term fixed rate investments, being less than the cash flows environment and the volatile exchange rate of the NT dollar,
required to meet the obligations of the expected policy and Nan Shan is emphasizing new products with lower implied
contract liabilities and the necessary return on investments. guarantees, including participating endowments and variable
(See also the discussion under ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.) universal life. Although the risks of a continued low interest

rate environment coupled with a volatile NT dollar could
To minimize its exposure to investment risk, AIG tests

increase net liabilities and require additional capital to main-
the cash flows from the invested assets and policy and con-

tain adequate local solvency margins, Nan Shan currently
tract liabilities using various interest rate scenarios to evalu-

believes it has adequate resources to meet all future policy
ate investment risk and to confirm that assets are sufficient to

obligations.
pay these liabilities.

AIG actively manages the asset-liability relationship in
AIG actively manages the asset-liability relationship in

its domestic operations. This relationship is more easily man-
its foreign operations, as it has been doing throughout AIG’s

aged through the ample supply of qualified long-term
history, even though certain territories lack qualified long-

investments.
term investments or certain local regulatory authorities may
impose investment restrictions. For example, in several AIG uses asset-liability matching as a management tool
Southeast Asian countries, the duration of investments is worldwide to determine the composition of the invested as-
shorter than the effective maturity of the related policy liabili- sets and appropriate marketing strategies. As a part of these
ties. Therefore, there is risk that the reinvestment of the pro- strategies, AIG may determine that it is economically advan-
ceeds at the maturity of the initial investments may be at a tageous to be temporarily in an unmatched position due to
yield below that of the interest required for the accretion of anticipated interest rate or other economic changes. In addi-
the policy liabilities. Additionally, there exists a future invest- tion, the absence of long-dated fixed income instruments in
ment risk associated with certain policies currently in force certain markets may preclude a matched asset-liability posi-
which will have premium receipts in the future. That is, the tion in those markets.
investment of these future premium receipts may be at a yield

A number of guaranteed benefits, such as living benefits
below that required to meet future policy liabilities.

or guaranteed minimum death benefits, are offered on certain
In the first three months of 2006, new money investment variable life and variable annuity products. AIG manages its

yields have been generally rising in some markets, such as exposure resulting from these long-term guarantees through
Japan, Thailand and the U.S., which is generally favorable to reinsurance or capital market hedging instruments.
AIG’s spread-based businesses. In regard to inforce business,

DAC for Life Insurance & Retirement Services products
management focus is required in both the investment and

arises from the deferral of those costs that vary with, and are
product management process to maintain an adequate yield

directly related to, the acquisition of new or renewal business.
to match the interest necessary to support future policy liabil-

Policy acquisition costs for life insurance products are gener-
ities. Business strategies continue to evolve to maintain profit-

ally deferred and amortized over the premium paying period
ability of the overall business. As such, in some countries,

of the policy. Policy acquisition costs that relate to universal
new products are being introduced with minimal investment

life and investment-type products, including variable and
guarantees resulting in a shift toward investment linked sav-

fixed annuities (investment-oriented products) are deferred
ings products and away from traditional savings products

and amortized, with interest, as appropriate, in relation to the
with higher guarantees.

historical and future incidence of estimated gross profits to be
The investment of insurance cash flows and reinvestment realized over the estimated lives of the contracts. Amortiza-

of the proceeds of matured securities and coupons requires tion expense includes the effects of current period realized
active management of investment yields while maintaining capital gains and losses for investment type products. With
satisfactory investment quality and liquidity. respect to investment-oriented products, AIG’s policy is to

adjust amortization assumptions for DAC when estimates of
AIG may use alternative investments in certain foreign

current or future gross profits to be realized from these con-
jurisdictions where interest rates remain low and there are

tracts are revised. With respect to variable annuities sold do-
limited long-dated bond markets, including equities, real es-

mestically (representing the vast majority of AIG’s variable
tate and foreign currency denominated fixed income instru-

annuity business), the assumption for the long-term annual
ments to extend the duration or increase the yield of the

net growth rate of the equity markets used in the determina-
investment portfolio to more closely match the requirements

tion of DAC amortization is approximately ten percent. A
of the policyholder liabilities and DAC recoverability. This

methodology referred to as ‘‘reversion to the mean’’ is used to
strategy has been effectively used in Japan and more recently

maintain this long-term net growth rate assumption, while
by Nan Shan in Taiwan. Foreign assets comprised approxi-

giving consideration to short-term variations in equity mar-
mately 31 percent of Nan Shan’s invested assets at March 31,

kets. Estimated gross profits include investment income and
2006, slightly below the maximum allowable percentage

gains and losses less interest required on policyholder
under current regulation. In response to the low interest rate
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reserves, as well as other charges in the contract less actual projected gross profits requires significant management judg-
mortality and expenses. Current experience and changes in ment. The assumptions with respect to the current and pro-
the expected future gross profits are analyzed to determine jected gross profits are reviewed and analyzed quarterly and
the effect on the amortization of DAC. The estimation of are adjusted accordingly.

The following table summarizes the major components of the changes in deferred acquisition costs and the value of
business acquired (VOBA) for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:

(in millions) 2006 2005

DAC VOBA Total DAC VOBA Total

Domestic Life Insurance & Retirement Services:
Balance at beginning of year $10,505 $ 865 $11,370 $ 8,830 $ 836 $ 9,666
Acquisition costs deferred 557 – 557 541 – 541
Amortization (charged) or credited to operating income:

Related to realized capital gains (losses) 13 6 19 10 (2) 8
Related to unlocking future assumptions 2 – 2 – – –
All other amortization (365) (26) (391) (362) (21) (383)

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities 1,094 91 1,185 826 65 891
Increase (decrease) due to foreign exchange (1) – (1) (2) – (2)
Balance at end of period $11,805 $ 936 $12,741 $ 9,843 $ 878 $10,721
Foreign Life Insurance & Retirement Services:
Balance at beginning of year $16,552 $1,278 $17,830 $14,472 $1,681 $16,153
Acquisition costs deferred 1,206 – 1,206 1,163 – 1,163
Amortization (charged) or credited to operating income:

Related to realized capital gains (losses) 1 – 1 – – –
Related to unlocking future assumptions 17 – 17 31 – 31
All other amortization (524) (44) (568) (487) (60) (547)

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities 5 (4) 1 (81) 1 (80)
Increase (decrease) due to foreign exchange 473 41 514 149 (19) 130
Balance at end of period $17,730 $1,271 $19,001 $15,247 $1,603 $16,850
Total Life Insurance & Retirement Services:
Balance at beginning of year $27,057 $2,143 $29,200 $23,302 $2,517 $25,819
Acquisition costs deferred 1,763 – 1,763 1,704 – 1,704
Amortization (charged) or credited to operating income:

Related to realized capital gains (losses) 14 6 20 10 (2) 8
Related to unlocking future assumptions 19 – 19 31 – 31
All other amortization (889) (70) (959) (849) (81) (930)

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities 1,099 87 1,186 745 66 811
Increase (decrease) due to foreign exchange 472 41 513 147 (19) 128
Balance at end of period $29,535 $2,207 $31,742 $25,090 $2,481 $27,571

AIG’s variable annuity earnings will be affected by reviewed for recoverability, which involves estimating the fu-
changes in market returns because separate account revenues, ture profitability of current business. This review also in-
primarily composed of mortality and expense charges and volves significant management judgment. If the actual
asset management fees, are a function of asset values. emergence of future profitability were to be substantially dif-

ferent than that estimated, AIG’s results of operations could
DAC for both insurance-oriented and investment-ori-

be significantly affected in future periods.
ented products as well as retirement services products are
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Invested  Assets

The following tables summarize the composition of AIG’s invested assets by segment, at March 31, 2006 and Decem-
ber 31, 2005:

Life
Insurance &

General Retirement Asset Financial
(in millions) Insurance Services Management Services Other Total

2006
Fixed maturities:

Bonds available for sale, at market value $ 55,348 $275,955 $31,894 $ 1,313 $ – $364,510
Bonds held to maturity, at amortized cost 21,520 – – – – 21,520
Bond trading securities, at market value – 1,226 4,003 – – 5,229

Equity securities:
Common stocks available for sale, at market

value 4,753 8,510 243 – 63 13,569
Common stocks trading, at market value 434 9,435 401 – – 10,270
Preferred stocks available for sale, at market

value 1,690 757 – 9 – 2,456
Mortgage loans on real estate, net of allowance 14 10,830 4,059 65 – 14,968
Policy loans 2 7,166 48 2 – 7,218
Collateral and guaranteed loans, net of allowance 3 1,202 609 2,202 98 4,114
Financial services assets:

Flight equipment primarily under operating leases,
net of accumulated depreciation – – – 37,580 – 37,580

Securities available for sale, at market value – – – 38,225 – 38,225
Trading securities, at market value – – – 6,350 – 6,350
Spot commodities – – – 230 – 230
Unrealized gain on swaps, options and forward

transactions – – – 17,792 – 17,792
Trading assets – – – 1,411 – 1,411
Securities purchased under agreements to resell,

at contract value – – – 12,297 – 12,297
Finance receivables, net of allowance – – – 27,219 – 27,219

Securities lending collateral, at market value 5,082 45,791 12,034 60 – 62,967
Other invested assets 6,828 8,422 11,083 2,953 10 29,296
Short-term investments, at cost 2,810 6,650 6,589 1,293 1 17,343
Total investments and financial services assets as

shown in the balance sheet 98,484 375,944 70,963 149,001 172 694,564

Cash 243 652 68 282 3 1,248
Investment income due and accrued 1,141 4,163 406 19 4 5,733
Real estate, net of accumulated depreciation 610 2,786 2,229 24 29 5,678

Total invested assets $100,478 $383,545 $73,666 $149,326 $208 $707,223
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Life
Insurance &

General Retirement Asset Financial
(in millions) Insurance Services Management Services Other Total

2005
Fixed maturities:

Bonds available for sale, at market value $50,870 $273,165 $34,174 $ 1,307 $ – $359,516
Bonds held to maturity, at amortized cost 21,528 – – – – 21,528
Bond trading securities, at market value – 1,073 3,563 – – 4,636

Equity securities:
Common stocks available for sale, at market

value 4,505 7,436 227 – 59 12,227
Common stocks trading, at market value 425 8,122 412 – – 8,959
Preferred stocks available for sale, at market

value 1,632 760 – 10 – 2,402
Mortgage loans on real estate, net of allowance 14 10,247 3,968 71 – 14,300
Policy loans 2 6,987 48 2 – 7,039
Collateral and guaranteed loans, net of allowance 3 1,172 578 1,719 98 3,570
Financial services assets:

Flight equipment primarily under operating leases,
net of accumulated depreciation – – – 36,245 – 36,245

Securities available for sale, at market value – – – 37,511 – 37,511
Trading securities, at market value – – – 6,499 – 6,499
Spot commodities – – – 92 – 92
Unrealized gain on swaps, options and forward

transactions – – – 18,695 – 18,695
Trading assets – – – 1,204 – 1,204
Securities purchased under agreements to resell,

at contract value – 28 – 14,519 – 14,547
Finance receivables, net of allowance – – – 27,995 – 27,995

Securities lending collateral, at market value 4,931 42,991 11,549 – – 59,471
Other invested assets 6,272 7,777 10,459 2,751 8 27,267
Short-term investments, at cost 2,482 5,855 5,619 1,382 4 15,342
Total investments and financial services assets as

shown in the balance sheet 92,664 365,613 70,597 150,002 169 679,045

Cash 305 989 196 331 76 1,897
Investment income due and accrued 1,232 4,073 402 18 2 5,727
Real estate, net of accumulated depreciation 603 2,729 1,710 24 32 5,098

Total invested assets $94,804 $373,404 $72,905 $150,375 $279 $691,767

income. Declines that are determined to be other-than-tem-Insurance  and Asset  Management  Invested  Assets
porary are reflected in income in the period in which the

AIG’s investment strategy is to invest primarily in high qual-
intent to hold the securities to recovery no longer exists. See

ity securities while maintaining diversification to avoid signif-
‘‘Valuation of Invested Assets’’. Generally, insurance regula-

icant exposure to issuer, industry and/or country
tions restrict the types of assets in which an insurance com-

concentrations. With respect to Domestic General Insurance,
pany may invest. When permitted by regulatory authorities

AIG’s strategy is to invest in longer duration fixed maturity
and when deemed necessary to protect insurance assets, in-

investments to maximize the yields at the date of purchase.
cluding invested assets, from adverse movements in foreign

With respect to Life Insurance & Retirement Services, AIG’s
currency exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices, AIG

strategy is to produce cash flows required to meet maturing
and its insurance subsidiaries may enter into derivative trans-

insurance liabilities. (See also the discussion under ‘‘Operat-
actions as end users. (See also the discussion under ‘‘Deriva-

ing Review: Life Insurance & Retirement Services Opera-
tives’’ herein.)

tions’’ herein.) AIG invests in equities for various reasons,
In certain jurisdictions, significant regulatory and/or for-including diversifying its overall exposure to interest rate risk.

eign governmental barriers exist which may not permit theAvailable for sale bonds and equity securities are subject to
immediate free flow of funds between insurance subsidiariesdeclines in fair value. Such declines in fair value are presented
or from the insurance subsidiaries to AIG parent.in unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments, net

of taxes as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
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The following tables summarize the composition of AIG’s insurance and asset management invested assets by segment, at
March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005:

Life
Insurance &

Percent DistributionGeneral Retirement Asset Percent
(dollars in millions) Insurance Services Management Total of Total Domestic Foreign

2006
Fixed maturities:

Bonds available for sale, at market
value $ 55,348 $275,955 $31,894 $363,197 65.1% 58.0% 42.0%

Bonds held to maturity, at
amortized cost 21,520 – – 21,520 3.9 100.0 –

Bond trading securities, at market
value – 1,226 4,003 5,229 0.9 3.9 96.1

Equity securities:
Common stocks available for sale,

at market value 4,753 8,510 243 13,506 2.4 27.6 72.4
Common stocks trading, at market

value 434 9,435 401 10,270 1.9 4.2 95.8
Preferred stocks available for sale,

at market value 1,690 757 – 2,447 0.4 86.9 13.1
Mortgage loans on real estate, net of

allowance 14 10,830 4,059 14,903 2.7 84.5 15.5
Policy loans 2 7,166 48 7,216 1.3 41.6 58.4
Collateral and guaranteed loans, net of

allowance 3 1,202 609 1,814 0.3 1.3 98.7
Securities lending collateral, at market

value 5,082 45,791 12,034 62,907 11.3 85.8 14.2
Other invested assets 6,828 8,422 11,083 26,333 4.7 85.7 14.3
Short-term investments, at cost 2,810 6,650 6,589 16,049 2.9 26.2 73.8
Cash 243 652 68 963 0.2 19.4 80.6
Investment income due and accrued 1,141 4,163 406 5,710 1.0 57.5 42.5
Real estate, net of accumulated

depreciation 610 2,786 2,229 5,625 1.0 50.7 49.3

Total $100,478 $383,545 $73,666 $557,689 100.0% 61.2% 38.8%
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Life
Insurance &

Percent DistributionGeneral Retirement Asset Percent
(dollars in millions) Insurance Services Management Total of Total Domestic Foreign

2005
Fixed maturities:

Bonds available for sale, at market
value $50,870 $273,165 $34,174 $358,209 66.2% 59.2% 40.8%

Bonds held to maturity, at amortized
cost 21,528 – – 21,528 4.0 100.0 –

Bond trading securities, at market
value – 1,073 3,563 4,636 0.9 3.3 96.7

Equity securities:
Common stocks available for sale, at

market value 4,505 7,436 227 12,168 2.2 28.7 71.3
Common stocks trading, at market

value 425 8,122 412 8,959 1.7 4.8 95.2
Preferred stocks available for sale,

at market value 1,632 760 – 2,392 0.4 88.8 11.2
Mortgage loans on real estate, net of

allowance 14 10,247 3,968 14,229 2.7 84.6 15.4
Policy Loans 2 6,987 48 7,037 1.3 42.8 57.2
Collateral and guaranteed loans, net of

allowance 3 1,172 578 1,753 0.3 1.2 98.8
Securities purchased under agreements

to resell, at contract value – 28 – 28 – – 100.0
Securities lending collateral, at market

value 4,931 42,991 11,549 59,471 11.0 87.3 12.7
Other invested assets 6,272 7,777 10,459 24,508 4.5 85.8 14.2
Short-term investments, at cost 2,482 5,855 5,619 13,956 2.6 27.3 72.7
Cash 305 989 196 1,490 0.2 15.0 85.0
Investment income due and accrued 1,232 4,073 402 5,707 1.1 56.9 43.1
Real estate, net of accumulated

depreciation 603 2,729 1,710 5,042 0.9 45.2 54.8

Total $94,804 $373,404 $72,905 $541,113 100.0% 62.3% 37.7%

Credit  Quality Valuation  of  Invested  Assets

At March 31, 2006, approximately 60 percent of the fixed AIG has the ability to hold any fixed maturity security to its
maturities investments were domestic securities. Approxi- stated maturity, including those fixed maturity securities clas-
mately 36 percent of such domestic securities were rated AAA sified as available for sale. Therefore, the decision to sell any
by one or more of the principal rating agencies. Approxi- such fixed maturity security classified as available for sale
mately six percent were below investment grade or not rated. reflects the judgment of AIG’s management that the security

sold is unlikely to provide, on a relative value basis, as attrac-
A significant portion of the foreign fixed income portfo-

tive a return in the future as alternative securities entailing
lio is rated by Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s), S&P or

comparable risks. With respect to distressed securities, the
similar foreign services. Similar credit quality rating services

sale decision reflects management’s judgment that the risk-
are not available in all overseas locations. AIG reviews the

discounted anticipated ultimate recovery is less than the value
credit quality of the foreign portfolio nonrated fixed income

achievable on sale.
investments, including mortgages. At March 31, 2006, ap-
proximately 18 percent of the foreign fixed income invest- The valuation of invested assets involves obtaining a
ments were either rated AAA or, on the basis of AIG’s market value for each security. The source for the market
internal analysis, were equivalent from a credit standpoint to value is generally from market exchanges or dealer quota-
securities so rated. Approximately six percent were below tions, with the exception of nontraded securities.
investment grade or not rated at that date. A large portion of

If AIG chooses to hold a security, it evaluates the security
the foreign fixed income portfolio are sovereign fixed matur-

for an other-than-temporary impairment in valuation. As a
ity securities supporting the policy liabilities in the country of
issuance.

Any fixed income security may be subject to downgrade
for a variety of reasons subsequent to any balance sheet date.
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matter of policy, the determination that a security has in- No impairment charge with respect to any one single
curred an other-than-temporary decline in value and the credit was significant to AIG’s consolidated financial condi-
amount of any loss recognition requires the judgment of tion or results of operations, and no individual impairment
AIG’s management and a continual review of its investments. loss exceeded 1.0 percent of consolidated net income for the

first three months of 2006.
In general, a security is considered a candidate for

other-than-temporary impairment if it meets any of the fol- Excluding the other-than-temporary impairments noted
lowing criteria: above, the changes in market value for AIG’s available for

sale portfolio, which constitutes the vast majority of AIG’s
) Trading at a significant (25 percent or more) discount to

investments, were recorded in accumulated other comprehen-
par or amortized cost (if lower) for an extended period

sive income as unrealized gains or losses, net of tax.
of time (nine months or longer);

At March 31, 2006, the fair value of AIG’s fixed maturi-
) The occurrence of a discrete credit event resulting in

ties and equity securities aggregated to $417.9 billion. At
(i) the issuer defaulting on a material outstanding obliga-

March 31, 2006, aggregate unrealized gains after taxes for
tion; or (ii) the issuer seeking protection from creditors

fixed maturity and equity securities were $9.5 billion. At
under the bankruptcy laws or any similar laws intended

March 31, 2006, the aggregate unrealized losses after taxes of
for the court supervised reorganization of insolvent en-

fixed maturity and equity securities were approximately
terprises; or (iii) the issuer proposing a voluntary reor-

$3.7 billion.
ganization pursuant to which creditors are asked to
exchange their claims for cash or securities having a fair The effect on net income of unrealized losses after taxes
value substantially lower than par value of their claims; will be further mitigated upon realization, because certain
or realized losses will be charged to participating policyholder

accounts, or realization will result in current decreases in the
) In the opinion of AIG’s management, it is probable that

amortization of certain deferred policy acquisition costs.
AIG may not realize a full recovery on its investment,
irrespective of the occurrence of one of the foregoing At March 31, 2006, unrealized losses for fixed maturity
events. securities and equity securities did not reflect any significant

industry concentrations.
At each balance sheet date, AIG evaluates its securities

holdings in an unrealized loss position. Where AIG does not The amortized cost of fixed maturities available for sale in
intend to hold such securities until they have fully recovered an unrealized loss position at March 31, 2006, by contrac-
their carrying value based on the circumstances present at the tual maturity, is shown below:
date of evaluation, AIG records the unrealized loss in income.

Amortized
If events or circumstances change, such as unexpected (in millions)  Cost
changes in creditworthiness of the obligor, general interest Due in one year or less $ 4,876
rate environment, tax circumstances, liquidity events, and Due after one year through five years 31,523

Due after five years through ten years 74,930statutory capital management considerations among others,
Due after ten years 75,950AIG revisits its intent to determine if a loss should be re-
Total $187,279corded in income. Further, if a loss is recognized from a sale

subsequent to a balance sheet date pursuant to these changes
in circumstances, the loss is recognized in the period in which In the three months ended March 31, 2006, the pretax
the intent to hold the securities to recovery no longer exists. realized losses incurred with respect to the sale of fixed matu-

rities and equity securities were $380 million. The aggregateOnce a security has been identified as other-than-tempo-
fair value of securities sold was $13.9 billion, which wasrarily impaired, the amount of such impairment is determined
approximately 97 percent of amortized cost. The averageby reference to that security’s contemporaneous market price
period of time that securities sold at a loss during the threeand recorded as a charge to earnings.
months ended March 31, 2006 were trading continuously at

As a result of these policies, AIG recorded other-than- a price below book value was approximately four months.
temporary impairment losses, net of taxes, of $147 million
and $61 million in the first three months of 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
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At March 31, 2006, aggregate pretax unrealized gains were $14.7 billion, while the pretax unrealized losses with respect
to investment grade bonds, below investment grade bonds and equity securities were $5.2 billion, $270 million and
$206 million, respectively. Aging of the pretax unrealized losses with respect to these securities, distributed as a
percentage of cost relative to unrealized loss (the extent by which the market value is less than amortized cost or cost),
including the number of respective items, was as follows:

Less than or equal to Greater than 20% to Greater than
Total20% of Cost(a) 50% of Cost(a) 50% of Cost(a)

UnrealizedAging Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
(dollars in millions) Cost(a) Loss Items Cost(a) Loss Items Cost(a) Loss Items Cost(a) Loss(b) Items

Investment grade
bonds
0-6 months $118,849 $2,558 14,911 $ 2 $ 1 1 $32 $23 5 $118,883 $2,582 14,917
7-12 months 38,129 1,480 4,804 1 – 2 – – 3 38,130 1,480 4,809
H12 months 23,053 1,046 3,595 179 38 16 5 4 4 23,237 1,088 3,615

Total $180,031 $5,084 23,310 $182 $39 19 $37 $27 12 $180,250 $5,150 23,341
Below investment

grade bonds
0-6 months $ 3,868 $ 71 806 $ 64 $16 16 $14 $11 6 $ 3,946 $ 98 828
7-12 months 1,527 60 256 49 12 11 – – – 1,576 72 267
H12 months 1,476 91 312 30 8 5 1 1 25 1,507 100 342

Total $ 6,871 $ 222 1,374 $143 $36 32 $15 $12 31 $ 7,029 $ 270 1,437
Total bonds

0-6 months $122,717 $2,629 15,717 $ 66 $17 17 $46 $34 11 $122,829 $2,680 15,745
7-12 months 39,656 1,540 5,060 50 12 13 – – 3 39,706 1,552 5,076
H12 months 24,529 1,137 3,907 209 46 21 6 5 29 24,744 1,188 3,957

Total $186,902 $5,306 24,684 $325 $75 51 $52 $39 43 $187,279 $5,420 24,778
Equity securities

0-6 months $ 2,986 $ 105 1,659 $ 50 $13 76 $25 $15 23 $ 3,061 $ 133 1,758
7-12 months 597 42 386 78 23 152 8 5 22 683 70 560
H12 months 22 2 14 4 1 2 – – – 26 3 16

Total $ 3,605 $ 149 2,059 $132 $37 230 $33 $20 45 $ 3,770 $ 206 2,334

(a) For bonds, represents amortized cost.

(b) As more fully described above, upon realization, certain realized losses will be charged to participating policyholder accounts, or realization will result in a

current decrease in the amortization of certain deferred policy acquisition costs.

As stated previously, the valuation for AIG’s investment Financial Assets.’’ The change in carrying value is recognized
portfolio comes from market exchanges or dealer quotations, in income.
with the exception of nontraded securities. AIG considers

Hedge funds and limited partnerships in which AIG
nontraded securities to mean certain fixed income invest-

holds in the aggregate less than a five percent interest are
ments, certain structured securities, direct private equities,

reported at fair value. The change in fair value is recognized
limited partnerships and hedge funds. The aggregate carrying

as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income,
value of these securities at March 31, 2006 was approxi-

net of tax.
mately $65 billion.

With respect to hedge funds and limited partnerships in
The methodology used to estimate fair value of nontraded

which AIG holds in the aggregate a five percent or greater
fixed income investments is by reference to traded securities

interest, AIG uses the equity method to record these invest-
with similar attributes and using a matrix pricing methodol-

ments. The changes in such net asset values are recorded in
ogy. This technique takes into account such factors as the

income.
industry, the security’s rating and tenor, its coupon rate, its

AIG obtains the fair value of its investments in limitedposition in the capital structure of the issuer, and other rele-
partnerships and hedge funds from information provided byvant factors. The change in fair value is recognized as a compo-
the general partner or manager of each of these investments,nent of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax.
the accounts of which are generally audited on an annual

For certain structured securities, the carrying value is
basis.

based on an estimate of the security’s future cash flows pursu-
Each of these investment categories is regularly tested toant to the requirements of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue

determine if impairment in value exists. Various valuationNo. 99-20, ‘‘Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment
on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized
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techniques are used with respect to each category in this prised of the most efficient aircraft in the airline industry,
determination. continues to be in high demand from such carriers.

ILFC typically contracts to re-lease aircraft before the
Financial  Services  Operations

end of the existing lease term. For aircraft returned before the
AIG’s Financial Services subsidiaries engage in diversified ac- end of the lease term, ILFC has generally been able to re-lease
tivities including aircraft and equipment leasing, capital mar- such aircraft within two to six months of its return. As a
kets transactions, consumer finance and insurance premium lessor, ILFC considers an aircraft ‘‘idle’’ or ‘‘off lease’’ when
financing. (See also Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Finan- the aircraft is not subject to a signed lease agreement or
cial Statements.) signed letter of intent. ILFC had no aircraft off lease at

March 31, 2006, and all new aircraft deliveries in 2006 have
Aircraft  Finance been leased. (See also the discussions under ‘‘Capital Re-

sources’’ and ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.)AIG’s Aircraft Finance operations represent the operations of
ILFC, which generates its revenues primarily from leasing Management formally reviews regularly, and no less fre-
new and used commercial jet aircraft to domestic and foreign quently than quarterly, issues affecting ILFC’s fleet, including
airlines. Revenues also result from the remarketing of com- events and circumstances that may cause impairment of air-
mercial jets for its own account, and remarketing and fleet craft values. Management evaluates aircraft in the fleet as
management for airlines and financial institutions. necessary, based on these events and circumstances in accor-

dance with Statement of Financial Accounting StandardsILFC finances its purchases of aircraft primarily through
No. 144, ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal ofthe issuance of a variety of debt instruments. The composite
Long-Lived Assets’’ (FAS 144). ILFC has not recognized anyborrowing rates, which include the effect of economic hedges,
impairment related to its fleet. ILFC has been able to re-leaseat the end of the first three months of 2006 and 2005 were
the aircraft without diminution in lease rates to an extent that5.12 percent and 4.49 percent, respectively. (See also the dis-
would require an impairment write-down. (See also the dis-cussions under ‘‘Capital Resources’’ and ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein
cussions under ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.)and Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.)

ILFC’s sources of revenue are principally from scheduled Capital  Markets
and charter airlines and companies associated with the airline

Capital Markets represents the operations of AIGFP, whichindustry. The airline industry is sensitive to changes in eco-
engages as principal in a wide variety of financial transac-nomic conditions, cyclical and highly competitive. Airlines
tions, including standard and customized financial productsand related companies may be affected by political or eco-
involving commodities, credit, currencies, energy, equitiesnomic instability, terrorist activities, changes in national pol-
and rates. AIGFP also invests in a diversified portfolio oficy, competitive pressures on certain air carriers, fuel prices
securities and engages in borrowing activities involving issu-and shortages, labor stoppages, insurance costs, recessions,
ing standard and structured notes and other securities, andworld health issues and other political or economic events
entering into guaranteed investment agreements.adversely affecting world or regional trading markets. ILFC’s

revenues and income will be affected by its customers’ ability As Capital Markets is a transaction-oriented operation,
to react and cope with the volatile competitive environment current and past revenues and operating results may not pro-
in which they operate, as well as ILFC’s own competitive vide a basis for predicting future performance. Also, AIG’s
environment. Capital Markets operations may be adversely affected by the

downgrades in AIG’s credit ratings. See Item 1A. in Part II ofILFC is exposed to operating loss and liquidity strain
this Quarterly Report, for a further discussion of the poten-through nonperformance of aircraft lessees, through owning
tial effect of the rating downgrades on AIG’s Capital Marketsaircraft which it would be unable to sell or re-lease at accept-
businesses herein.able rates at lease expiration and, in part, through commit-

ting to purchase aircraft which it would be unable to lease. AIG’s Capital Markets operations derive substantially
all their revenues from hedged financial positions entered inILFC manages the risk of nonperformance by its lessees
connection with counterparty transactions rather than fromwith security deposit requirements, through repossession
speculative transactions. AIGFP participates as a dealer in arights, overhaul requirements, and closely monitoring indus-
wide variety of financial derivatives transactions.try conditions through its marketing force. However, there

can be no assurance that ILFC would be able to successfully As a dealer in financial derivatives, AIGFP marks all
manage the risks relating to the effect of possible future dete- derivative and trading transactions to fair value daily. Thus, a
rioration in the airline industry. Approximately 90 percent of gain or loss on each transaction is recognized daily. Under
ILFC’s fleet is leased to non-U.S. carriers, and the fleet, com- GAAP, in certain instances, gains and losses are required to

be recorded in earnings immediately, whereas in other in-
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stances, they are required to be recognized over the life of the are marked to market with the resulting unrealized gains or
underlying instruments. AIGFP economically hedges the mar- losses reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income.
ket risks arising from its transactions, although hedge ac- U.S. dollar denominated borrowings are carried at cost, while
counting is not currently being applied to any of the borrowings in any currency other than the U.S. dollar result
derivatives and related assets and liabilities. Accordingly, rev- in unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses reported in
enues and operating income are exposed to volatility result- income. AIGFP hedges the economic exposure on its invest-
ing from differences in the timing of revenue recognition ments and borrowings on a portfolio basis using derivatives
between the derivatives and the hedged assets and liabilities. and other financial instruments. While these hedges are
Revenues and operating income of the Capital Markets oper- highly effective economic hedges, the requirements under
ations and the percentage change in these amounts for any FAS 133 hedge accounting were not met. The change in the
given period are also significantly affected by the number, size fair value of the derivatives used to hedge these economic
and profitability of transactions entered into by these subsidi- exposures is therefore included in other revenues while the
aries during that period relative to those entered into during offsetting change in fair value of the hedged items is not
the prior period. Generally, the realization of transaction rev- recognized in earnings.
enues as measured by the receipt of funds is not a significant

Consumer  Financereporting event as the gain or loss on AIGFP’s trading trans-
actions is currently reflected in operating income as the fair Domestically, AIG’s Consumer Finance operations are princi-
values change from period to period. pally conducted through American General Finance, Inc.

(AGF). AGF derives a substantial portion of its revenues fromDerivative transactions are entered into in the ordinary
finance charges assessed on outstanding real estate loans, se-course of Capital Markets operations. Therefore, income on
cured and unsecured non-real estate loans and retail salesderivatives is recorded at fair value, determined by reference
finance receivables. The real estate loans include first or sec-to the mark to market value of the derivative or their esti-
ond mortgages on residential real estate generally having amated fair value where market prices are not readily availa-
maximum term of 360 months, and are considered non-con-ble. The resulting aggregate unrealized gains or losses from
forming. These loans may be closed-end accounts or open-the derivative are reflected in the income statement. Where
end home equity lines of credit and may be fixed-rate orCapital Markets cannot verify significant model inputs to
adjustable rate products. The non-real estate loans are se-observable market data and verify the model value to market
cured by consumer goods, automobiles, or other personaltransactions, Capital Markets values the contract at the
property or are unsecured. Both secured and unsecured non-transaction price at inception and, consequently, records no
real estate loans generally have a maximum term of 60initial gain or loss in accordance with Emerging Issues Task
months. The core of AGF’s originations is sourced through itsForce Issue No. 02-03, ‘‘Issues Involved in Accounting for
branches. However, a significant volume of real estate loansDerivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and Con-
is also originated through broker relationships, and to lessertracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Ac-
extents, through correspondent relationships and direct mailtivities’’ (EITF 02-03). Such initial gain or loss is recognized
solicitations. In the first three months of 2006, two wholly-over the life of the transaction. Capital Markets periodically
owned subsidiaries of AGF discontinued originating real es-reevaluates its revenue recognition under EITF 02-03 based
tate loans through an arrangement with AIG Bank and beganon the observability of market parameters. The mark to fair
originating such loans under their own state licenses.value of derivative transactions is reflected in the balance

sheet in the captions ‘‘Unrealized gain on swaps, options and Many of AGF’s borrowers are non-prime or sub-prime.
forward transactions,’’ ‘‘Unrealized loss on swaps, options Current economic conditions, such as interest rate and em-
and forward transactions,’’ ‘‘Trading assets’’ and ‘‘Trading ployment, have a direct effect on the borrowers’ ability to
liabilities.’’ Unrealized gains represent the present value of the repay these loans. AGF manages the credit risk inherent in its
aggregate of each net receivable by counterparty, and the portfolio by using credit scoring models at the time of credit
unrealized losses represent the present value of the aggregate applications, established underwriting criteria, and in certain
of each net payable by counterparty as of March 31, 2006. cases, individual loan reviews. AGF’s Credit Strategy and
These amounts will change from one period to the next due Policy Committee monitors the quality of the finance receiv-
to changes in interest rates, currency rates, equity and com- ables portfolio on a monthly basis when determining the ap-
modity prices and other market variables, as well as cash propriate level of the allowance for losses. The Credit
movements, execution of new transactions and the maturing Strategy and Policy Committee bases its conclusions on quan-
of existing transactions. (See also the discussion under ‘‘De- titative analyses, qualitative factors, current economic condi-
rivatives’’ herein.) tions and trends, and each committee member’s experience in

the consumer finance industry. Through the first threeSpread income on investments and borrowings is re-
months of 2006, the credit quality of AGF’s finance receiv-corded on an accrual basis over the life of the transaction.
ables continues to be strong. However, declines in theInvestments are classified as securities available for sale and
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strength of the U.S. housing market or economy may ad-
from interest rate and foreign currency derivatives hedging available for

versely affect the future credit quality of these receivables. sale securities and borrowings.

(b) Revenues are primarily from ILFC aircraft lease rentals.Internationally, AIG’s Consumer Finance operations are
(c) Revenues, shown net of interest expense, are primarily from hedged finan-

principally conducted through AIG Consumer Finance
cial positions entered into in connection with counterparty transactions

Group (CFG). CFG operates primarily in emerging and devel- and the effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge account-
oping markets. CFG has operations in Hong Kong, Taiwan, ing treatment under FAS 133 described in (a) above.
the Philippines, Thailand, Poland, Argentina, and Mexico. (d) Certain transactions entered into by AIGFP generate tax credits and benefits

which are included in income taxes in the consolidated statement of income.While products vary by market, the businesses generally pro-
The amount of such tax credits and benefits for the first three months ofvide credit cards, unsecured and secured non-real estate
2006 and 2005 are $18 million, and $19 million, respectively.loans, term deposits, savings accounts, retail sales finance and

(e) Revenues are primarily finance charges.real estate loans.
(f) Includes $44 million in additional allowance for losses from AIG Credit

Card Company (Taiwan) in 2006.Consumer Finance operations are exposed to loss when
contractual payments are not received. Credit loss exposure is

Financial  Services  Resultsmanaged through underwriting controls, mix of finance re-
ceivables, collateral and collection efficiency. Financial Services operating income decreased in the first

three months of 2006 compared to the same period of 2005CFG monitors the quality of its finance receivable port-
due to the effect of hedging activities that do not qualify forfolio through a combination of a monthly Credit Review and
hedge accounting under FAS 133.quarterly Credit Reserve Committee review when determin-

ing the appropriate level of the allowance for losses. The Fluctuations in revenues and operating income from
Credit Reserve Committee bases its conclusions on quantita- quarter to quarter are not unusual because of the transaction-
tive analysis, qualitative factors, current economic conditions oriented nature of Capital Markets operations and the vola-
and trends, political and regulatory implications, competi- tility resulting from the accounting treatment for the eco-
tion, and the judgment of the committee’s members. As a nomic hedges under FAS 133. The overwhelming majority of
result of such a review and in light of industry-wide deterio- AIG’s financial derivatives are conducted by the Capital Mar-
rating credit conditions and tightening of overall consumer kets operations. Capital Markets enters into derivative trans-
credit, the aggregate allowance for losses in AIG Credit Card actions to hedge the interest rate and foreign currency
Company (Taiwan) was increased by $88 million pre-tax to exposures associated with its available for sale assets and
approximately $130 million, CFG’s best estimate of the over- borrowings. While the derivatives entered into to hedge its
all exposure at March 31, 2006. The allowance, which repre- outstanding transactions and positions are highly effective
sents approximately 20 percent of CFG’s outstanding credit economic hedges, AIG did not meet the requirements for
card receivables for Taiwan at that date, was shared equally hedge accounting under FAS 133. The change in the fair value
by the Financial Services and Life Insurance & Retirement of these derivatives is included in other revenues while the
Services segments. offsetting change in fair value of the hedged items is not

recognized in earnings.
Financial Services operations for the three months ended

The effect of the Capital Markets’ derivatives not quali-March 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:
fying for hedge accounting on revenues and operating income

(in millions) 2006 2005
in the first three months of 2006 and 2005 was $(678) million

Revenues(a):
and $468 million, respectively. The majority of the net lossAircraft Finance(b) $ 965 $ 827
on AIGFP’s derivatives recognized in the first three months ofCapital Markets(c)(d) (300) 756

Consumer Finance(e) 924 833 2006 was due to the rise in long-term U.S. interest rates,
Other 26 20 which resulted in a decrease in the fair value of its interest
Total $1,615 $2,436

rate derivatives hedging its borrowings. To a lesser extent, the
Operating income (loss)(a):

net loss was also due to slight weakening in the U.S. dollarAircraft Finance $ 129 $ 187
against other currencies resulting in a decrease in the fairCapital Markets(d) (470) 620

Consumer Finance(f) 175 221 value of the foreign currency derivatives hedging AIGFP’s
Other, including intercompany adjustments 7 17 available for sale securities. The majority of the net gain on
Total $ (159) $1,045

AIGFP’s derivatives in the first three months of 2005 was due
(a) Includes the effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Euro, which

accounting treatment under FAS 133, including the related foreign ex-
increased the fair value of the foreign currency derivatives

change gains and losses. For the first three months of 2006 and 2005, the
hedging available for sale securities. Long-term rates re-effect was $0 and $15 million, respectively, in operating income for Air-
mained relatively flat in the first three months of 2005, thuscraft Finance and $(678) million and $468 million in both revenues and
having minimal effect on the fair value of the derivativesoperating income for Capital Markets. These amounts result primarily

hedging AIGFP’s borrowings.
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To the extent the Financial Services subsidiaries, other 2006 compared to the same period of 2005 as a result of
than AIGFP, use derivatives to economically hedge their as- growth in the number of aircraft in ILFC’s fleet, continued
sets or liabilities with respect to their future cash flows, and net improvements in lease rates and an increase in overhaul
such hedges do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment revenue.
under FAS 133, the changes in fair value of such derivatives

Consumer Finance’s operating income decreased in the
are recorded in realized capital gains (losses) or other

first three months of 2006 compared to the same period of
revenues.

2005 primarily due to the increase in borrowing costs and
Financial market conditions in the first three months of increases in the allowance for losses related to industry-wide

2006 continued to be characterized by a general flattening of credit deterioration in the Taiwan credit card market, which
interest rate yield curves across fixed income markets glob- is going through credit tightening and uncertain regulatory
ally, tightening of credit spreads and equity valuations that developments.
were slightly higher. The decline in Capital Markets operat-

Domestically, the relatively low interest rate environ-
ing results for the first three months of 2006 was principally

ment throughout 2005 and the first three months of 2006
due to losses on derivatives not qualifying for hedge account-

contributed to a high level of mortgage refinancing activity.
ing under FAS 133, which was partially offset by improved

AGF’s average net finance receivables increased 14 percent in
transaction flow in AIGFP’s credit, commodity index and

the first three months of 2006 when compared to the same
equity products.

period in 2005. However, net originations and purchases of
The most significant component of Capital Markets op- finance receivables in AGF’s centralized real estate business

erating expenses is compensation, which was approximately segment decreased in the first three months of 2006 as com-
$136 million and $111 million in the first three months of pared to the same period in 2005 primarily caused by a less
2006 and 2005, respectively. The amount of compensation robust U.S. housing market. The increase in AGF’s revenues
was not affected by gains and losses not qualifying for hedge that principally resulted from portfolio growth was offset by
accounting treatment under FAS 133. higher interest expense and depressed whole loan sale prices

resulting from a flattened yield curve. Both short-term and
As a result of AIG’s early adoption of FAS 155, AIGFP

long-term market interest rates continued to increase signifi-
elected to apply the fair value option to certain of its struc-

cantly over the past year. AGF’s short-term and long-term
tured notes and other financial liabilities containing embed-

borrowing costs were 4.59 percent and 4.84 percent in the
ded derivatives outstanding as of January 1, 2006. The

first three months of 2006, respectively, compared to 3.03
cumulative effect from the adoption of FAS 155 on these

percent and 4.34 percent in the same period in 2005, respec-
instruments at January 1, 2006 was a loss of approximately

tively. Despite high energy costs, the U.S. economy continued
$29 million pre-tax. The application of the fair value option

to expand during the first three months of 2006, improving
to these hybrid financial instruments did not have a signifi-

consumer credit quality. AGF’s charge-off ratio improved 37
cant effect on AIGFP’s operating income for the three months

basis points in the first three months of 2006 when compared
ended March 31, 2006.

to the same period in 2005. AGF’s delinquency ratio at
ILFC’s operating income decreased in the first three March 31, 2006 improved 24 basis points when compared to

months of 2006 compared to the same period of 2005 as March 31, 2005. At March 31, 2006, AGF’s allowance ratio
improvements in sales environment and increased lease reve- was 2.10 percent compared to 2.12 percent at March 31,
nues were offset by increased borrowing costs and certain 2005.
adjustments for credit and tax reserves and lease-related ac-
cruals. ILFC’s revenues increased in the first three months of
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Financial  Services  Invested  Assets

The following table is a summary of the composition of AIG’s Financial Services invested assets at March 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005. (See also the discussions under ‘‘Operating Review: Financial Services Operations,’’ ‘‘Capital
Resources’’ and ‘‘Derivatives’’ herein.)

2006 2005
Invested Percent of Invested Percent of

(dollars in millions) Assets Total Assets Total

Fixed maturities:
Bonds available for sale, at market value $ 1,313 0.9% $ 1,307 0.9%

Equity securities:
Preferred stocks available for sale, at market value 9 – 10 –

Mortgage loans on real estate, net of allowance 65 – 71 –
Policy loans 2 – 2 –
Collateral and guaranteed loans, net of allowance 2,202 1.5 1,719 1.2
Financial services assets:

Flight equipment primarily under operating leases, net of accumulated
depreciation 37,580 25.2 36,245 24.1

Securities available for sale, at market value 38,225 25.6 37,511 24.9
Trading securities, at market value 6,350 4.3 6,499 4.3
Spot commodities 230 0.2 92 0.1
Unrealized gain on swaps, options and forward transactions 17,792 11.9 18,695 12.4
Trading assets 1,411 0.9 1,204 0.8
Securities purchased under agreements to resell, at contract value 12,297 8.2 14,519 9.7
Finance receivables, net of allowance 27,219 18.2 27,995 18.6

Securities lending collateral, at market value 60 – – –
Other invested assets 2,953 2.0 2,751 1.9
Short-term investments, at cost 1,293 0.9 1,382 0.9
Cash 282 0.2 331 0.2
Investment income due and accrued 19 – 18 –
Real estate, net of accumulated depreciation 24 – 24 –
Total $149,326 100.0% $150,375 100.0%

As previously discussed, the cash used for the purchase AIG’s Consumer Finance operations provide a wide vari-
of flight equipment is derived primarily from the proceeds of ety of consumer finance products, including real estate loans,
ILFC’s debt financings. The primary sources for the repay- credit card loans, non-real estate loans, retail sales finance
ment of this debt and the interest expense thereon are the and credit-related insurance to customers both domestically
cash flow from operations, proceeds from the sale of flight and overseas, particularly in emerging markets. These prod-
equipment and the rollover and refinancing of the prior debt. ucts are funded through a combination of deposits and vari-
During the first three months of 2006, ILFC acquired flight ous borrowings including commercial paper and medium
equipment costing $1.90 billion. (See also the discussion term notes. AIG’s Consumer Finance operations are exposed
under ‘‘Operating Review: Financial Services Operations’’ to credit risk and risk of loss resulting from adverse fluctua-
and ‘‘Capital Resources’’ herein.) tions in interest rates. Over half of the finance receivable

balance is related to real estate loans which are substantially
At March 31, 2006, ILFC had committed to purchase

collateralized by the related properties.
308 new and used aircraft deliverable from 2006 through
2015 at an estimated aggregate purchase price of $21.4 bil- With respect to credit losses, the allowance for losses is
lion and had options to purchase 16 new aircraft at an esti- maintained at a level considered adequate to absorb antici-
mated aggregate purchase price of $1.5 billion. As of pated credit losses existing in that portfolio.
March 31, 2006, ILFC has entered into leases for all of the

Capital Markets derivative transactions are carried at
new aircraft to be delivered in 2006. ILFC will be required to

market value or at estimated fair value when market prices
find customers for any aircraft currently on order and any

are not readily available. AIGFP reduces its economic risk
aircraft to be ordered, and it must arrange financing for por-

exposure through similarly valued offsetting transactions in-
tions of the purchase price of such equipment. ILFC has been

cluding swaps, trading securities, options, forwards and fu-
successful to date both in placing its new aircraft on lease or

tures. The estimated fair values of these transactions
under sales contract and obtaining adequate financing, but

represent assessments of the present value of expected future
there can be no assurance that such success will continue in

cash flows. These transactions are exposed to liquidity risk if
future environments.

AIGFP were required to sell or close out the transactions
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prior to maturity. AIG believes that the effect of any such realized gain or loss with respect to this security is then re-
event would not be significant to AIG’s financial condition or corded in operating income.
its overall liquidity. (See also the discussion under ‘‘Operating

Securities purchased under agreements to resell are
Review: Financial Services Operations’’ and ‘‘Derivatives’’

treated as collateralized financing transactions. AIGFP takes
herein.)

possession of or obtains a security interest in securities pur-
AIGFP uses the proceeds from the issuance of notes and chased under agreements to resell. AIGFP further minimizes

bonds and borrowings under guaranteed investment agree- its credit risk by monitoring counterparty credit exposure
ments (GIAs) to invest in a diversified portfolio of securities, and, when it deems necessary, it requires additional collateral
including securities available for sale, at market, and deriva- to be deposited.
tive transactions. The funds may also be temporarily invested

AIGFP owns inventories in certain commodities in which
in securities purchased under agreements to resell. The pro-

it trades, and may reduce the exposure to market risk through
ceeds from the disposal of the aforementioned securities

the use of swaps, forwards, futures and option contracts.
available for sale and securities purchased under agreements

Physical commodities held in AIGFP’s wholly-owned broker
to resell have been used to fund the maturing GIAs or other

dealer subsidiary are recorded at market value. All other
AIGFP financings, or invest in new assets. (See also the dis-

commodities are recorded at the lower of cost or market.
cussion under ‘‘Capital Resources’’ herein.)

Trading securities, at market value, and securities and
Securities available for sale is predominantly a portfolio of

spot commodities sold but not yet purchased, at market value
fixed income securities, where the individual securities have va-

are marked to market daily with the unrealized gain or loss
rying degrees of credit risk. At March 31, 2006, the average

being recognized in income at that time. These trading securi-
credit rating of this portfolio was AA+ or the equivalent thereto

ties are held to meet the short-term risk management objec-
as determined through rating agencies or internal review.

tives of Capital Markets operations.
AIGFP has also entered into credit derivative transactions to

The gross unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses ofeconomically hedge its credit risk associated with $105 million
Capital Markets operations included in the financial ser-of these securities. Securities deemed below investment grade at
vices assets and liabilities at March 31, 2006 were asMarch 31, 2006 amounted to approximately $154 million in
follows:fair value representing 0.3 percent of the total AIGFP securities

available for sale. There have been no significant downgrades Gross Gross
through March 31, 2006. If its securities available for sale port- Unrealized Unrealized

(in millions) Gains Lossesfolio were to suffer significant default and the collateral held
Securities available for sale, at marketdeclined significantly in value with no replacement or the credit

value $ 1,193 $ 1,414default swap counterparty failed to perform, AIGFP could have
Unrealized gain/loss on swaps, optionsa liquidity strain. AIG guarantees AIGFP’s payment obligations,

and forward transactions* 17,792 11,267
including its debt obligations.

* These amounts are also presented as the respective balance sheet amounts.

AIGFP’s risk management objective is to minimize inter-
The senior management of AIG defines the policies andest rate, currency, commodity and equity risks associated

establishes general operating parameters for Capital Marketswith its securities available for sale. That is, when AIGFP
operations. AIG’s senior management has established variouspurchases a security for its securities available for sale invest-
oversight committees to review the various financial market,ment portfolio, it simultaneously enters into an offsetting
operational and credit issues of the Capital Markets opera-internal hedge such that the payment terms of the hedging
tions. The senior management of AIGFP reports the results oftransaction offset the payment terms of the investment secur-
its operations to and reviews future strategies with AIG’sity, which achieves the economic result of converting the re-
senior management.turn on the underlying security to U.S. dollar LIBOR plus or

minus a spread based on the underlying profit on each secur- AIG actively manages the exposures to limit potential
ity on the initial trade date. The market risk associated with losses, while maximizing the rewards afforded by these busi-
such internal hedges is managed on a portfolio basis, with ness opportunities. In doing so, AIG must continually man-
third-party hedging transactions executed as necessary. As age a variety of exposures including credit, market, liquidity,
hedge accounting treatment is not achieved in accordance operational and legal risks.
with FAS 133, the unrealized gains and losses on the securi-
ties related economic hedges are reflected in operating in- Asset  Management  Operations
come, whereas the unrealized gains and losses on the

AIG’s Asset Management operations comprise a wide variety
underlying securities resulting from changes in interest rates,

of investment-related services and investment products in-
currency rates, commodity and equity prices, are recorded in

cluding institutional and retail asset management, broker
accumulated other comprehensive income. When a security is

dealer services and spread-based investment business from
sold, the related hedging transaction is terminated, and the
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the sale of guaranteed investment contracts, also known as from the hedges offset the negative trend in operating income.
funding agreements (GICs). Such services and products are GIC revenues include income from Sun America partnerships
offered to individuals and institutions both domestically and supporting the GIC line of business and are significantly af-
overseas. fected by performance in the equity markets. Thus, revenues,

operating income and cash flow attributable to GICs will
Asset Management revenues and operating income for the

vary among reporting periods. The decline in GIC operating
three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 were as

income in the first three months of 2006 compared to the
follows:

same period of 2005 reflects tighter spreads in the GIC port-
(in millions) 2006 2005

folio, partially offset by improved net partnership returns.
Revenues:

Spread compression has occurred as the base portfolio yieldGuaranteed investment contracts $ 822 $ 896
declined primarily due to an increase in the cost of funds inInstitutional Asset Management 279 319

Brokerage Services and Mutual Funds 73 63 the short-term floating rate portion of the GIC portfolio, only
Other 65 99 partially offset by increased investment income from the

Total $1,239 $1,377
floating rate assets backing the portfolio. As mentioned

Operating income:
above, the lower level of gains and performance based feesGuaranteed investment contracts(a) $ 218 $ 319
also contributed to the decline in operating income for theInstitutional Asset Management(b)(c) 159 161

Brokerage Services and Mutual Funds 23 13 first three months of 2006. These gains and performance fees
Other 61 97 are contingent upon various fund closings, maturity levels

Total $ 461 $ 590
and market conditions, and by their nature, are not predict-

(a) The effect of hedging activities that do not qualify for hedge accounting able. Therefore, the effect on the segment’s earnings may vary
treatment under FAS 133 was $0 and $62 million for the first three months

from period to period.
of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(b) Includes the full results of certain AIG managed private equity and real In September 2005, AIG launched a $10 billion medium
estate funds that are consolidated effective December 31, 2003 pursuant term note program in the Euromarkets under which AIG debt
to FIN46R, ‘‘Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities’’. For the first securities are issued primarily for a matched investment pro-
three months of 2006 and 2005, operating income includes $27 million

gram. AIG issued its first debt securities under the matchedand $75 million of third-party limited partner earnings offset in minority
investment program in April 2006, selling Euro 500 millioninterest expense.
principal amount of notes. AIG also expects to launch a(c) Includes the full results of certain AIG managed partnerships that are

consolidated effective January 1, 2006 pursuant to EITF 04-5, ‘‘Determin- matched investment program in the domestic market which,
ing Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, along with the Euro program, will become AIG’s principal
Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Part- spread-based investment activity. However, the timing of the
ners Have Certain Rights’’. For the first three months of 2006, operating launch of the domestic program remains uncertain. Because
income includes $69 million of third-party limited partner earnings offset

AIG’s credit spreads in the capital markets have widened
in minority interest expense.

following the ratings declines, there may be a reduction in the
Asset  Management  Results earnings on new business in AIG’s institutional spread based

funding business.Asset Management operating income decreased in the first
three months of 2006 compared to the same period of 2005 Asset Management operating income represented
as a result of the continued run-off of AIG’s GIC portfolio 10 percent of AIG’s consolidated income before income
combined with spread compression. In addition, there was a taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect of an account-
decline in realized gains on sales of real estate investments ing change in the first three months of 2006. This compares
and performance fees earned on various private equity invest- to 10 percent in the same period of 2005.
ments. The revenues and operating income with respect to the

At March 31, 2006 and 2005, AIG’s third party assetssegment are largely affected by the general conditions in the
under management, including both retail mutual funds andequity and credit markets. The decrease for the quarter was
institutional accounts, exceeded $65 billion and $55 billionprimarily due to the decline in the GIC business. GICs were
and the aggregate GIC reserve was $48.1 billion andsold domestically and abroad to both institutions and indi-
$55.8 billion, respectively.viduals. These products were written on an opportunistic

basis when the market conditions were favorable. A signifi-
Other  Operationscant portion of the remaining GIC portfolio consists of float-

ing rate obligations. AIG has entered into hedges to manage Other operations include AIG’s equity in certain partially
against increases in short-term interest rates. AIG continues owned companies, the distributions on the liabilities con-
to believe these hedges are economically effective but do not nected to trust preferred stock, as well as the unallocated
qualify for hedge accounting under FAS 133. As a result, corporate expenses of the parent holding company and other
continued increases in short-term interest rates will negatively miscellaneous income and expenses. Other income (loss)
affect operating income in the segment. Realized capital gains amounted to $(338) million and $36 million in the first three
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months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Included in the 2006 Borrowings issued or guaranteed by AIG and those borrow-
amount is compensation expense related to the 2006 Starr ings not guaranteed by AIG at March 31, 2006 and Decem-
tender offer of $54 million. See also Note 4 of Notes to the ber 31, 2005 were as follows:
Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, included in

(in millions) 2006 2005
the 2006 amount is compensation expense with respect to the

AIG borrowings:SICO Plans of $76 million, including various adjustments
Medium term notes $ 89 $ 112

totalling $61 million, primarily relating to stock-split adjust- Notes and bonds payable 4,498 4,495
ments and other miscellaneous items. See also Note 4 of Loans and mortgages payable 2,008 814
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Total 6,595 5,421

Borrowings guaranteed by AIG:
Other realized capital gains (losses), amounted to AIGFP

$(57) million and $155 million for the three months ended GIAs 21,600 20,811
March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Notes and bonds payable 21,949 26,463

Hybrid financial instrument
liabilities 6,109 —Capital  Resources

Total 49,658 47,274
At March 31, 2006, AIG had total consolidated shareholders’ AIG Funding, Inc. commercial paper 5,089 2,694
equity of $88.39 billion and total consolidated borrowings of

AGC Notes and bonds payable 797 797
$118.8 billion. At that date, $104.1 billion of such borrow-

Liabilities connected to trust preferred
ings were either not guaranteed by AIG or were AIGFP’s stock 1,390 1,391
matched borrowings under obligations of GIAs, liabilities Total borrowings issued or guaranteed
connected to trust preferred stock, or matched notes and by AIG 63,529 57,577
bonds payable. Borrowings not guaranteed by AIG:

ILFC
Commercial paper 2,917 2,615Borrowings
Medium term notes 5,157 4,689

At March 31, 2006, AIG’s net borrowings were $14.67 bil- Notes and bonds payable* 19,451 19,026
lion after reflecting amounts that were matched borrowings Total 27,525 26,330

AGFunder AIGFP’s obligations of GIAs, matched notes and
Commercial paper 4,209 3,423bonds payable, amounts not guaranteed by AIG and liabili-
Medium term notes 16,866 17,736ties connected to trust preferred stock. The following table
Notes and bonds payable 1,692 983summarizes borrowings outstanding at March 31, 2006
Total 22,767 22,142

and December 31, 2005: Commercial paper:
AIG Credit Card Company (Taiwan) 373 476(in millions) 2006 2005
AIG Finance (Taiwan) Limited 1 –

AIG’s net borrowings $ 14,665 $ 10,425
Total 374 476

Liabilities connected to trust preferred
Loans and mortgages payable:

stock 1,390 1,391
AIGCFG 967 864

AIGFP
AIG Finance (Hong Kong) Limited 204 183

GIAs 21,600 20,811
Total 1,171 1,047

Matched notes and bonds payable 25,874 24,950
Other Subsidiaries 935 927

Borrowings not guaranteed by AIG 55,252 52,272
Variable Interest Entity debt:

Total $ 118,781 $ 109,849 A.I. Credit 876 –
AIG Global Investment Group 140 140
AIG Global Real Estate Investment 1,222 977
AIG SunAmerica 242 233

Total 2,480 1,350
Total borrowings not guaranteed by

AIG 55,252 52,272
Total Debt $118,781 $109,849

* Includes borrowings under Export Credit Facility of $2.8 billion and
$2.6 billion, at March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

AIG intends to continue its customary practice of issuing
debt securities from time to time to meet its financing needs
and those of certain of its subsidiaries for general corporate
purposes, as well as for a matched investment program.
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On April 20, 2006, AIG sold $1.0 billion principal Financial Services Operations,’’ ‘‘Liquidity’’ and ‘‘Deriva-
amount of notes in a Rule 144A/Regulation S offering bear- tives’’ herein.)
ing interest at a rate of 6.250 percent per annum and matur-

AIGFP has a Euro Medium Term Note Program under
ing in 2036. On September 30, 2005, AIG sold $1.5 billion

which an aggregate nominal amount of up to $10.0 billion of
principal amount of notes in a Rule 144A/Regulation S offer-

notes may be outstanding at any one time. The Program
ing, $500 million of which bear interest at a rate of 4.700 per-

provides that additional notes may be issued to replace ma-
cent per annum and mature in 2010 and $1.0 billion of which

tured or redeemed notes. As of March 31, 2006, $8.85 billion
bear interest at a rate of 5.05 percent per annum and mature

of notes had been issued under the program, $3.50 billion of
in 2015. These notes are senior unsecured obligations of AIG

which were outstanding including $317 million resulting
and rank equally with all of AIG’s other senior debt outstand-

from foreign exchange translation into U.S. dollars. Notes
ing. AIG has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to

issued under this program are included in Notes and Bonds
consummate an exchange offer for these notes by having

Payable in the preceding table of borrowings.
declared effective a registration statement for the September

AIG Funding, Inc. (AIG Funding), through the issuance2005 and April 2006 notes within 360 days and 240 days,
of commercial paper, helps fulfill the short-term cash require-respectively, of the date on which the notes were issued.
ments of AIG and its subsidiaries. AIG Funding intends to

On April 26, 2006, AIG completed its first offering of continue to meet AIG’s funding requirements through the
debt securities under its European medium term note pro- issuance of commercial paper guaranteed by AIG. The issu-
gram, selling Euro 750 million principal amount of notes ance of AIG Funding’s commercial paper is subject to the
bearing interest at a rate of 4.375 percent and maturing in approval of AIG’s Board of Directors.
2016, Euro 500 million principal amount of floating rate

AIG and AIG Funding are parties to unsecured syndi-
notes maturing in 2011, and British Pound Sterling 500 mil-

cated revolving credit facilities aggregating $2.75 billion,
lion principal amount of notes bearing interest at a rate of

consisting of $1.375 billion in a 364-day revolving credit
5.000 percent and maturing in 2023.

facility that expires in July of 2006 and $1.375 billion in a
Except for the Euro 500 million principal amount of five-year revolving credit facility that expires in July of 2010.

floating rate notes, the proceeds of which were used to fund The 364-day facility allows for the conversion by AIG of any
the matched investment program, the proceeds from each outstanding loans at expiration into one-year term loans. The
issuance of 144A/Regulation S notes and European medium facilities can be used for general corporate purposes and also
term notes were used for general corporate purposes, includ- to provide backup for AIG’s commercial paper programs ad-
ing the repayment of commercial paper. ministered by AIG Funding. AIG expects to replace or extend

these credit facilities on or prior to their expiration. There are
In March 2006, AIG borrowed a total of $1.3 billion on

currently no borrowings outstanding under these facilities,
an unsecured basis pursuant to loan agreements with third-

nor were any borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2006.
party banks, $500 million of which matures in February

In November 2005, AIG and AIG Funding entered into a2007 but can be extended by AIG for an additional seven-
364-day revolving credit facility for an aggregate amount ofmonth period and $800 million of which matures in March
$3 billion, which can be drawn in the form of loans or letters2007. In September 2005, AIG borrowed a total of $600 mil-
of credit. The credit facility expires in November 2006 butlion on an unsecured basis pursuant to loan agreements with
allows for the issuance of letters of credit with terms of up tothird-party banks, $500 million of which matures in August
ten years and provides for the conversion by AIG of any2006 but can be extended by AIG for an additional seven-
outstanding loans at expiration into one-year term loans. Themonth period and $100 million of which matures in Septem-
facility can be used for general corporate purposes, includingber 2006.
providing backup for AIG’s commercial paper programs ad-

AIGFP uses the proceeds from the issuance of notes and ministered by AIG Funding and obtaining letters of credit to
bonds and GIA borrowings to invest in a diversified portfolio secure obligations under insurance and reinsurance transac-
of securities and derivative transactions. The borrowings may tions. There are currently no loans outstanding under the
also be temporarily invested in securities purchased under facility, nor were any loans outstanding as of March 31,
agreements to resell. AIG guarantees the obligations of 2006. As of such dates, $1.01 billion was available to be
AIGFP under AIGFP’s structured notes and bonds and GIA drawn under the facility, with the remainder having been
borrowings. Certain of AIGFP’s notes contain embedded de- drawn in the form of letters of credit.
rivatives that are required to be accounted for separately

AIG is also a party to an unsecured 364-day inter-com-
under FAS 133. Upon AIG’s early adoption of FAS 155,

pany revolving credit facility provided by certain of its sub-
AIGFP has elected the fair value option for these instruments.

sidiaries aggregating $2 billion that expires in October of
Those notes that are accounted for using the fair value option

2006. The facility allows for the conversion of any outstand-
are reported separately under hybrid financial instrument lia-

ing loans at expiration into one-year term loans. The facility
bilities. (See also the discussions under ‘‘Operating Review:

can be used for general corporate purposes and also to pro-
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vide backup for AIG’s commercial paper programs. AIG ex- ble as the various European Export Credit Agencies provide
pects to replace or extend this credit facility on or prior to its their guarantees for aircraft based on a six-month forward-
expiration. There are currently no borrowings outstanding looking calendar, and the interest rate is determined through
under the inter-company facility, nor were any borrowings a bid process. At March 31, 2006, ILFC had $1.6 billion
outstanding as of March 31, 2006. outstanding under this facility. Borrowings with respect to

these facilities are included in Notes and Bonds Payable in theILFC fulfills its short term cash requirements through the
preceding table of borrowings.issuance of commercial paper. The issuance of commercial

paper is subject to the approval of ILFC’s Board of Directors In August 2004, ILFC received a commitment for an Ex-
and is not guaranteed by AIG. ILFC is a party to unsecured Im Bank comprehensive guarantee in the amount of
syndicated revolving credit facilities aggregating $6.0 billion $1.68 billion to support the financing of up to 30 new Boeing
at March 31, 2006. The facilities can be used for general aircraft. The initial delivery period from September 1, 2004
corporate purposes and also to provide backup for ILFC’s through August 31, 2005 has been extended by ILFC to
commercial paper program. They consist of $2.0 billion in a August 31, 2006. ILFC did not have any borrowings out-
364-day revolving credit facility that expires in October standing under this facility at March 31, 2006. From time to
2006, with a one-year term out option, $2.0 billion in a five- time, ILFC enters into various bank financings. As of
year revolving credit facility that expires in October 2009 and March 31, 2006 the total funded amount was $1.6 billion.
$2.0 billion in a five-year revolving credit facility that expires The financings mature through 2011. One tranche of one of
in October 2010. ILFC expects to replace or extend these the loans totaling $410 million was funded in Japanese yen
credit facilities on or prior to their expiration. There are cur- and swapped to U.S. dollars.
rently no borrowings under these facilities, nor were any bor-

In December of 2005, ILFC entered into two tranches ofrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2006.
junior subordinated debentures totaling $1.0 billion. Both

At March 31, 2006, ILFC had increased the aggregate
mature on December 21, 2065, but each tranche has a differ-

principal amount outstanding of its medium term and long-
ent call option. The $600 million tranche has a call date of

term notes. The foreign exchange adjustment for the foreign
December 21, 2010 and the $400 million tranche has a call

currency denominated debt was $328 million at March 31,
date of December 21, 2015. The debenture with the 2010 call

2006 and $197 million at December 31, 2005. ILFC had
date has a fixed interest rate of 5.90 percent for the first five

$13.13 billion of debt securities registered for public sale at
years. The debenture with the 2015 call date has a fixed

March 31, 2006. As of March 31, 2006, $9.96 billion of debt
interest rate of 6.25 percent for the first ten years. Both

securities were issued. In addition, ILFC has a Euro Medium
tranches have interest rate adjustments if the call option is not

Term Note Program for $7.0 billion, under which $4.98 bil-
exercised. If the call option is not exercised, the new interest

lion in notes were sold through March 31, 2006. ILFC has
rate will be a floating quarterly reset rate based on the initial

substantially eliminated the currency exposure arising from
credit spread plus the highest of (i) 3 month LIBOR, (ii) 10-

foreign currency denominated notes by economically hedging
year constant maturity treasury and (iii) 30-year constant

the portion of the note exposure not already offset by Euro
maturity treasury.

denominated operating lease payments, although such hedges
The proceeds of ILFC’s debt financing are primarily useddo not qualify for hedge accounting treatment under

to purchase flight equipment, including progress paymentsFAS 133. Notes issued under the Euro Medium Term Note
during the construction phase. The primary sources for theprogram are included in Notes and Bonds Payable in the
repayment of this debt and the interest expense thereon arepreceding table of borrowings.
the cash flow from operations, proceeds from the sale of flightILFC had a $4.3 billion Export Credit Facility for use in
equipment and the rollover and refinancing of the prior debt.connection with the purchase of approximately 75 aircraft
AIG does not guarantee the debt obligations of ILFC. (Seedelivered through 2001. This facility was guaranteed by vari-
also the discussions under ‘‘Operating Review: Financial Ser-ous European Export Credit Agencies. The interest rate varies
vices Operations’’ and ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.)from 5.75 percent to 5.90 percent on these amortizing ten-

year borrowings depending on the delivery date of the air- AGF fulfills its short term cash requirements through the
craft. At March 31, 2006, ILFC had $1.2 billion outstanding issuance of commercial paper. The issuance of commercial
under this facility. The debt is collateralized by a pledge of the paper is subject to the approval of AGF’s Board of Directors
shares of a subsidiary of ILFC, which holds title to the air- and is not guaranteed by AIG. AGF is a party to unsecured
craft financed under the facility. syndicated revolving credit facilities aggregating $4.25 bil-

lion, consisting of $2.125 billion in a 364-day revolvingIn May 2004, ILFC entered into a similarly structured
credit facility that expires in July of 2006 and $2.125 billionExport Credit Facility for up to a maximum of $2.64 billion
in a five-year revolving credit facility that expires in July offor Airbus aircraft to be delivered through May 31, 2005.
2010. The 364-day facility allows for the conversion by AGFThe facility has since been extended to include aircraft to be
of any outstanding loans at expiration into a one-year termdelivered through May 31, 2006. The facility becomes availa-
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loan. The facilities can be used for general corporate purposes ables that AGF accounts for as on-balance-sheet secured
and also to provide backup for AGF’s commercial paper pro- financings and bank financings. In addition, AGF has become
grams. AGF expects to replace or extend these credit facilities an established issuer of long-term debt in the international
on or prior to their expiration. There are currently no bor- capital markets.
rowings under these AGF facilities, nor were any borrowings

In addition to debt refinancing activities, proceeds from
outstanding as of March 31, 2006.

the collection of finance receivables will be used to pay the
During 2005, AGF issued $5.44 billion of fixed rate and principal and interest with respect to AGF’s debt. AIG does

variable rate medium term notes ranging in maturities from not guarantee any of the debt obligations of AGF. See also the
two to ten years. As of March 31, 2006, notes aggregating discussion under ‘‘Operating Review — Financial Services
$16.87 billion were outstanding with maturity dates ranging Operations’’ and ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.
from 2006 to 2015 at interest rates ranging from 1.84 percent

AIG Credit Card Company (Taiwan) and AIG Finance
to 7.50 percent. To the extent deemed appropriate, AGF may

(Taiwan) Limited, both consumer finance subsidiaries in Tai-
enter into swap transactions to manage its effective borrow-

wan, have issued commercial paper for the funding of their
ing with respect to these notes.

own operations. AIG did not guarantee the commercial paper
AGF’s other funding sources include private placement issued by either of these subsidiaries.

debt, retail note issuances, securitizations of finance receiv-

Contractual  Obligations  and Other  Commercial  Commitments

The maturity schedule of AIG’s contractual obligations at March 31, 2006 was as follows:
(in millions)

Payments due by Period
Less One Four
Than Through Through

Total One Three Five After Five
Payments Year Years Years Years

Borrowings(a) $103,712 $ 43,853 $ 22,024 $ 19,156 $ 18,679
Loss reserves(b) 78,100 21,477 23,821 11,325 21,477
Insurance and investment contract liabilities(c) 628,401 30,819 47,966 45,005 504,611
Aircraft purchase commitments 21,428 4,146 10,523 3,775 2,984
Total $831,641 $100,295 $104,334 $ 79,261 $547,751

(a) Excludes commercial paper and obligations included as debt pursuant to FIN 46R and includes hybrid financial instrument liabilities.

(b) Represents future loss and loss adjustment expense payments estimated based on historical loss development payment patterns.

(c) Insurance and investment contract liabilities include various investment-type products with contractually scheduled maturities including periodic payments

of a term certain nature and guaranteed maturities under guaranteed investment contracts. Insurance and investment contract liabilities also include benefit

and claim liabilities, of which a significant portion represents policies and contracts that do not have stated contractual maturity dates and may not result in

any future payment obligations. For these policies and contracts (i) AIG is currently not making payments until the occurrence of an insurable event, such as

death or disability, (ii) payments are conditional on survivorship, or (iii) the occurrence of a payment due to a surrender or other non-scheduled event out of

AIG’s control. AIG has made significant assumptions to determine the estimated undiscounted cash flows of these contractual policy benefits which include

mortality, morbidity, future lapse rates, expenses, investment returns and interest crediting rates, offset by expected future deposits and premium on in-force

policies. Due to the significance of the assumptions used, the amounts presented could be materially different from actual required payments. The amounts

presented in this table are undiscounted and therefore exceed the future policy benefits and policyholder contract deposits included in the balance sheet.

67



American International Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

The maturity schedule of AIG’s other commercial commitments by segment at March 31, 2006 was as follows:
(in millions)

Amount of Commitment Expiration
Less One Four

Total Than Through Through After
Amounts One Three Five Five

Committed Year Years Years Years

Letters of credit:
Life Insurance & Retirement Services $ 185 $ 50 $ 5 $ 22 $ 108
DBG 250 250 – – –

Standby letters of credit:
Capital Markets 1,749 12 33 49 1,655

Guarantees:
Life Insurance & Retirement Services(a) 3,437 109 388 – 2,940
Aircraft Finance 125 3 40 – 82
Asset Management 88 49 7 32 –
Parent Company(b) 397 396 1 – –

Other commercial commitments(c):
Capital Markets(d) 11,152 2,786 1,277 700 6,389
Aircraft Finance(e) 1,883 – 131 868 884
Life Insurance & Retirement Services(f) 3,424 562 1,193 822 847
Asset Management 549 394 140 15 –
DBG(g) 1,086 – – – 1,086

Total $ 24,325 $ 4,611 $ 3,215 $ 2,508 $13,991

(a) Primarily AIG SunAmerica construction guarantees connected to affordable housing investments.

(b) Represents reimbursement obligations under letters of credit issued by commercial banks.

(c) Excludes commitments with respect to pension plans. The annual pension contribution for 2006 is expected to be approximately $70 million for U.S. and

non-U.S. Plans.

(d) Primarily liquidity facilities provided in connection with certain municipal swap transactions and collateralized bond obligations.

(e) Primarily in connection with options to acquire aircraft.

(f) Primarily AIG SunAmerica commitments to invest in partnerships.

(g) Primarily commitments to invest in limited partnerships.

‘‘Rating triggers’’ have been defined by one independent $896 million of additional collateral. Further, additional down-
rating agency to include clauses or agreements the outcome of grades could result in requirements for substantial additional
which depends upon the level of ratings maintained by one or collateral, which could have a material effect on how AIG man-
more rating agencies. Rating triggers generally relate to ages its liquidity. The actual amount of additional collateral that
events which (i) could result in the termination or limitation AIG would be required to post to counterparties in the event of
of credit availability, or require accelerated repayment, such downgrades depends on market conditions, the market
(ii) could result in the termination of business contracts or value of the outstanding affected transactions and other factors
(iii) could require a company to post collateral for the benefit prevailing at the time of the downgrade. Any additional obliga-
of counterparties. tions to post collateral will increase the demand on AIG’s

liquidity.
AIG believes that any of its or its subsidiaries’ contrac-

tual obligations that are subject to ‘‘ratings triggers’’ or finan-
Shareholders’  Equity

cial covenants relating to ‘‘ratings triggers’’ would not have a
AIG’s consolidated shareholders’ equity increased $2.07 bil-material adverse effect on its financial condition or liquidity.
lion during the first three months of 2006. Retained earnings

As a result of the downgrades of AIG’s long-term senior
increased $3.10 billion, resulting from net income of $3.2 bil-

debt ratings, AIG was required to post approximately $1.16 bil-
lion and $308 million reflecting the cumulative effect of ac-

lion of collateral with counterparties to municipal guaranteed
counting changes relating to the adoption of FSP 85-4-1 and

investment agreements and financial derivatives transactions. In
FAS 155 less dividends of $400 million. Unrealized apprecia-

the event of a further downgrade, AIG will be required to post
tion of investments, net of taxes decreased $1.50 billion and

additional collateral. It is estimated that, as of the close of busi-
the cumulative translation adjustment loss, net of taxes, de-

ness on April 30, 2006 based on AIG’s outstanding municipal
creased $260 million. During the first three months of 2006

guaranteed investment agreements and financial derivatives
there was a gain of $17 million, net of taxes, relating to

transactions as of such date, a further downgrade of AIG’s long-
derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedging instru-

term senior debt ratings to ‘Aa3’ by Moody’s or ‘AA–’ by S&P
ments. (See also the discussion under ‘‘Operating Review’’

would permit counterparties to call for approximately
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and ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein and the Consolidated Statement of lates an individual insurance company’s statutory surplus to
Comprehensive Income.) the risk inherent in its overall operations.

AIG has in the past reinvested most of its unrestricted AIG’s insurance subsidiaries file financial statements pre-
earnings in its operations and believes such continued rein- pared in accordance with statutory accounting practices pre-
vestment in the future will be adequate to meet any foresee- scribed or permitted by domestic and foreign insurance
able capital needs. However, AIG may choose from time to regulatory authorities. The principal differences between stat-
time to raise additional funds through the issuance of addi- utory financial statements and financial statements prepared
tional securities. in accordance with U.S. GAAP for domestic companies are

that statutory financial statements do not reflect deferred pol-
Stock  Purchase icy acquisition costs, some bond portfolios may be carried at

amortized cost, assets and liabilities are presented net of rein-During the period January 1, 2006 through March 31, 2006,
surance, policyholder liabilities are valued using more con-AIG did not purchase any shares of its common stock under
servative assumptions and certain assets are non-admitted.its existing share repurchase authorization. AIG from time to

time may buy shares of its common stock in the open market AIG recently filed the 2005 statutory financial state-
for general corporate purposes, including to satisfy its obliga- ments for its domestic General Insurance companies after
tions under various employee benefit plans. At March 31, reviewing and agreeing with the relevant state insurance regu-
2006, an additional 36,542,700 shares could be purchased lators on the statutory accounting treatment of various items.
under the then current authorization by AIG’s Board of The regulatory authorities have also permitted certain of the
Directors. domestic and foreign insurance subsidiaries to support the

carrying value of their investments in certain non-insurance
Dividends  from Insurance  Subsidiaries and foreign insurance subsidiaries by utilizing the AIG au-

dited consolidated financial statements to satisfy the require-Payments of dividends to AIG by its insurance subsidiaries are
ment that the U.S. GAAP-basis equity of such entities besubject to certain restrictions imposed by regulatory authorities.
audited. In addition, the regulatory authorities have permit-With respect to AIG’s domestic insurance subsidiaries, the pay-
ted the domestic General Insurance companies to utilize au-ment of any dividend requires formal notice to the insurance
dited financial statements prepared on a basis of accountingdepartment in which the particular insurance subsidiary is dom-
other than U.S. GAAP to value investments in joint ventures,iciled. Under the laws of many states, an insurer may pay a
limited partnerships and hedge funds. These permitted prac-dividend without prior approval of the insurance regulator
tices did not affect the domestic General Insurance compa-when the amount of the dividend is below certain regulatory
nies’ compliance with minimum regulatory capitalthresholds. To enhance their current capital positions, dividends
requirements.from the DBG companies were suspended in the fourth quarter

of 2005, and AIG has taken various other actions. See ‘‘Regula- Statutory capital of each company continued to exceed
tion and Supervision’’ below. Furthermore, AIG cannot predict minimum company action level requirements following the
how recent regulatory investigations may affect the ability of its adjustments, but AIG nonetheless contributed an additional
regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends. $750 million of capital into American Home effective Sep-

tember 30, 2005 and contributed a further $2.25 billion ofWith respect to AIG’s foreign insurance subsidiaries, the
capital in February 2006 for a total of approximately $3 bil-most significant insurance regulatory jurisdictions include
lion of capital into Domestic General Insurance subsidiariesBermuda, Japan, Hong Kong, Taiwan, the United Kingdom,
effective December 31, 2005. To enhance their current capitalThailand and Singapore.
positions, dividends from the DBG companies were sus-

AIG cannot predict whether the regulatory investiga- pended in the fourth quarter of 2005. AIG believes it has the
tions currently underway or future regulatory issues will im- capital resources and liquidity to fund any necessary statu-
pair AIG’s financial condition, results of operations or tory capital contributions. AIG will review the capital posi-
liquidity. To AIG’s knowledge, no AIG company is currently tion of its insurance company subsidiaries with various rating
on any regulatory or similar ‘‘watch list’’ with regard to sol- agencies and regulators to determine if additional capital con-
vency. (See also the discussion under ‘‘Liquidity’’ herein.) tributions or other actions are warranted.

As discussed above, various regulators have commencedRegulation  and Supervision
investigations into certain insurance business practices. In ad-

AIG’s insurance subsidiaries, in common with other insurers, dition, the OTS and other regulators routinely conduct exam-
are subject to regulation and supervision by the states and inations of AIG and its subsidiaries, including AIG’s
jurisdictions in which they do business. In the U.S. the Na- consumer finance operations. AIG cannot predict the ulti-
tional Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) has mate effect that these investigations and examinations, or any
developed Risk-Based Capital (RBC) requirements. RBC re- additional regulation arising therefrom, might have on its
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business. Federal, state or local legislation may affect AIG’s Liquidity
ability to operate and expand its various financial services

AIG’s liquidity is primarily derived from the operating cashbusinesses, and changes in the current laws, regulations or
flows of its General and Life Insurance & Retirement Servicesinterpretations thereof may have a material adverse effect on
operations. Management believes that AIG’s liquid assets, itsthese businesses. See ‘‘Risk Factors — Regulatory Investiga-
net cash provided by operations, and access to short-termtions’’ in Item 1A. of Part I of AIG’s 2005 Annual Report on
funding through commercial paper and bank credit facilitiesForm 10-K for a further discussion of the effect these investi-
will enable it to meet any anticipated cash requirements.gations may have on AIG’s businesses.

At March 31, 2006, AIG’s consolidated invested assetsAIG’s U.S. operations are negatively affected under guar-
included $18.59 billion of cash and short-term investments.antee fund assessment laws which exist in most states. As a
Consolidated net cash provided by operating activities in theresult of operating in a state which has guarantee fund assess-
first three months of 2006 amounted to $3.07 billion.ment laws, a solvent insurance company may be assessed for

certain obligations arising from the insolvencies of other in- The liquidity of the combined insurance operations is
surance companies which operated in that state. AIG gener- derived both domestically and abroad. The combined insur-
ally records these assessments upon notice. Additionally, ance operating cash flow is derived from two sources, under-
certain states permit at least a portion of the assessed amount writing operations and investment operations. Cash flow
to be used as a credit against a company’s future premium tax includes periodic premium collections, including policyhold-
liabilities. Therefore, the ultimate net assessment cannot rea- ers’ contract deposits, cash flows from investment operations
sonably be estimated. The guarantee fund assessments net of and paid loss recoveries less reinsurance premiums, losses,
credits for the first three months of 2006 were $3 million. benefits, and acquisition and operating expenses. Generally,

there is a time lag from when premiums are collected and,AIG is also required to participate in various involuntary
when as a result of the occurrence of events specified in thepools (principally workers compensation business) which
policy, the losses and benefits are paid. Investment incomeprovide insurance coverage for those not able to obtain such
cash flow is primarily derived from interest and dividendscoverage in the voluntary markets. This participation is also
received and includes realized capital gains net of realizedrecorded upon notification, as these amounts cannot reasona-
capital losses. (See also the discussions under ‘‘Operating Re-bly be estimated.
view: General Insurance Operations’’ and ‘‘Life Insurance &

A substantial portion of AIG’s General Insurance busi- Retirement Services Operations’’ herein.)
ness and a majority of its Life Insurance & Retirement Ser-

With respect to General Insurance operations, if paidvices business are conducted in foreign countries. The degree
losses accelerated beyond AIG’s ability to fund such paidof regulation and supervision in foreign jurisdictions varies.
losses from current operating cash flows, AIG might need toGenerally, AIG, as well as the underwriting companies oper-
liquidate a portion of its General Insurance investment port-ating in such jurisdictions, must satisfy local regulatory re-
folio and/or arrange for financing. Potential events causingquirements. Licenses issued by foreign authorities to AIG
such a liquidity strain could be the result of several significantsubsidiaries are subject to modification and revocation. Thus,
catastrophic events occurring in a relatively short period ofAIG’s insurance subsidiaries could be prevented from con-
time. Additional strain on liquidity could occur if the invest-ducting future business in certain of the jurisdictions where
ments sold to fund such paid losses were sold into a depressedthey currently operate. AIG’s international operations in-
market place and/or reinsurance recoverable on such paidclude operations in various developing nations. Both current
losses became uncollectible or collateral supporting such rein-and future foreign operations could be adversely affected by
surance recoverable significantly decreased in value. (See alsounfavorable political developments up to and including na-
the discussions under ‘‘Operating Review: General Insurancetionalization of AIG’s operations without compensation. Ad-
Operations’’ herein.)verse effects resulting from any one country may affect AIG’s

results of operations, liquidity and financial condition de- With respect to Life Insurance & Retirement Services
pending on the magnitude of the event and AIG’s net finan- operations, if a substantial portion of the Life Insurance &
cial exposure at that time in that country. Retirement Services operations bond portfolio diminished

significantly in value and/or defaulted, AIG might need toForeign operations are individually subject to local sol-
liquidate other portions of its Life Insurance & Retirementvency margin requirements that require maintenance of ade-
Services investment portfolio and/or arrange financing. Po-quate capitalization, which AIG complies with by country. In
tential events causing such a liquidity strain could be theaddition, certain foreign locations, notably Japan, have estab-
result of economic collapse of a nation or region in whichlished regulations that can result in guarantee fund assessments.
AIG Life Insurance & Retirement Services operations exist,These have not had a material effect on AIG’s operations.
nationalization, terrorist acts, or other such economic or po-
litical upheaval. In addition, a significant rise in interest rates
leading to a significant increase in policyholder surrenders
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could also create a liquidity strain. (See also the discussions year revolving bank credit facility that expires in July 2010
under ‘‘Operating Review: Life Insurance & Retirement Ser- and a $3 billion 364-day revolving credit facility that expires
vices Operations’’ herein.) in November 2006, of which $1.01 billion is currently availa-

ble as back-up liquidity. AIG parent’s primary sources of cash
In addition to the combined insurance pretax operating

flow are dividends and loans from its subsidiaries. AIG par-
cash flow, AIG’s insurance operations held $10.36 billion in

ent’s primary uses of cash flow are for debt service, capital
cash and short-term investments at March 31, 2006. Operat-

contributions to subsidiaries and the payment of dividends to
ing cash flow and the cash and short-term balances held pro-

shareholders. As of March 31, 2006, including debt obliga-
vided AIG’s insurance operations with a significant amount

tions of AGC that are guaranteed by AIG, remaining debt
of liquidity. AIG subsidiaries have also issued debt securities

and loan maturities due in 2006 are $0, $600 million and $0
to meet capital needs. In December 2005, Transatlantic is-

for the second, third and fourth quarters, respectively. Ac-
sued $750 million of debt securities in a public offering, of

cording to the terms of the Zero Coupon Convertible Senior
which $450 million were purchased by other AIG subsidiar-

Debentures issued by AIG on November 9, 2001, holders can
ies. Transatlantic contributed the proceeds of the offering to a

require AIG to repurchase the debentures once every five
reinsurance company subsidiary.

years beginning on November 9, 2006. Assuming that all of
This liquidity is available, among other things, to the outstanding debentures are required to be repurchased by

purchase predominately high quality and diversified fixed in- AIG on November 9, 2006, the aggregate repurchase price
come securities and, to a lesser extent, marketable equity payable by AIG on that date will be approximately $1.10 bil-
securities, and to provide mortgage loans on real estate, pol- lion. See also Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
icy loans and collateral loans. This cash flow coupled with Statements in AIG’s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K for
proceeds of approximately $30 billion from the maturities, additional information on debt maturities for AIG and its
sales and redemptions of fixed income securities and from the subsidiaries.
sale of equity securities was used to purchase approximately
$39 billion of fixed income securities and marketable equity Special  Purpose Vehicles and Off Balance
securities during the first three months of 2006. Sheet Arrangements

AIG’s major Financial Services operating subsidiaries AIG uses special purpose vehicles (SPVs) and off balance
consist of AIGFP, ILFC, AGF and AIGCFG. Sources of funds sheet arrangements in the ordinary course of business. As a
considered in meeting the liquidity needs of AIGFP’s opera- result of recent changes in accounting, a number of SPVs and
tions include guaranteed investment agreements, issuance of off balance sheet arrangements have been reflected in AIG’s
long-term and short-term debt, proceeds from maturities and consolidated financial statements. In January 2003, FASB is-
sales of securities available for sale, securities sold under re- sued Interpretation No. 46, ‘‘Consolidation of Variable Inter-
purchase agreements, and securities and spot commodities est Entities’’ (FIN 46). FIN 46 addressed the consolidation
sold but not yet purchased. ILFC, AGF and AIGCFG all and disclosure rules for nonoperating entities that are now
utilize the commercial paper markets, retail and wholesale defined as Variable Interest Entities (VIEs). In December
deposits, bank loans and bank credit facilities as sources of 2003, FASB issued a revision to Interpretation No. 46
liquidity. ILFC and AGF also fund in the domestic and inter- (FIN 46R).
national capital markets without reliance on any guarantee

AIG has guidelines with respect to the formation of and
from AIG. An additional source of liquidity for ILFC is the

investment in SPVs and off balance sheet arrangements. In
use of export credit facilities. AIGCFG also uses wholesale

addition, AIG has expanded the responsibility of its Complex
and retail bank deposits as sources of funds. On occasion,

Structured Financial Transaction Committee (CSFT) to in-
AIG has provided equity capital to ILFC, AGF and AIGCFG

clude the review of any transaction that could subject AIG to
and provides intercompany loans to AIGCFG. An AIG sub-

heightened legal, reputational, regulatory, accounting or
sidiary purchased additional shares of ILFC in the amount of

other risk. See ‘‘Management’s Report on Internal Control
$400 million during the third quarter of 2005. Cash flow

Over Financial Reporting’’ in Item 9A. of Part II included in
provided from operations is a major source of liquidity for

AIG’s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a further dis-
AIG’s primary Financial Services operating subsidiaries.

cussion of the CSFT.
AIG, the parent company, funds its short-term working

For additional information related to AIG’s activities
capital needs through commercial paper issued by AIG Fund-

with respect to VIEs and certain guarantees see ‘‘Recent Ac-
ing. As of March 31, 2006, AIG Funding had $5.09 billion of

counting Standards’’ herein and also Note 8 of Notes to Con-
commercial paper outstanding with an average maturity of

solidated Financial Statements. Also, for additional
25 days. As additional liquidity, AIG parent has a $2 billion

disclosure regarding AIG’s commercial commitments (includ-
inter-company revolving credit facility provided by certain of

ing guarantors), see ‘‘Contractual Obligations and Other
its subsidiaries, a $1.375 billion 364-day revolving bank

Commercial Commitments’’ herein.
credit facility that expires in July 2006, a $1.375 billion five
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except those derivative transactions entered into by AIGFP withDerivatives
third parties. The committee examines, among other things, the

Derivatives are financial instruments among two or more par- nature and purpose of the derivative transaction, its potential
ties with returns linked to or ‘‘derived’’ from some underlying credit exposure, if any, and the estimated benefits.
equity, debt, commodity or other asset, liability, or index.
Derivatives payments may be based on interest rates and ex- Managing Market Risk
change rates and/or prices of certain securities, commodities, Market risk is the risk of loss of fair value resulting from
financial or commodity indices, or other variables. The more adverse fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currencies, equi-
significant types of derivative arrangements in which AIG ties and commodity prices. AIG has exposures to these risks.
transacts are swaps, forwards, futures and options. In the

AIG analyzes market risk using various statistical tech-normal course of business, with the agreement of the original
niques including Value at Risk (VaR). VaR is a summary statis-counterparty, these contracts may be terminated early or as-
tical measure that applies the estimated volatility andsigned to another counterparty.
correlation of market factors to AIG’s market positions. The

The overwhelming majority of AIG’s derivatives activi- output from the VaR calculation is the maximum loss that
ties are conducted by the Capital Markets operations, thus could occur over a defined period of time given a certain
permitting AIG to participate in the derivatives dealer market probability. While VaR models are relatively sophisticated, the
acting primarily as principal. In these derivative operations, quantitative market risk information generated is limited by
AIG structures transactions that generally allow its the assumptions and parameters established in creating the
counterparties to obtain or hedge exposure to changes in related models. AIG believes that statistical models alone do
interest and foreign currency exchange rates, credit events, not provide a reliable method of monitoring and controlling
securities’ prices and certain commodities and financial or market risk. Therefore, such models are tools and do not sub-
commodity indices. AIG’s customers – such as corporations, stitute for the experience or judgment of senior management.
financial institutions, multinational organizations, sovereign

Insuranceentities, government agencies and municipalities – use deriva-
tives to hedge their own market exposures. For example, a AIG has performed a separate VaR analysis for the General
futures, forward or option contract can be used to protect the Insurance and Life Insurance & Retirement Services segments
customers’ assets or liabilities against price fluctuations. and for each market risk within each segment. For purposes of

the VaR calculation, the insurance assets and liabilities fromA counterparty may default on any obligation to AIG,
GICs are included in the Life Insurance & Retirement Servicesincluding a derivative contract. Credit risk is a consequence
segment. For the calculations in the analyses the financial instru-of extending credit and/or carrying trading and investment
ment assets included are the insurance segments’ invested assets,positions. Credit risk exists for a derivative contract when
excluding real estate and investment income due and accrued,that contract has a positive fair value to AIG. To help manage
and the financial instrument liabilities included are reserve forthis risk, AIGFP’s credit department operates within the
losses and loss expenses, reserve for unearned premiums, futureguidelines set by the AIG Credit Risk Committee. This com-
policy benefits for life and accident and health insurance con-mittee establishes the credit policy, sets limits for counterpar-
tracts and other policyholders’ funds.ties and provides limits for derivative transactions with

counterparties having different credit ratings. In addition to AIG calculated the VaR with respect to the net fair value
credit ratings, this committee takes into account other fac- of each of AIG’s insurance segments as of March 31, 2006
tors, including the industry and country of the counterparty. and December 31, 2005. The VaR number represents the
Transactions which fall outside these pre-established guide- maximum potential loss as of those dates that could be in-
lines require the specific approval of the AIG Credit Risk curred with a 95 percent confidence (i.e., only five percent of
Committee. It is also AIG’s policy to establish reserves for historical scenarios show losses greater than the VaR figure)
potential credit impairment when necessary. within a one-month holding period. AIG uses the historical

simulation methodology that entails repricing all assets andIn addition, AIGFP utilizes various credit enhancements,
liabilities under explicit changes in market rates within a spe-including letters of credit, guarantees, collateral, credit trig-
cific historical time period. AIG uses the most recent threegers, credit derivatives, and margin agreements to reduce the
years of historical market information for interest rates, for-credit risk relating to its outstanding financial derivative
eign exchange rates, and equity index prices. For each scena-transactions. AIGFP requires credit enhancements in connec-
rio, each transaction was repriced. Portfolio, business unittion with specific transactions based on, among other things,
and finally AIG-wide scenario values are then calculated bythe creditworthiness of the counterparties, and the transac-
netting the values of all the underlying assets and liabilities.tion’s size and maturity.

AIG’s Derivatives Review Committee provides an indepen-
dent review of any proposed derivative transaction or program
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The following table presents the VaR on a combined basis and of each component of market risk for each of AIG’s
insurance segments as of March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. Due to diversification effects, the combined VaR is
always smaller than the sum of its components.

Life Insurance &
Retirement

General Insurance Services
(in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005

Market risk:
Combined $1,673 $1,617 $5,260 $4,515
Interest rate 1,636 1,717 5,032 4,382
Currency 119 130 597 541
Equity 560 535 795 762

The following table presents the average, high and low VaRs on a combined basis and of each component of market risk for
each of AIG’s insurance segments as of March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. Due to diversification effects, the
combined VaR is always smaller than the sum of its components.

2006 2005
(in millions) Average High Low Average High Low

General Insurance:
Market risk:

Combined $1,645 $1,673 $1,617 $1,585 $1,672 $1,396
Interest rate 1,677 1,717 1,636 1,746 1,931 1,563
Currency 125 130 119 125 139 111
Equity 547 560 535 651 727 535

Life Insurance & Retirement Services:
Market risk:

Combined $4,888 $5,260 $4,515 $4,737 $5,024 $4,515
Interest rate 4,707 5,032 4,382 4,488 4,750 4,382
Currency 569 597 541 511 560 442
Equity 778 795 762 953 1,024 762

In the Life Insurance & Retirement Services segment, the fair value through the application of a VaR model. In this
increase in Combined VaR and Interest rate VaR in 2006 was analysis, the net fair value of Aircraft Finance operations was
primarily the result of growth in the Foreign Life business. In determined using the financial instrument assets which in-
most Asian markets, interest rates and interest rate volatilities cluded the tax adjusted future flight equipment lease revenue,
were stable during the quarter. and the financial instrument liabilities which included the

future servicing of the current debt. The estimated effect of
Financial  Services the current derivative positions was also taken into account.

AIG generally manages its market exposures within Financial AIG calculated the VaR with respect to the net fair value
Services by maintaining offsetting positions. Capital Markets of Aircraft Finance operations using the historical simulation
seeks to minimize or set limits for open or uncovered market methodology, as previously described. As of March 31, 2006
positions. Credit exposure is managed separately. (See the and December 31, 2005, the average VaR with respect to the
discussion on the management of credit risk above.) net fair value of Aircraft Finance operations was approxi-

mately $196 million and $129 million, respectively. In lateAIG’s Market Risk Management Department provides
2005, ILFC lengthened the average maturity of its debt, lead-detailed independent review of AIG’s market exposures, par-
ing to an increase in its VaR.ticularly those market exposures of the Capital Markets oper-

ations. This department determines whether AIG’s market Capital Markets operations are exposed to market risk
risks, as well as those market risks of individual subsidiaries, due to changes in the level and volatility of interest rates,
are within the parameters established by AIG’s senior man- foreign currency exchange rates, equity prices and commod-
agement. Well established market risk management tech- ity prices. AIGFP hedges its exposure to these risks primarily
niques such as sensitivity analysis are used. Additionally, this through swaps, options, forwards and futures. To economi-
department verifies that specific market risks of each of cer- cally hedge interest rate risks, AIGFP may also purchase U.S.
tain subsidiaries are managed and hedged by that subsidiary. and foreign government obligations.

ILFC is exposed to market risk and the risk of loss of fair AIGFP does not seek to manage the market risk of each
value and possible liquidity strain resulting from adverse fluc- transaction through an individual third party offsetting trans-
tuations in interest rates. As of March 31, 2006 and action. Rather, AIGFP takes a portfolio approach to the man-
December 31, 2005, AIG statistically measured the loss of agement of its market risk exposures. AIGFP values the
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predominant portion of its market-sensitive transactions by Capital Markets asset and liability portfolios for which
marking them to market currently through income. A smaller the VaR analyses were performed included over the counter
portion is priced by estimated fair value based upon an extra- and exchange traded investments, derivative instruments and
polation of market factors. There is another limited portion commodities. Because the market risk with respect to securi-
of transactions where the initial fair value is not recorded ties available for sale, at market, is substantially hedged, seg-
through income currently and gains or losses are recognized regation of market sensitive instruments into trading and
over the life of the transactions. These valuations represent an other than trading was not deemed necessary. The VaR calcu-
assessment of the present values of expected future cash flows lation is unaffected by the accounting treatment of hedged
and may include reserves for such risks as are deemed appro- transactions under FAS 133.
priate by AIGFP and AIG management. In the calculation of VaR for Capital Markets opera-

The recorded values of these transactions may be differ- tions, AIG uses the same historical simulation methodology,
ent from the values that might be realized if AIGFP were described under Insurance above, which entails repricing all
required to sell or close out the transactions prior to maturity. assets and liabilities under explicit changes in market rates
AIG believes that such differences are not significant to its within a specific historical time period. AIGFP has recently
financial condition or liquidity. Such differences would be enhanced its library of factors by including implied option
immediately recognized when the transactions are sold or volatilities to construct the historical scenarios for
closed out prior to maturity. simulation.

AIGFP attempts to secure reliable and independent cur- The following table presents the VaR on a combined basis
rent market prices, such as published exchange prices, exter- and of each component of market risk for Capital Markets
nal subscription services such as from Bloomberg or Reuters operations as of March 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005.
or third-party broker quotes for use in this model. When such Due to diversification effects, the combined VaR is always
prices are not available, AIGFP use an internal methodology smaller than the sum of its components.

(in millions) 2006 2005which includes extrapolation from observable and verifiable
prices nearest to the dates of the transactions. Historically, Combined $20 $22

Interest rate 8 9actual results have not materially deviated from these models
Currency 6 3in any material respect. 
Equity 12 14

Systems used by Capital Markets operations can moni- Commodity 16 9
tor each unit’s respective market positions on an intraday

The following table presents the average, high and lowbasis. AIGFP operates in major business centers overseas and
VaRs on a combined basis and of each component of mar-therefore is open for business essentially 24 hours a day.
ket risk for Capital Markets operations as of March 31,Thus, the market exposure and offset strategies are moni-
2006 and December 31, 2005. Due to diversification ef-tored, reviewed and coordinated around the clock.
fects, the combined VaR is always smaller than the sum ofAIGFP applies various testing techniques which reflect
its components.significant potential market movements in interest rates, for-

2006 2005
eign exchange rates, commodity and equity prices, volatility (in millions) Average High Low Average High Low
levels and the effect of time. These techniques vary by cur-

Combined $21 $22 $20 $17 $22 $13
rency and are regularly changed to reflect factors affecting the Interest rate 8 9 8 9 11 6
derivatives portfolio. The results from these analyses are reg- Currency 5 6 3 4 6 3
ularly reviewed by AIG management. Equity 13 14 12 9 16 5

Commodity 13 16 9 8 10 7As described above, Capital Markets operations are ex-
posed to the risk of loss of fair value from adverse fluctua- Recent Accounting Standards
tions in interest rate and foreign currency exchange rates and

At the March 2004 meeting, the Emerging Issue Task Forceequity and commodity prices as well as implied volatilities
(EITF) reached a consensus with respect to Issue No. 03-1,thereon. AIG statistically measures the losses of fair value
‘‘The Meaning of Other-Than Temporary Impairment and Itsthrough the application of a VaR model across Capital
Application to Certain Investments.’’ On September 30,Markets.
2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) EITF Issue
03-1-1, Effective Date of Paragraphs 10-20 of EITF Issue
No. 03-1, ‘‘The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impair-
ment and Its Application to Certain Investments.’’ In Novem-
ber 2005, FASB issued FSP FAS 115-1, ‘‘The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments,’’ which replaces the measurement and
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recognition guidance set forth in Issue No. 03-1 and codifies FAS 123R. The modified prospective application method pro-
certain existing guidance on impairment. vides for the recognition of the fair value with respect to

share-based compensation for shares subscribed for orIn March 2005, FASB issued FSP FIN46R-5 ‘‘Implicit
granted on or after January 1, 2006 and all previouslyVariable Interests under FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised
granted but unvested awards as of January 1, 2006.December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest

Entities.’’ The adoption of FAS 123R resulted in share-based com-
pensation expense of approximately $8 million during theOn June 1, 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154,
first three months of 2006, related to awards which were‘‘Accounting Changes and Error Corrections’’ (FAS 154).
accounted for under the provisions of Accounting PrinciplesFAS 154 replaces APB Opinion No. 20, ‘‘Accounting
Board Opinion No. 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Em-Changes’’ and FASB Statement No. 3, ‘‘Reporting Account-
ployees.’’ Consistent with AIG’s prospective adoption of theing Changes in Interim Financial Statements.’’
requirements of FAS 123, AIG did not include the compensa-

At the June 2005 meeting, the EITF reached a consensus tion expense related to these awards in its Consolidated State-
with respect to Issue No. 04-5, ‘‘Determining Whether a Gen- ment of Income. Instead, the effect of these awards was
eral Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a disclosed in the pro forma disclosures required by FAS 123.
Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Part- AIG expects this expense to approximate $31 million for
ners have Certain Rights.’’ fiscal 2006. FAS 123R also requires AIG to estimate forfeit-

On June 29, 2005, FASB issued Statement 133 Imple- ures in calculating the expense relating to share-based com-
mentation Issue No. B38, ‘‘Embedded Derivatives: Evalua- pensation, rather than recognizing these forfeitures and
tion of Net Settlement with Respect to the Settlement of a corresponding reductions in expense as they occur. The pre-
Debt Instrument through Exercise of an Embedded Put Op- tax cumulative effect of adoption, recognized as a reduction
tion or Call Option.’’ in stock-based compensation of $46 million, was recorded as

a cumulative effect of an accounting change net of tax.On June 29, 2005, FASB issued Statement 133 Imple-
FAS 123R requires AIG to reflect the cash savings resultingmentation issue No. B39, ‘‘Application of Paragraph 13(b) to
from excess tax benefits in its financial statements as cashCall Options That Are Exercisable Only by the Debtor.’’
flow from financing activities, rather than as cash flow from

On September 19, 2005, FASB issued Statement of Posi- operating activities as in prior periods. The amount of this
tion 05-1, ‘‘Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for Deferred excess tax benefit for the three months ending March 31,
Acquisition Costs in Connection with Modifications or Ex- 2006 was $1.7 million.
changes of Insurance Contracts.’’

As a result of FAS 123R, excluding the cumulative effect
On February 16, 2006, FASB issued FAS No. 155, ‘‘Ac- of adoption, AIG’s income before income taxes and net in-

counting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments.’’ come for the three months ended March 31, 2006 was
On March 27, 2006, the FASB issued FSP FTB 85-4-1, $8 million and $5 million, respectively, lower than if AIG had

‘‘Accounting for Life Settlement Contracts by Third-Party continued to account for share-based compensation under
Investors’’ (FSP 85-4-1), an amendment of FTB 85-4, ‘‘Ac- FAS 123. The effect on basic and diluted earnings for the
counting for Purchases of Life Insurance.’’ three months ended March 31, 2006 was less than $0.01 per

share.On April 13, 2006, the FASB issued FSP FIN 46(R)-6,
‘‘Determining the Variability to be Considered in Applying AIG uses a variety of assumptions and a binomial model
FASB Interpretation No. 46(R).’’ to calculate the fair value of share-based compensation

programs.From January 1, 2003 through December 31, 2005, AIG
accounted for share-based payment transactions with em- The contractual term of options granted is generally
ployees under FAS 123, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Com- 10 years with an expected term of 7 years calculated based on
pensation.’’ Share-based employee compensation expense an analysis of historical employee exercise behavior and em-
was not recognized in the statement of income in prior peri- ployee turnover (post-vesting terminations).
ods. Effective January 1, 2006, AIG adopted the fair value Expected volatility is the average of historical volatility
recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting and the implied volatility of actively traded options on
Standards No. 123R ‘‘Share-Based Payments’’ (FAS 123R). AIG shares.
FAS 123R requires that companies use a fair value method to

Dividend yield is based on the twelve month period priorvalue share-based payments and recognize the related com-
to the grant date. Interest rate curves used in the valuationpensation expense in net earnings. AIG adopted FAS 123R
model were the US Treasury STRIP rates with terms fromusing the Modified Prospective Application method, and ac-
3 months to 10 years.cordingly, financial statement amounts for the prior periods

presented have not been restated to reflect the fair value As of March 31, 2006, the total unrecognized compensa-
method of expensing share-based compensation under tion costs (net of expected forfeitures) related to
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share-based awards granted and not yet vested under AIG’s rather than cash. On that date, AIG modified its accounting
plans, and the blended weighted-average period over which for the SICO Plans (as described in Note 4 of Notes to the
those costs are expected to be recognized, are as follows: Consolidated Financial Statements) from variable to fixed

Unrecognized measurement accounting. See Note 10 herein and Note 16 of
Pre-Tax Blended Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2005Compensation Weighted-

Annual Report on Form 10-K. Using fixed measurement ac-Cost Average
(in millions) Period counting, the compensation expense relating to the SICO

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plans for the three months ending March 31, 2006 was ap-
Plan, as amended $ 4 0.5 years proximately $14 million. In addition, various adjustments

1999 Stock Option Plan, as totalling $61 million, primarily relating to stock-split adjust-
amended $204 1.40 years

ments and other miscellaneous items, were recorded in the
2002 Stock Incentive Plan $196 1.83 years

three months ending March 31, 2006.SICO Deferred Compensation
Profit Participation Plans $357 6.08 years In December, 2005 and January, 2006, Starr made

2005-2006 AIG Deferred tender offers to AIG employees holding Starr common and
Compensation Profit preferred stock. In conjunction with AIG’s adoption of
Participation Plan $248 11.62 years

FAS 123R, Starr is considered to be an ‘‘economic interest
holder’’ in AIG. As a result, the compensation expense relatedThe total cost for awards outstanding under each plan as
to the 2006 tender offer is included in AIG’s consolidatedof March 31, 2006 is expected to be recognized over approxi-
financial statements for the three months ending March 31,mately double the respective plan’s blended weighted average
2006. The amount of one-time compensation cost attributa-period.
ble to the 2006 tender offer is approximately $54 million.Historically, SICO’s Board of Directors could elect to

For further discussion of these recent accounting stan-pay a participant cash in lieu of shares of AIG common stock.
dards and their application to AIG, see Note 10 of Notes toOn December 9, 2005, SICO notified plan participants that
Consolidated Financial Statements.substantially all future payments would be settled with shares
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nancial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding requiredCONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
disclosures. Based on its evaluation, and in light of the previ-

In connection with the preparation of this First Quarter
ously identified material weaknesses in internal control over

Form 10-Q, an evaluation was carried out by AIG’s manage-
financial reporting, as of December 31, 2005, described

ment, with the participation of AIG’s current Chief Executive
within the 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K, AIG’s Chief

Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,

AIG’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
as of March 31, 2006, AIG’s disclosure controls and proce-

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
dures were ineffective. In addition, there has been no change

Act of 1934 (Exchange Act)). Disclosure controls and proce-
in AIG’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined

dures are designed to ensure that information required to be
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred

disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange
during the first three months of 2006 that has materially

Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, AIG’s

the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that
internal control over financial reporting.

such information is accumulated and communicated to man-
agement, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fi-
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Part II from ‘A++’ to ‘A+’ (second highest of fourteen rating levels)
and the issuer credit ratings from ‘aa+’ to ‘aa–’ (remainingITEM 1A. Risk  Factors
within the second highest of nine rating levels) and placed the

The following discussion supplements and amends the signifi- ratings under review with negative implications. An under
cant risk factors that may affect AIG as described in detail review modifier by A.M. Best is assigned to a company whose
under ‘‘Risk Factors’’ in Item 1A. of Part I of the 2005 An- rating opinion is under review and may be subject to change
nual Report on Form 10-K. in the near-term, generally defined as six months. Negative

implications indicates a potential downgrade.
AIG’s  Credit  Ratings

In addition, S&P changed the outlook on the ‘AA–’ long-
The downgrades in AIG’s credit ratings will increase AIG’s term senior debt rating (second highest out of eight rating
borrowing costs, may lessen AIG’s ability to compete in cer- categories) of ILFC (a wholly owned subsidiary of AIG) to
tain business and will require AIG to post additional negative. Moody’s affirmed ILFC’s long-term and short-term
collateral. senior debt ratings (‘A1’/‘P-1’) (third highest of nine, and

highest of three, rating categories, respectively). Fitch down-From March through June of 2005, the major rating
graded ILFC’s long-term senior debt rating from ‘AA–’ toagencies downgraded AIG’s ratings in a series of actions.
‘A+’ (third highest of nine rating categories), placed it onStandard & Poor’s, a division of the McGraw-Hill Compa-
Rating Watch Negative and downgraded ILFC’s short-termnies, Inc. (S&P), lowered the long-term senior debt and
debt rating from ‘F1+’ to ‘F1’ (remaining within the highestcounterparty ratings of AIG from ‘AAA’ to ‘AA’ (second
of five rating categories). In April 2006, Fitch removed ILFC’shighest of eight rating categories) and changed the rating
long-term senior debt rating from Rating Watch Negativeoutlook to negative. S&P’s outlook indicates the potential
and affirmed it with a stable outlook.direction of a rating over the intermediate term (typically six

months to two years). A negative outlook means that a rating These debt and financial strength ratings are current
may be lowered; however, an outlook is not necessarily a opinions of the rating agencies. As such, they may be
precursor to a rating change. Moody’s Investors Service changed, suspended or withdrawn at any time by the rating
(Moody’s) lowered AIG’s long-term senior debt rating from agencies as a result of changes in, or unavailability of, infor-
‘Aaa’ to ‘Aa2’ (second highest of nine rating categories) with mation or based on other circumstances. Ratings may also be
a stable outlook. Moody’s appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, withdrawn at AIG management’s request. This discussion of
and 3 to the generic rating categories to show relative posi- ratings is not a complete list of ratings of AIG and its
tion within rating categories. Fitch Ratings (Fitch) down- subsidiaries.
graded the long-term senior debt ratings of AIG from ‘AAA’

These ratings actions have affected and will continue toto ‘AA’ (second highest of nine rating categories) and placed
affect AIG’s business and results of operations in a number ofthe ratings on Rating Watch Negative. A Fitch Rating Watch
ways.notifies investors that there is a reasonable probability of a

rating change and the likely direction of such change. A Rat-
m Downgrades in AIG’s debt ratings will adversely affect

ing Watch Negative indicates a potential downgrade. Rating AIG’s results of operations. AIG relies on external sources
Watch is typically resolved over a relatively short period. In of financing to fund several of its operations. The cost and
April 2006, Fitch removed AIG from Rating Watch Negative availability of unsecured financing are generally dependent
and affirmed its rating with a stable outlook. on the issuer’s long-term and short-term debt ratings.

These downgrades and any future downgrades in AIG’sThe agencies also took rating actions on AIG’s insurance
debt ratings may adversely affect AIG’s borrowing costssubsidiaries. S&P lowered the financial strength ratings of
and therefore adversely affect AIG’s results of operations.AIG’s insurance subsidiaries to ‘AA+’ (second highest rating

of eight rating categories) and assigned a negative rating out-
m The downgrade in AIG’s long-term senior debt ratings will

look. Fitch also lowered the financial strength ratings of adversely affect AIGFP’s ability to compete for certain
AIG’s insurance companies to ‘AA+’ (second highest of nine businesses. Credit ratings are very important to the ability
rating categories) and placed them on Rating Watch Nega- of financial institutions to compete in the derivative and
tive. In April 2006, Fitch removed the financial strength rat- structured transaction marketplaces. Historically, AIG’s
ings from Rating Watch Negative and affirmed them with a triple-A ratings provided AIGFP a competitive advantage.
stable outlook. S&P and Fitch ratings may be modified by the The downgrades have reduced this advantage and, for spe-
addition of a plus or minus sign to show relative standing cialized financial transactions that generally are conducted
within the major rating categories. Moody’s lowered the in- only by triple-A rated financial institutions, counterparties
surance financial strength ratings generally to either ‘Aa1’ or may be unwilling to transact business with AIGFP except
‘Aa2’ (both within the second highest of nine rating catego- on a secured basis. This could require AIGFP to post more
ries) with a stable outlook. A.M. Best downgraded the finan- collateral to counterparties in the future. See below for a
cial strength ratings of most of AIG’s insurance subsidiaries
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further discussion of the effect that posting collateral may AIG’s outstanding municipal guaranteed investment
have on AIG’s liquidity. agreements and financial derivatives transactions as of

such date, a further downgrade of AIG’s long-term senior
m Although the financial strength ratings of AIG’s insurance

debt ratings to ‘Aa3’ by Moody’s or ‘AA–’ by S&P would
company subsidiaries remain high compared to many of

permit counterparties to call for approximately $896 mil-
their competitors, the downgrades have reduced the previ-

lion of additional collateral. Further, additional down-
ous ratings differential. The competitive advantage of the

grades could result in requirements for substantial
ratings to AIG’s insurance company subsidiaries may be

additional collateral, which could have a material effect on
lessened accordingly.

how AIG manages its liquidity. The actual amount of ad-
m As a result of the downgrades of AIG’s long-term senior ditional collateral that AIG would be required to post to

debt ratings, AIG was required to post approximately counterparties in the event of such downgrades depends
$1.16 billion of collateral with counterparties to municipal on market conditions, the market value of the outstanding
guaranteed investment contracts and financial derivatives affected transactions and other factors prevailing at the
transactions. In the event of a further downgrade, AIG will time of the downgrade. Any additional obligations to post
be required to post additional collateral. It is estimated collateral will increase the demand on AIG’s liquidity.
that, as of the close of business on April 30, 2006 based on

ITEM 2. Unregistered  Sales  of  Equity  Securities  and  Use  of  Proceeds

The table below provides information with respect to purchases of AIG Common stock during the three months ended
March 31, 2006.

Maximum Number
Total Number of of Shares that May

Shares Purchased Yet Be Purchased
Total Average as Part of Publicly Under the Plans

Number of Price Paid Announced Plans or Programs
Period Shares Purchased(1) per Share or Programs at End of Month(2)

January 1 - 31 – $ – – 36,542,700
February 1 - 28 – – – 36,542,700
March 1 - 31 – – – 36,542,700
Total – $ – –

(1) Does not include 29,514 shares delivered or attested to in satisfaction of the exercise price by holders of AIG employee stock options exercised during the

three months ended March 31, 2006.

(2) On July 19, 2002, AIG announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the open market purchase of up to 10 million shares of common stock. On

February 13, 2003, AIG announced that the Board had expanded the existing program through the authorization of an additional 50 million shares. The

purchase program has no set expiration or termination date.

ITEM 6. Exhibits

See accompanying Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP, INC.
(Registrant)

/s / STEVEN J. BENSINGER

Steven J. Bensinger
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

/s / DAVID L. HERZOG

David L. Herzog
Senior Vice President and Comptroller

(Principal Accounting Officer)

Dated: May 10, 2006
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description Location

11 Statement re computation of per share earnings Included in Note (3) of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

12 Statement re computation of ratios Filed herewith.
31 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications Filed herewith.
32 Section 1350 Certifications Filed herewith.
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Exhibit 12

American International Group, Inc.

Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Three Months Ended March 31, (in millions, except ratios) 2006 2005

Income before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect of an accounting change $ 4,793 $ 5,649
Less – Equity income of less than 50% owned persons 20 63
Add – Dividends from less than 50% owned persons 3 3

4,776 5,589
Add – Fixed charges 1,948 1,730
Less – Capitalized interest 15 15
Income before income taxes, minority interest, cumulative effect of an accounting change and fixed charges $ 6,709 $ 7,304
Fixed charges:

Interest costs $ 1,896 $ 1,679
Rental expense* 52 51

Total fixed charges $ 1,948 $ 1,730
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 3.44 4.22

Secondary Ratio
Interest credited to GIC and GIA policy and contract holders $(1,090) $(1,094)
Total fixed charges excluding interest credited to GIC and GIA policy and contract holders $ 858 $ 636

Secondary ratio of earnings to fixed charges 6.55 9.76

*The proportion deemed representative of the interest factor.

The secondary ratio is disclosed for the convenience of fixed GIAs are entered into by AIG’s insurance subsidiaries, princi-
income investors and the rating agencies that serve them and pally Sun America Life Insurance Company and AIG Finan-
is more comparable to the ratios disclosed by all issuers of cial Products Corp. and its subsidiaries, respectively. The
fixed income securities. The secondary ratio removes interest proceeds from GICs and GIAs are invested in a diversified
credited to guaranteed investment contract (GIC) policyhold- portfolio of securities, primarily investment grade bonds. The
ers and guaranteed investment agreement (GIA) con- assets acquired yield rates greater than the rates on the related
tractholders. Such expenses are also removed from income policyholders obligation or agreement, with the intent of
before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect earning operating income from the spread.
of an accounting change used in this calculation. GICs and
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Exhibit 31

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Martin J. Sullivan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of American International Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consoli-
dated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summa-
rize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s / MARTIN J. SULLIVAN

Martin J. Sullivan
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 10, 2006



CERTIFICATIONS

I, Steven J. Bensinger, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of American International Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consoli-
dated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summa-
rize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s / STEVEN J. BENSINGER

Steven J. Bensinger
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 10, 2006



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of American International Group, Inc. (the ‘‘Company’’) for the
quarter ended March 31, 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the ‘‘Report’’),
I, Martin J. Sullivan, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that
to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

/s / MARTIN J. SULLIVAN

Martin J. Sullivan
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 10, 2006

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the
Report or as a separate disclosure document.



CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of American International Group, Inc. (the ‘‘Company’’) for the
quarter ended March 31, 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the ‘‘Report’’),
I, Steven J. Bensinger, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

/s / STEVEN J. BENSINGER

Steven J. Bensinger
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 10, 2006

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the
Report or as a separate disclosure document.
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